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Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with United States (“U.S.”) generaltgepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”) in U.S. dollars. Unless otherwise indicdtall amounts in this Annual Report on Form 10+K im U.S. dollars and U.S. GAAP.

Any reference to 2013, 2012 and 2011 correspondsitdiscal years ended December 28, 2013, Dece@he&t012, and December 31,
2011, respectively.

Forward-looking statements

In addition to historical information, this Annuakport on Form 10-K, and the reports and documieatsporated by reference in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, may contain statemegitting to future events and future results. Tretatements are “forward-looking”
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litiga Reform Act of 1995 and applicable Canadiarusées legislation and involve known
and unknown risks, uncertainties, future expeatatiand other factors that may cause actual repalitBormance or achievements of Cott
Corporation to be materially different from anyutg results, performance or achievements expresseaplied by such forward-looking
statements. Such statements include, but aremitéd to, statements that relate to projectionsatds, earnings, earnings per share, cash
flows, capital expenditures or other financial igrdiscussions of estimated future revenue enhastsmand cost savings. These statements
also relate to our business strategy, goals anélatafions concerning our market position, futurerafions, margins, profitability, liquidity
and capital resources. Generally, words such ascfpate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “endeavg “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,”
“may,” “will,” “plan,” “predict,” “project,” “should” and similar terms and phrases are used to igdotiwvard-looking statements in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K and in the documentsriperated in this Annual Report on Form 10-K byerefice. These forward-looking
statements reflect current expectations regardihgé events and operating performance and are ordgeas of the date of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

The forward-looking statements are not guarantéésgture performance or events and, by their natare based on certain estimates
and assumptions regarding interest and foreignamgh rates, expected growth, results of operatfmréprmance, business prospects and
opportunities and effective income tax rates, whigh subject to inherent risks and uncertaintiesteMal factors or assumptions that were
applied in drawing a conclusion or making an estins®t out in forward-looking statements may ineluaut are not limited to, assumptions
regarding management’s current plans and estimatesbility to remain a low cost supplier, andeeffive management of commodity costs.
Although we believe the assumptions underlyingetfesward-looking statements are reasonable, atlyesie assumptions could prove to be
inaccurate and, as a result, the forwimaking statements based on those assumptions poaNg to be incorrect. Our operations involve s
and uncertainties, many of which are outside ofcauntrol, and any one or any combination of thésesrand uncertainties could also affect
whether the forward-looking statements ultimateiyve to be correct. These risks and uncertaintielside, but are not limited to, those
described in Part |, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” anglesVhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and ¢haesscribed from time to time in our
future reports filed with the Securities and Exgpa@ommission (“SEC”) and Canadian securities @#gQuy authorities.

We undertake no obligation to update any infornmationtained in this Annual Report on Form 10-Kaptiblicly release the results of
any revisions to forward-looking statements toaefflevents or circumstances of which we may becmare of after the date of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Undue reliance should notlbaequ on forward-looking statements.

All future written and oral forward-looking statents attributable to us or persons acting on oualieine expressly qualified in their
entirety by the foregoing.
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ITEM1. BUSINESS
Our Company

Cott Corporation, together with its consolidatetsdiaries (“Cott,” “the Company,” “our Company,Cbtt Corporation,” “we,” “us,or
“our”), is one of the world’s largest producersbhafverages on behalf of retailers, brand ownergd@tdbutors. Our product lines include
carbonated soft drinks (“CSDs”"), 100% shelf stgbiee and juice-based products, clear, still aratldng flavored waters, energy drinks,
sports products, new age beverages and ready+tkéas, as well as alcoholic beverages for brawkos. Our business operates through
three reporting segments—North America (which idelsiour U.S. operating segment and Canada opessgrgent), United Kingdom
(“U.K.") (which includes our United Kingdom repantj unit and our Continental European reporting)uaitd All Other (“All Other”) vhich
includes our Mexico operating segment, Royal Crénternational (“RCI”) operating segment and othdasdéllaneous Expenses). Our
corporate oversight function (“Corporate”) is nadted as a segment; it includes certain genedshdministrative costs that are not allocated
to any of the reporting segments. During the foguhrter of 2013, management reviewed our repogaggments and subsequently combined
our Mexico and RCI reporting segments with the segnpreviously classified as All Other into oneaging segment classified as All Other.
Prior year information has been updated to refleetchange in our reporting segments.

We incorporated in 1955 and are governed by the@aBusiness Corporations Act. Our registered Ganauffice is located at 333
Avro Avenue, Pointe-Claire, Quebec, Canada HI9R 2WBour principal executive offices are locate85it9 W. Idlewild Avenue, Tampa,
Florida, United States 33634 and 6525 Viscount Rbassissauga, Ontario, Canada L4V 1H6.

Competitive Strengths

We believe that our competitive strengths will deals to maintain our position as one of the warldrgest beverage companies on
behalf of retailers, brand owners and distributord will allow us to capitalize on future opportiies to drive sustainable and profitable
growth.

Leading Producer of Private-L abel Beverages with Diverse Product Portfolio and Contract Manufacturing Capabilities

We are a leading producer of private label beverageach of the United States, Canada and thetJKiingdom by annual volume of
cases produced. We also manufacture beveragesantract basis for certain customers. Our prodoeslinclude CSDs, 100% shelf stable
juice and juic-based products, clear, still and sparkling fladosaters, energy drinks, sports products, new agerages and ready-to-drink
teas, as well as alcoholic beverages for brand mwiée believe our proven ability to innovate aegtalop our product portfolio to meet
changing consumer demand will position us welldotue to serve our customers and their consumers.

We market or supply over 500 retailer, licensed @nthpany-owned brands in our four core geograptienents. We sell CSD
concentrates and non-carbonated concentrates inxapgately 50 countries. We believe that our leatgr position, our broad portfolio
offering and our existing infrastructure will enahls to continue to penetrate the private-labelcamdract manufacturing markets, whether it
is winning new customers, launching new produatlsteeping units (“SKUs”) with existing customeaes,supplying retailers who currently
self-manufacture.

Extensive, Flexible Manufacturing Capabilities

Our business is supported by our extensive manufagtnetwork and flexible production capabiliti€ur manufacturing footprint
encompasses 34 strategically located beverage aetntihg and fruit processing facilities, includiB@ in the United States, five in Canada,
seven in the United Kingdom and one in Mexico, a#l as one vertically-integrated global concentramufacturing facility in Columbus,
Georgia that supplies our manufacturing plantsR@dls global customer base.

We are the only dedicated beverage company progucirbehalf of retailers, brand owners and distatsuwith a manufacturing
footprint across North America. Manufacturing fleity is one of our core competencies and is caitio our success, as our products will
typically feature customized packaging, design giragbhics for our key customers. Our ability to progl multiple SKUs and packages on our
production lines and manage complexities throughkgline changeover processes differentiates us foar competition.
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High Levels of Customer Service and Strong Customer | ntegration

Our business requires a high level of coordinatiith our customers in areas such as supply chaialyet development and customer
service. In addition to efficiently managing comppgoduct manufacturing, we have a proven trackneof maintaining high service levels
across our customer base. We also partner clostiycustomers on supply chain planning and exeoutaminimize freight costs, reduce
working capital requirements and increase in-spoogluct availability. We work as partners with gustomers on new product development
and packaging designs. Our role includes providiagket expertise as well as knowledge of categernyds that may present opportunities
our customers. A high level of customer integratonl partnership coupled with a nationwide manufang footprint is critical for the
development of successful beverage programs focustomers.

Strategic | mportance to Our Customers

We have longstanding partnerships with many ofttbhdd’s leading retailers in the grocery, mass-rhardise and drug store channels,
as well as customers for whom we manufacture bgesran a contract basis, giving our customers adodsigh-quality, affordable
beverages. Our competitive advantages include:

* beverage manufacturing experti

» vertically integrated, lo-cost production platforr

e one-stop sourcing

e category insights and marketing expert

« supply chain and high quality consistency in praguand

» product innovation and differentiatio

For 2013, our top 10 customers accounted for 5@Débtal revenue. Walmart accounted for 30.1% aftotal revenue for the period.

We have established long-standing relationshipls mibst of our top 10 customers. As a result offogh product quality and commitment to

service, coupled with a national manufacturing foioit, we believe we will continue to play a meayfir role in helping our customers
develop strategies to build loyalty with consumers.

Business Strategy

Our primary goal is to maintain long-term profititlgiand enhance our position as the market leaddrpreferred supplier of beverages
on behalf of retailers, brand owners, and distolaiin the markets where we operate. Continuecelship in our core markets will enable us
to sustain and grow profitability as we drive focieased penetration and share growth within ot pooduct categories. We believe that the
following strategies will help us to achieve ouago

Maintain Customer Focus

Customer relationships are important for any bussinbut at Cott, where many of our products beacostomers’ brand names, we
must maintain particularly close partnerships waitin customers. We will continue to provide our ocustrs with high quality products and
service at an attractive value that will help themvide quality, value-oriented products to th@nsumers.

We will continue to focus on our high levels of mmer service, as well as innovations through titwduction of new packages,
flavors and varieties of beverages. We believefaeeus on our customers will enable us to leverageeaisting relationships and to develop
new ones in existing and new markets. As a fagi@r of innovative products, our goal is to idéntiew products that are succeeding in the
marketplace and develop similar products of higaliggifor our customers to offer their consumers aietter value.

Control Operating Costs

We understand that our long-term success will beaty tied to our ability to remain a low-cost sligp Effective management of our
operating costs is critical to our success. As phour ongoing management of costs, we enteraatdract commitments with suppliers of
key raw materials such as aluminum sheet metdh, fnigctose corn syrup (“HFCS”),
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polyethylene terephthalate (“PET") bottles, capd preforms, fruit and fruit concentrates. On anaing basis we review our fixed overhead
and manufacturing costs for opportunities for fartreductions. In 2011, we transformed the Compaimfbrmation technology function
from a nearly 100% outsourced, single vendor refetiip to a combination of in-house resources aniti-vendor strategy, significantly
reducing our total information technology spendimg2012, we began to vertically integrate our nfaoturing capabilities in order to
manufacture our products with increased efficieaicgt at a lower cost.

Control Capital Expenditures and Rigorously Manage Working Capital

Consistent with our status as a low-cost supphier|everage our existing manufacturing capacity&ontain an efficient supply chain.
We are committed to carefully prioritizing our cigpinvestments that provide the best financialnmes for Cott and for our customers, while
maintaining safety, efficiency and superior prodygality. Our manufacturing facilities operate acting to the highest standards of safety
and product quality. We perform regular third-paatidits of our facilities and are subject to qyaditidits on behalf of our customers. We will
continue to evaluate growth and other opportunitidsle remaining mindful of our total capital exmhture targets.

In 2013, our capital expenditures were devoted gril;to maintaining existing beverage productianifities, making equipment
upgrades and expansion in the United States, tlitedUingdom, Canada and Mexico and expendituriesée® to the completion of the
vertical integration of our manufacturing capakebt

Cash Flow Management

We believe that a strong financial position wilbdie us to capitalize on opportunities in the migalkeee. As a result, we continuously
review and improve the effectiveness of our cashagament processes. We strive to achieve the mtstal working capital level,
rationalize our capital expenditures and continlyodgve operating cost improvements to enhancé dasv.

Pursue Select Acquisitions

We believe that opportunities exist for us to erdeaour scale, reduce fixed manufacturing costsbanadden our product portfolio. In
June 2013, our U.K. reporting segment acquiredged0ent of the share capital of Cooke Bros. Holglibignited (the “Calypso Soft Drinks
Acquisition”), which includes the subsidiary compnCalypso Soft Drinks Limited and Mr. Freeze (@pe) Limited (together, “Calypso
Soft Drinks”). Calypso Soft Drinks produces fruitges, juice drinks, soft drinks, and freeze praslirc the United Kingdom. The aggregate
purchase price for the Calypso Soft Drinks Acqigsitvas $12.1 million, which includes approximat&l§.0 million paid at closing, deferred
payments of approximately $2.3 million and $3.0liol to be paid on the first and second anniversdityie closing date, respectively, of the
Calypso Soft Drinks Acquisition. In connection witre Calypso Soft Drinks Acquisition, we paid off&s5 million of outstanding debt of the
acquired companies. The Calypso Soft Drinks Actjoisiprovided increased product offerings, logstisynergies and access to an additi
production line. In March of 2012, our U.K. repagisegment acquired a beverage and wholesale badiased in Scotland for
approximately $5.0 million. We intend to contineeavaluate and pursue strategic opportunities ha®eee our industry position, strengthen
our business and build value for our shareholders.

Principal Markets and Products

We estimate that as of the end of 2013, we prod(midiier directly or through third party manufaets with whom we have goacking
agreements) a majority of all retailer brand CSBd jaice sold in Canada and the United States,adisas a majority of all retailer brand
sports and energy products sold in the United Komgd

We have a diversified product portfolio across majgverage categories, including beverages thairateend with consumer demand.
In 2013, CSDs, juice, concentrate, and all othedpcts represented 36.1%, 25.0%, 2.0% and 36.2pascentage of revenue, respectively.
In 2012, CSDs, juice, concentrate, and all othedpcts represented 39.1%, 24.2%, 1.9% and 34.8pascentage of revenue, respectively.
In 2011, CSDs, juice, concentrate, and all othedpcts represented 40.7%, 25.8%, 1.6% and 31.2%pascentage of revenue, respectively.

We believe that opportunities exist to increasesaf beverages in our core markets by leveragiisgileg customer relationships,
capitalizing on cross-selling and up-selling oppoities, obtaining new customers, manufacturingeb&ges (including alcoholic beverages)
on a contract basis for new and existing custoneqspring new channels of distribution and introiehg new products.
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Restructuring Initiatives

We implement restructuring programs from time todithat are designed to improve operating effecége and lower costs. When we
implement these programs, we incur various chaigekiding severance and other employment relabstsc During June 2013, we
implemented one such program (the “2013 Restrumjufian”), which consisted primarily of headcowductions. For the year ended
December 28, 2013, we incurred charges of apprdeisn&2.0 million related primarily to employee tediancy costs in connection with the
2013 Restructuring Plan.

We did not incur any restructuring charges in 264.2011.

Financial Information about Segments

For financial information about reporting segmeantsl geographic areas, see Note 9 to the consdlifiancial statements containec
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Manufacturing and Distribution Network

Substantially all of our beverages are manufactinmddcilities that we, or third-party manufactwavith whom we have long-term co-
packing agreements, either own or lease. We reljnioth parties to produce and distribute produatareas or markets where we do not have
our own production facilities, such as in contirséiurope, or when additional production capadtyeiquired.

Our products are either picked up by our custoraeaur facilities or delivered by us, a common iegiyior thirdparty distributors to oL
customers’ distribution centers or to retail looat.

Ingredient and Packaging Supplies

In addition to water, the principal raw materiadsgjuired to produce our products are aluminum cadsads, PET bottles, caps and
preforms, labels, cartons and trays, sweetenerh,as1HFCS and sugar, fruit concentrates and frb#.cost of these raw materials can
fluctuate substantially over time.

Under many of our supply arrangements for thesemaierials, the price we pay fluctuates along wéftain changes in underlying
commodity costs, such as aluminum in the casernd aad ends, resin in the case of PET bottles, aagpreforms, corn in the case of HF
fruit and fruit concentrates. We believe that wé lé able to either renegotiate contracts withséhsuppliers when they expire or find
alternative sources for supply. We also believeetlieadequate supply of the ingredient and packagiaterials used to produce and package
our products.

Generally, we bear the risk of increases in thésoofthe ingredient and packaging materials usqataduce our products, including the
underlying costs of the commodities used to mariufachem and, to some extent, the costs of cangetiose commodities into the
materials we purchase.

Aluminum for cans and ends, resin for PET botibags and preforms, corn for HFCS, sugar, fruitfamitl concentrates are examples of
underlying commodities for which we bear the risknezreases in costs. In addition, the contractséstain of our ingredient and packaging
materials permit our suppliers to increase thesctiwty charge us based on increases in their €oehwerting the underlying commaodities
into the materials we purchase. In certain casesetincreases are subject to negotiated limitsn@dsin the prices we pay for ingredient and
packaging materials occur at times that vary bylpob and supplier, and take place on a monthlyrtgrig or annual basis.

PET resin prices have fluctuated significantlyécent years as the price of oil, one of its comptséhas fluctuated and demand for
synthetic fibers, an alternate use, has incred&echuse PET resin is not a traded commaodity, rexlfprice mechanism has been
implemented, and we expect to pay prevailing mgpkiees for our PET resin needs, although at timesiave been able to enter into short-
term fixed price commitments.

Corn has a history of volatile price changes. Tugas market is susceptible to volatility as well.
Fruit and fruit concentrate prices have been, aa@xpect them to continue to be, subject to sicguifi volatility. While fruit is availabl

from numerous independent suppliers, these rawriakt@re subject to fluctuations in price attrétule to, among other things, changes in
crop size and federal and state agricultural progra
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Trade Secrets, Copyrights, Trademarks and Licenses

We sell the majority of our beverages under ret&itands to customers who own the trademarks adsocivith those products. We a
own registrations, or applications to registerjuas trademarks that are important to our worldwidsiness, includin@ott® andRed Rain
® in the United States, Canada, and the United ¢aing, Stars & Stripe®, Vess®, Vintage®, So Clear®, Shansta®, Harvest Classi®,
Chadwick Bayw, Exact® and Golden Crowr® in the United State§merge®, Red Rooste®, MacB®, Carters®, Calypso®, Mr. Freeze
®, Jubbly®, andBen Shaw® in the United KingdomStars & Stripe® in Mexico, and RC® mark in various formats in mdnhan 120
countries and territories outside of North Ameriglreover, we are licensed to use certain tradesrsukh a®ld Jamaica Ginger BeeM
andTing ™ in the United Kingdom. The licenses to which we a party are of varying terms, including some #na perpetual. Trademark
ownership is generally of indefinite duration whaarks are properly maintained in commercial use.

Our success depends in part on our intellectugdeyty, which includes trade secrets in the formarfcentrate formulas for our
beverages and trademarks for the names of the doga&we sell. To protect this intellectual propeng rely principally on registration of
trademarks, contractual responsibilities and retstnis in agreements (such as indemnification, remhasure and confidentiality agreements)
with employees, consultants and customers, and@ndmmon law and/or statutory protections affordelademarks, copyrights, trade
secrets and proprietary “know-how.” We also clogalynitor the use of our trademarks and when nepesggorously pursue any party that
infringes on our trademarks, using all availabfaleemedies.

Seasonality of Sales and Working Capital

The beverage market is subject to some seasonativas. Our beverage sales are generally highenglthe warmer months and also
can be influenced by the timing of holidays and therafluctuations. Our purchases of raw materiat$ r@lated accounts payable fluctuate
based upon the demand for our products as wellea8ring of the fruit growing seasons. The sealiynaf our sales volume combined with
the seasonal nature of fruit growing causes oukingrcapital needs to fluctuate throughout the yedh inventory levels increasing in the
first half of the year in order to meet high summemand, and with fruit inventories peaking dutting last quarter of the year when
purchases are made after the growing season. lticedaur accounts receivable balances declirtberfall as customers pay their higher-
than-average outstanding balances from summeredlieds:

Customers

A significant portion of our revenue is concentdaite a small number of customers. Our customeisidigcmany large national and
regional grocery, mass-merchandise, drugstore,aghé# and convenience store chains, as well asneast for whom we manufacture
beverages on a contract basis. For 2013, salestmat accounted for 30.1% (2012—31.0%; 2011—31.686ur total revenue, 36.1% of
our North America reporting segment revenue (2018-3%; 2011—35.9%), 14.8% of our U.K. reporting seghrevenue (2012—14.9%;
2011—14.6%) and 3.9% of our All Other reportingreegt revenue (2012—12.0%; 2011—30.0%). Walmarttiva®nly customer that
accounted for more than 10% of our total revenubadse periods. Sales to our top ten customer81i3,2012 and 2011 accounted for 50.
54.2% and 55.1%, respectively, of our total reveide expect that sales of our products to a limiteshber of customers will continue to
account for a high percentage of revenue for thesteable future. The loss of any customers tdatidually or in the aggregate represent a
significant portion of our revenue, or a declinesates to these customers, would have a matenalsel effect on our operating results and
cash flow.

We supply Walmart and its affiliated companies,emahnual non-exclusive supply agreements, withrgety of products in the United
States, Canada, the United Kingdom, and Mexicdudirg CSDs, clear, still and sparkling flavoredtera, 100% shelf stable juice, juice-
based products, bottled water, energy productsispooducts, new age beverages and readiyitd-teas. In 2013, we supplied Walmart v
all of its privatelabel CSDs in the United States. In the event Welmare to utilize additional suppliers to fulfdl portion of its requiremen
for CSDs, our operating results could be materiatlyersely affected.

Research and Development

We engage in a variety of research and developagtivities. These activities principally involveetidevelopment of new products,
improvement in the quality of existing productsprovement and modernization of production processas the development and
implementation of new technologies to enhance ttadity and value of both current and proposed pecbtines. Consumer research is
excluded from research and development costs ahadied in other marketing costs. Research and derent costs were $3.1 million in
2013, $2.8 million in 2012 and $2.5 million in 2044d are included as a component of selling, géaachadministrative expenses.
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Competition

We compete against a wide range of companies thdtipe, directly and on a contract basis, andsssiérages including CSDs, 100%
shelf stable juice and juice-based products, chdlrand sparkling flavored waters, energy drinsorts products, new age beverages, and
ready-to-drink teas, and alcoholic beverages. Wb@#®Ds and CSD concentrate accounted for 61.5%ra2@18 case volume, they accounted
for 38.1% of our 2013 revenue. The non-CSD prodgeterated 38.5% of our 2013 case volume and 6&f3%r 2013 revenue.

We compete principally in the non-alcoholic bevesmgategory, which is highly competitive in eaahioa in which we operate.
Competition for incremental volume is intense. Bin@nds owned by the four major national soft déoknpanies, Coca-Cola, Pepsi, Nestle
Waters North America and Dr. Pepper Snapple (fagr@adbury Schweppes), control 66% of the total GBI alternative beverage
category within the United States. These compédmaesg significant financial resources and spendihean promotional programs. They al
have direct store delivery systems in North Amenighich enable their personnel to visit retaileegjfiently to promote new items, stock
shelves and build displays. We also face compatitidhe juice category from juice brands such adciWs, Ocean Spray and Mott’s.

In addition, we face competition in North Ameritiae United Kingdom and Mexico from regional beveraganufacturers who sell
aggressively-priced brands and, in many cases salsply retailer brand products. A few larger UeSailers also self-manufacture products
for their own needs and continually approach otbhtilers seeking additional business.

We seek to differentiate ourselves from our contipegiby offering our customers high-quality prodcategory management
strategies, packaging and marketing strategieisjegit distribution methods, and superior service.

Government Regulation and Environmental Matters

The production, distribution and sale in the UniBtdtes of many of our products are subject td-#deral Food, Drug, and Cosmetic
Act, the Federal Trade Commission Act, the Lanhart) state consumer protection laws, federal, statelocal workplace health and safety
laws, various federal, state and local environmgntatection laws and various other federal, staie local statutes and regulations applici
to the production, transportation, sale, safetygstising, labeling and ingredients of such produ€utside the United States, the production,
distribution and sale of our many products andteel@perations are also subject to numerous sieildrother statutes and regulations.

A number of states have passed laws setting foatimiwg or labeling requirements relating to produnfide for human consumption.
For example, the California law known as “Proposit65” requires that a specific warning appear on anyywbsbold in California containir
a substance listed by that state as having beew fttucause cancer or reproductive toxicity. Thig,land others like it, exposes all food and
beverage producers to the possibility of havingrtvide warnings on their products. The detectibeven a trace amount of a listed
substance can subject an affected product to théresment of a warning label, although productstaiming listed substances that occur
naturally or that are contributed to such prodsclely by a municipal water supply are generallgrapt from the warning requirement. From
time to time over the past several years, certhduocustomers have received notices allegingttf@tabeling requirements of the relevant
state regulation would apply to products manufaatloy us and sold by them. There can be no assuthatwe will not be adversely
affected by actions against our customers or agingl to Proposition 65 or similar “failure to wataws.

We currently offer and use non-refillable recyctabbntainers in the United States and other camaiound the world. We also offer
and use refillable containers, which are also riabyfe. Legal requirements apply in various jurisidies in the United States and other
countries requiring that deposits or certain eaadeor fees be charged for the sale, marketing saaiicertain non-refillable beverage
containers. The precise requirements imposed Isetheeasures vary. Other types of beverage contalated deposit, recycling, ecotax
and/or product stewardship statutes and regulatitszsapply in various jurisdictions in the Unit8thtes and overseas. We anticipate that
additional, similar legal requirements may be psgubor enacted in the future at local, state aderé levels, both in the United States and
elsewhere.

All of our beverage production facilities and otlogerations are subject to various environmentatiegtion statutes and regulations,
including those of the U.S. Environmental Protatthmency, which pertain to the use of water resesirc
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and the discharge of waste water. Failure to comily these regulations can have serious consegsemxluding civil and administrative
penalties. Compliance with these provisions hasadt{ and we do not expect such compliance to lraematerial adverse effect on our
Company’s capital expenditures, net income or cditinge position. However, as discussed below, clearig how the Ontario Ministry of the
Environment enforces the Ontario Environmental @tion Act could result in our having to make miategxpenditures for environmental
compliance.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the applegablicies, we have coverage for product recaitd product liability claims that could
result from the injury, illness or death of consusngsing our products, contamination of our proslust damage to or mislabeling of our
products.

The Ontario Environmental Protection Act (‘OEPA”)

OEPA regulations provide that a minimum percentaige bottler's soft drink sales within specifiecas in Ontario must be made in
refillable containers. The penalty for non-comptians a fine of $50,000 per day beginning upon wherfirst offense occurs and continues
until the first conviction, and then increasingbtb00,000 per day for each subsequent convictioasdfines may be increased to equal the
amount of monetary benefit acquired by the offeradea result of the commission of the offense.

We, and we believe other industry participants,cameently not in compliance with the requiremenitthe OEPA. To comply with the
requirements we, and we believe many other indysrticipants, would have to significantly increasées in refillable containers to a
minimum refillable sales ratio of 30%. We do nopegt to be in compliance with these regulationthéforeseeable future. Ontario is not
enforcing the OEPA at this time, despite the fhat it is still in effect and not amended, but ifhooses to enforce it in the future, we could
incur fines for non-compliance and the possibleniition of sales of soft drinks in non-refillabd®ntainers in Ontario. We estimate that
approximately 3% of our Canada operating segmdes seould be affected by the possible limitatiorsalfes of soft drinks in non-refillable
containers in Ontario if the Ontario Ministry oftftnvironment initiated an action to enforce thavfgions of the OEPA against us.
Moreover, the Ontario Ministry of the Environmeetaased a report in 1997 stating that these OEB&#atons are “outdated and
unworkable.” However, despite the “unworkable” mataf the OEPA regulations, they have not yet bregnked.

We believe that the magnitude of the potentialditieat we could incur if the Ontario Ministry oftlEnvironment chose to enforce th
regulations is such that the costs to us of nonpdiamce could be, although are not contemplatdsetanaterial. However, our management
believes that probability of such enforcement imate.

Employees

As of December 28, 2013, we had 3,966 employeashofm 2,566 were in the North America reportingrsegt, 1,161 were in the
U.K. reporting segment, and 239 were in the All@treporting segment. We have entered into collediargaining agreements covering
employees in the United States, Canada, UniteddGmgand Mexico that contain terms that we belieeetgpical in the beverage industry.
As these agreements expire, we believe that theypeaenegotiated on terms satisfactory to us. Weider our relations with employees to
be generally good.

Availability of Information and Other Matters

We are required to file annual, quarterly and autrreports, proxy statements and other informatigh the SEC and Canadian
securities regulatory authorities. The public megd and copy any materials that we file with th€ SEthe SEC’s Public Reference Room at
100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Infororath the Public Reference Room may be obtainechliing the SEC at 1-202-553090.

In addition, the SEC maintains an Internet site tomtains reports, proxy and information staterseamnd other information regarding issuers
that file with the SEC at www.sec.gov. Informatiiled with the Canadian securities regulatory atities is available at www.sedar.com.

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly repomsF@rm 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and ameamdmto reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(dh@R&ecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended|sweavailable free of charge on our
website at www.cott.com, as soon as reasonablyipaste after such material is electronically filih, or furnished to, the SEC. The
information found on our website is not part okthr any other report that we file with, or furnishthe SEC or to Canadian securities
regulatory authorities.

We are responsible for establishing and maintaiaheguate internal control over financial reportaisgequired by the SEC. See
“Management’s Report on Internal Control over FitiahReporting” in Iltem 9A.

8



Table of Contents

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information set forth st Annual Report on Form 10-K, you should cargfathnsider the following factors,
which could materially affect our business, finahciondition or future results. The risks describetbw are not the only risks that we face.
Additional risks and uncertainties not currentlyolum to us or that we currently deem to be immatat& may materially adversely affect
our business, financial condition or results ofragiens.

We may be unable to compete successfully in the hig competitive beverage category.

The markets for our products are extremely competitn comparison to the major national brand bage manufacturers, we are a
relatively small participant in the industry. Weécompetition from the national brand beverageufaaturers in all of our markets, from
other retailer brand beverage manufacturers amd @iner contract beverage manufacturers. If ourpaiitors reduce their selling prices,
increase the frequency of their promotional adgéeiin our core market or enter into the productbprivate-label products or expand their
contract manufacturing efforts, or if our customeéosnot allocate adequate shelf space for the bgesrwe supply, we could experience a
decline in our volumes, be forced to reduce pricfoggo price increases required to offset incrdasssts of raw materials and fuel, increase
capital and other expenditures, or lose marketestaary of which could adversely affect our profitiab

We may not be able to respond successfully to comaar trends related to our products.

Consumer trends with respect to the products weasekubject to change. Consumers are seekingased variety in their beverages,
and there is a growing interest among consumetdicpealth officials and government officials redjag the ingredients in our products, the
attributes of those ingredients and health andnee# issues generally. In addition, some researdhealth advocates and dietary guidelines
are encouraging consumers to reduce consumptisagair-sweetened beverages, including those sweetdtteHFCS or other nutritive
sweeteners. As a result, consumer demand has eedtinfull-calorie CSDs and consumer demand hareased for products associated with
health and wellness, such as reduced-calorie O8&isy, enhanced water, teas and certain other adoooated beverages. Consumer
preferences may change due to a variety of otlotors, including the aging of the general populatithanges in social trends, the real or
perceived impact that the manufacturing of our potsl has on the environment, changes in consunmeogtaphics, changes in travel,
vacation or leisure activity patterns, negativeljmitly resulting from regulatory action or litigatm against companies in the industry, or a
downturn in economic conditions. Any of these chemmay reduce consumers’ demand for our produbtreTcan be no assurance that we
can develop or be a “fast follower” of innovativeogucts that respond to consumer trends. Our &atlmdevelop innovative products could
put us at a competitive disadvantage in the malketpand our business and financial results coelddversely affected.

Because a small number of customers account for @gificant percentage of our sales, the loss of eeduction in sales to any
significant customer could have a material adverseffect on our results of operations and financial andition.

A significant portion of our revenue is concentdiite a small number of customers. Our customeisidiecmany large national and
regional grocery, mass-merchandise, drugstore,aghté and convenience store chains in our coreatsaok North America, the United
Kingdom and Mexico, as well as customers for whoenmanufacture beverages on a contract basis. ®aléalmart, our top customer in
2013, 2012 and 2011 accounted for 30.1%, 31.0%34ar@P6, respectively, of our total revenue. Salesutotop ten customers in 2013, 2012
and 2011 accounted for 50.0%, 54.2% and 55.1%eaotisply, of our total revenue. We expect thatsaleour products to a limited number
of customers will continue to account for a highgeatage of our revenue for the foreseeable future.

The loss of Walmart or any significant customercastomers that in the aggregate represent a isigmifportion of our revenue, or a
material reduction in the amount of business weesttate with any such customer or customers, coale la material adverse effect on our
operating results and cash flows. Furthermore, auddcbe adversely affected if Walmart or any siigaifit customer reacts unfavorably to i
pricing of our products or decides to de-emphagizeduce their product offerings in the categowéh which we supply them. At
December 28, 2013, we had $212.0 million of custoralationships recorded as an intangible asset.pEimanent loss of any customer
included in the intangible asset would result ip@inment in the value of the intangible asset eelrated amortization and could lead to an
impairment of fixed assets that were used to sertfiat client.
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Our ingredients, packaging supplies and other costare subject to price increases and we may be unablo effectively pass rising costs
on to our customers.

We typically bear the risk of changes in pricedlmingredient and packaging in our products. Thgority of our ingredient and
packaging supply contracts allow our suppliersitierdhe prices they charge us based on changés icosts of the underlying commaodities
that are used to produce them. Aluminum for camkeats, resin for PET bottles, caps and preforors, for HFCS, sugar, fruit and fruit
concentrates are examples of these underlying catitie® In addition, the contracts for certain af ingredient and packaging materials
permit our suppliers to increase the costs theygehas based on increases in their cost of comggtiiose underlying commodities into the
materials that we purchase. In certain cases tihoseases are subject to negotiated limits. Theaages in the prices we pay for ingredient
and packaging materials occur at times that vargrbguct and supplier, and take place, on a monthigirterly or annual basis.

Accordingly, we bear the risk of fluctuations iretbosts of these ingredient and packaging matenmlsiding the underlying costs of
the commodities used to manufacture them and,nesxtent, the costs of converting those commgaiti®s the materials we purchase. If
the cost of these ingredients or packaging mateiiareases, we may be unable to pass these tmsgsta our customers through adjustm:
to the prices we charge. If we cannot pass on tineseases to our customers on a timely basis,¢bald have a material adverse effect on
our results of operations. If we are able to phesé costs on to our customers through price isesgdhe impact those increased prices could
have on our volumes is uncertain.

Our beverage and concentrate production faciliteesa significant amount of electricity, naturad gad other energy sources to opel
Fluctuations in the price of fuel and other enesgyrces for which we have not locked in long-ternipg commitments or arrangements
would affect our operating costs, which could intpaa profitability.

If we fail to manage our operations successfully,us business and financial results may be materialland adversely affected.

In recent years, we have grown our business anerage offerings primarily through the acquisitidrother companies, developmen
new product lines and growth with key customers.Wlkgeve that opportunities exist to increase safdgverages in our markets by
leveraging existing customer relationships, obtajmew customers, exploring new channels of distigi, introducing new products or
identifying appropriate acquisition or strategikiasice candidates. The success of this stratedyne@pect to acquisitions depends on our
ability to manage and integrate acquisitions (idoig the Calypso Soft Drinks Acquisition) and allis into our existing business.
Furthermore, the businesses or product lines teaaaguire or align with may not be integrated sssftdly into our business or prove
profitable. In addition to the foregoing factorsir @bility to expand our business in foreign coiastis also dependent on, and may be limited
by, our ability to comply with the laws of the vawis jurisdictions in which we may operate, as welthanges in local government regulat
and policies in such jurisdictions. If we fail teamage the geographic allocation of production d&paarrounding customer demand in North
America, we may lose certain customer product velamhave to utilize co-packers to fulfill our custer capacity obligations, either of
which could negatively impact our financial results

We may devote a significant amount of our managemés attention and resources to our ongoing reviewfastrategic opportunities,
and we may not be able to fully realize the poterdl benefit of any such alternatives that we pursue.

As part of our overall strategic planning procésan time to time we evaluate whether there areraditives available to complement
our strategy of organic growth and growth througteiification, or otherwise enhance shareholdérezaAccordingly, we may from time to
time be engaged in evaluating potential transastaond other strategic alternatives, and we maygengadiscussions that may result in on
more transactions. Although there would be uncetyghat any of these discussions would resultefinitive agreements or the completior
any transaction, we may devote a significant amofiour management’s attention and resources tliatiag and pursuing a transaction or
opportunity, which could negatively impact our agéns. In addition, we may incur significant castgonnection with evaluating and
pursuing other strategic opportunities, regardtésghether any transaction is completed. We cansstire you that we would fully realize
potential benefit of any strategic alternativeransaction that we pursue.

Our geographic diversity subjects us to the risk oEurrency fluctuations.

We conduct operations in many areas of the wankhlving transactions denominated in a varietywfencies. We are subject to
currency exchange rate risk to the extent thatosts are denominated in currencies other tharetimshich we earn revenues. In addition,
because our financial statements are denominatédSindollars, changes in currency exchange ratgden the U.S. dollar and other
currencies have had, and will continue to havaepgact on our results of operations. While we mateeinto financial transactions to addi
these risks, there can be no assurance that cyresbange rate fluctuations will not adverselyeffour results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows. In addition, while the w§ currency hedging instruments may provide ubk wiotection from adverse fluctuations
in currency exchange rates, by utilizing theserimsents we potentially forego the benefits thathhigsult from favorable fluctuations in
currency exchange rates.

If we are unable to maintain relationships with ourraw material suppliers, we may incur higher supplycosts or be unable to deliver
products to our customers.



In addition to water, the principal raw materiasgjuired to produce our products are aluminum cadsads, PET bottles, caps and
preforms, labels, cartons and trays, sweetenerh, as1HFCS and sugar, fruit and fruit concentradésrely upon our ongoing relationships
with our key suppliers to support our operations.
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We typically enter into annual or multi-year supplyangements with our key suppliers, meaningdbasuppliers are obligated to
continue to supply us with materials for one-yeamalti-year periods, at the end of which we muttex renegotiate the contracts with those
suppliers or find alternative sources for supplyeiie can be no assurance that we will be ablgheraienegotiate contracts (with similar or
more favorable terms) with these suppliers whey theire or, alternatively, if we are unable toggatiate contracts with our key suppliers,
there can be no assurance that we could replace #We could also incur higher ingredient and pasi@gupply costs in renegotiating
contracts with existing suppliers or replacing theappliers, or we could experience temporary pigyas in our ability to deliver products to
our customers, either of which could have a mdtadaerse effect on our results of operations.

With respect to some of our key packaging supp$iesh as aluminum cans and ends, and some of gundedients, such as
sweeteners, we have entered into long-term sugpbements, the remaining terms of which range ft@no 60 months, and therefore we
expect to have of a supply of those key packagipples and ingredients during such terms. In &ldithe supply of specific ingredient and
packaging materials could be adversely affectethagly factors, including industry consolidation, igyeshortages, governmental controls,
labor disputes, natural disasters, transportatitariuption, political instability, acts of war tarrorism and other factors.

We have a significant amount of outstanding debt, hich could adversely affect our financial health ad future cash flows may not be
sufficient to meet our obligations.

As of December 28, 2013, our total debt was $458lBon. Our present debt and any future borrowingald have important adverse
consequences to us and our investors, including:
e requiring a substantial portion of our cash floanfr operations to make interest payments on this
* making it more difficult to satisfy debt servicedanther obligations
» increasing the risk of a future credit ratings dgvade of our debt, which would increase future aelsts;
» increasing our vulnerability to general adverseneooic and industry condition

» reducing the cash flow available for share repases, to pay dividends, and to fund capital ediperes and other corporate
purposes and to grow our busine

« limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reaatig to, changes in our business and the indu
» placing us at a competitive disadvantage to ourpsditors that may not be as highly leveraged;

« limiting our ability to borrow additional fundss needed or take advantage of business opp@tyrstich as acquisitions, as they
arise, pay cash dividends or repurchase common.¢

To the extent we become more leveraged, the risksribed above would increase. In addition, owaatash requirements in the
future may be greater than expected. We cannoteagsu that our business will generate sufficiegtcflow from operations, or that future
borrowings will be available to us in amounts stiéfnt to enable us to pay our debt or to fund dheroliquidity needs.

If we fail to generate sufficient cash flow frontdive operations to meet our debt service obligatiare may need to refinance all or a
portion of our debt on or before maturity. We caressure you that we will be able to refinance eingur debt on attractive terms,
commercially reasonable terms or at all. If we cdrservice or refinance our indebtedness, we mag tatake actions such as selling assets,
seeking additional equity or reducing or delayiagital expenditures, strategic acquisitions, invesits and alliances, any of which could
impede the implementation of our business strategguent us from entering into transactions thatild@therwise benefit our business an
have a material adverse effect on our financiablt@mn and results of operations. Our future ogagpperformance and our ability to service
or refinance our debt will be subject to futureremmic conditions and to financial, business aneiotactors, many of which are beyond our
control.
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Our asset-based lending (“ABL") facility, the inderture governing the 2017 Notes, and the indenture gerning the 2018 Notes each
contain various covenants limiting the discretion bour management in operating our business, whichould prevent us from
capitalizing on business opportunities and taking@me corporate actions.

Our ABL facility, the indenture governing the $2a%nillion of senior notes that are due on Novenitier2017(of which, $15.0 million
remained outstanding as of December 28, 2013)' 207 Notes”),and the indenture governing the $375.0 millionasfier notes that are d
on September 1, 2018 (the “2018 Notes”) each impagegficant operating and financial restrictionsus. These restrictions will limit or
restrict, among other things, our ability and théity of our restricted subsidiaries to:

* incur additional indebtednes

* make restricted payments (including paying dividead, redeeming, repurchasing or retiring our eaptbck);
* make investment:

» create liens

» sell assets

e enter into agreements restricting our subsidi’ ability to pay dividends, make loans or transfesess to us

e engage in transactions with affiliates; ¢

» consolidate, merge or sell all or substantiallyo&lbur assets

These covenants are subject to important exceptindgjualifications. In addition, our ABL faciliglso requires us, under certain
circumstances, to maintain compliance with ceri@miancial covenants as described in the “Covenamh@iance” section in Item 7. Our
ability to comply with this covenant may be affattey events beyond our control, including thosecdbed in this “Risk Factors” section. A
breach of any of the covenants contained in our Adglility, including our inability to comply withhie financial covenant, could result in an
event of default, which would allow the lenders endur ABL facility to declare all borrowings ousiding to be due and payable, which
would in turn trigger an event of default under ith@enture governing the 2017 Notes and the indergaverning the 2018 Notes and,
potentially, our other debt. At maturity or in theent of an acceleration of payment obligationsyweeald likely be unable to pay our
outstanding debt with our cash and cash equivateetson hand. We would, therefore, be requiresbk alternative sources of funding,
which may not be available on commercially reaséntdrms, terms as favorable as our current agreenoe at all. If we are unable to
refinance our debt or find alternative means ddificing our operations, we may be required to duwtaioperations, face bankruptcy, or take
other actions that are inconsistent with our curbersiness practices or strategy. For additiorfarimation about our ABL facility, see
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations—Liquidity arapfal Resources.”

A portion of our debt may be variable rate debt, anl changes in interest rates could adversely affeas by causing us to incur higher
interest costs with respect to such variable rateabt.

Our ABL facility subjects us to interest rate ridhe rate at which we pay interest on amounts kardounder such facility fluctuates
with changes in interest rates and our debt lexeragcordingly, with respect to any amounts fromeito time outstanding under our ABL
facility, we are and will be exposed to changeiniarest rates. If we are unable to adequately gm@oar debt structure in response to cha
in the market, our interest expense could increab&h would negatively impact our financial conalit and results of operations. The
outstanding borrowings under the ABL facility asi#cember 28, 2013 were $50.8 million.

Our financial results may be negatively impacted bylobal financial events.

In recent years, global financial events have teduh the consolidation, failure or near failufeacnumber of institutions in the bankii
insurance and investment banking industries ané kalbistantially reduced the ability of companieshitain financing. These events also
adversely affected the financial markets. Thesatsveould continue to have a number of differefée$ on our business, including:

e areduction in consumer spending, which could téswd reduction in our sales volurr

e anegative impact on the ability of our customersrhely pay their obligations to us or our vendimrsimely supply materials, th
reducing our cash flow
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* anincrease in counterparty ri

* anincreased likelihood that one or more membéour banking syndicate may be unable to hasarxammitments under our
ABL facility; and

» restricted access to capital markets that may lnitability to take advantage of business oppadties) such as acquisitior

Other events or conditions may arise or persigttly or indirectly from the global financial everthat could negatively impact our
business.

We may not fully realize the expected cost savingsmd/or operating efficiencies from our restructuring activities.

We have in the past implemented, and may in thedumplement, restructuring activities to suppgbe implementation of key strate(
initiatives designed to achieve long-term sustdmagbowth. These activities are intended to maxéuar operating effectiveness and
efficiency and to reduce our costs. We cannot barad that we will achieve or sustain the targbekefits under these programs or that the
benefits, even if achieved, will be adequate totroaelong-term growth expectations. In additidre tmplementation of key elements of
these activities may have an adverse impact otasiness, particularly in the near-term.

Substantial disruption to production at our beverage concentrates or other beverage production faciii#s could occur.

A disruption in production at our beverage concaes production facility, which manufactures almadbsbf our concentrates, could
have a material adverse effect on our busineszddition, a disruption could occur at any of ourastfacilities or those of our suppliers,
bottlers or distributors. The disruption could acfar many reasons, including fire, natural disesteeather, manufacturing problems,
disease, strikes, transportation interruption, gowveent regulation or terrorism. Alternative faddg with sufficient capacity or capabilities
may not be available, may cost substantially monmay take a significant time to start productieach of which could negatively affect our
business and financial performance.

Our success depends, in part, on our intellectualrpperty, which we may be unable to protect.

We possess certain intellectual property that {goirtant to our business. This intellectual propértjudes trade secrets, in the form of
the concentrate formulas for most of the beverdgmswe produce, and trademarks for the namesedbdirerages that we sell. While we own
certain of the trademarks used to identify our bages, other trademarks are used through licensesthird parties or by permission from
our customers. Our success depends, in part, oahility to protect our intellectual property.

To protect this intellectual property, we rely mijpally on registration of trademarks, contractigsponsibilities and restrictions in
agreements (such as indemnification, nondiscloandeconfidentiality agreements) with employeessattants and customers, and on
common law and statutory protections afforded adeémarks, trade secrets and proprietary “know-hawaddition, we vigorously protect
our intellectual property against infringementsngsany and all legal remedies available. Notwithdiiag our efforts, we may not be
successful in protecting our intellectual propdadya number of reasons, including:

e our competitors may independently develop intellatproperty that is similar to or better than o

« employees, consultants or customers may ndedty their contractual agreements and the comtfofrcing those agreements may
be prohibitive, or those agreements may prove tortemforceable or more limited than anticipa

» foreign intellectual property laws may not adeglyapeotect our intellectual property rights; a

» our intellectual property rights may be succesgfalallenged, invalidated or circumvent

If we are unable to protect our intellectual prapeour competitive position would weaken and welddace significant expense to
protect or enforce our intellectual property rights December 28, 2013, we had $45.0 million oftRsg(see Note 13) and $7.4 million of
trademarks recorded as intangible assets.

13



Table of Contents

Occasionally, third parties may assert that we@renay be, infringing on or misappropriating thiaiellectual property rights. In these
cases, we intend to defend against claims or reggdicenses when we consider these actions apat@pintellectual property cases are
uncertain and involve complex legal and factualstjoes. If we become involved in this type of lgtgpn, it could consume significant
resources and divert our attention from businessaijpns.

If we are found to infringe on the intellectual pesty rights of others, we could incur significalamages, be enjoined from continuing
to manufacture, market or use the affected proaudie required to obtain a license to continue ufesturing or using the affected produc
license could be very expensive to obtain or maybecavailable at all. Similarly, changing produatgrocesses to avoid infringing the rights
of others may be costly or impracticable.

Our products may not meet health and safety standas or could become contaminated and we could be tiee for injury, iliness or
death caused by consumption of our products.

We have adopted various quality, environmentalltheand safety standards. However, our products stilynot meet these standard:
could otherwise become contaminated. A failure éehthese standards or contamination could ocoomiimperations or those of our
bottlers, distributors or suppliers. This couldules expensive production interruptions, recalfsl liability claims. We may be liable to our
customers if the consumption of any of our prodgaisses injury, illness or death. Moreover, negapirblicity could be generated from fa
unfounded or nominal liability claims or limitedaals. Any of these failures or occurrences coaldeha material adverse effect on our res
of operations or cash flows.

Litigation or legal proceedings could expose us tignificant liabilities and damage our reputation.

We are party to various litigation claims and legadceedings. We evaluate these claims and praugeth assess the likelihood of
unfavorable outcomes and estimate, if possibleatheunt of potential losses. We may establish @vesas appropriate based upon
assessments and estimates in accordance with caurging policies. We base our assessments, essraat] disclosures on the information
available to us at the time and rely on legal amshagement judgment. Actual outcomes or losses iiffay thaterially from assessments and
estimates. Actual settlements, judgments or resolsitof these claims or proceedings may negatiatgct our business and financial
performance. For more information, see “ltem 3.adld@roceedings.”

Changes in the legal and regulatory environment ithe jurisdictions in which we operate could increas our costs or reduce our
revenues, adversely affect demand for our productsr result in litigation.

As a producer of beverages, we must comply witiouarfederal, state, provincial, local and forelgws relating to production,
packaging, quality, labeling and distribution, imdting, in the United States, those of the fedeoald; Drug and Cosmetic Act, the Fair
Packaging and Labeling Act, the Federal Trade Casion Act, the Nutrition Labeling and Education Aad California Proposition 65. We
are also subject to various federal, state, praainiocal and foreign environmental laws and waakge regulations. These laws and
regulations include, in the United States, the @ational Safety and Health Act, the Unfair Labaaritards Act, the Clean Air Act, the Cle
Water Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Respdbsmpensation, and Liability Act, the Resource sawmation and Recovery Act, the
Federal Motor Carrier Safety Act, laws governingagemployment opportunity, customs and foreigddrews and regulations, laws relai
to the maintenance of fuel storage tanks, lawsinglao water consumption and treatment, and varaher federal statutes and regulations.
These laws and regulations may change as a réqdtitical, economic, or social events. Such ragpily changes may include changes in
food and drug laws, laws related to advertisingpaating standards, taxation requirements, conipetiaws and environmental laws,
including laws relating to the regulation of watights and treatment. Changes in laws, regulatiwrgovernment policy and related
interpretations may alter the environment in whighdo business, which may impact our results aeame our costs or liabilities.

A number of states have passed laws setting foatimiwg or labeling requirements relating to produnfide for human consumption.
For example, the California law known as Proposit® requires that a specific warning appear ongaagiuct sold in California containing a
substance listed by that state as having been fauoduse cancer or reproductive toxicity. This,lamd others like it, exposes all food and
beverage producers to the possibility of havingrtvide warnings on their products. The detectibeven a trace amount of a listed
substance can subject an affected product to théresment of a warning label, although productstaiming listed substances that occur
naturally or that are contributed to such prodscisly by a municipal water supply are generallgrapt from the warning requirement. From
time to time over the past several years, certhduocustomers have received notices allegingtti@tabeling requirements of the relevant
state regulation would apply to products manufaatloy us and sold by them. There can be no assuthatwe will not be adversely
affected by actions against our customers or aingl to Proposition 65 or similar “failure to warn
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laws: were any such claim to be pursued or suceeednight in some cases be required to indemnifycastomers for damages, and our
products might be required to bear warning labelsrder to be sold in certain states. Any negatieglia attention, adverse publicity or action
arising from allegations of violations could adwdysimpact consumer perceptions of our productstearch our business.

Taxes on CSDs and other drinks could have an adver®ffect on our business.

Federal, state, local and foreign governments bamsidered or have enacted taxes on soda andsuthary drinks, as well as energy
products. Any such taxes could negatively impaascmer demand for our products and have an adeéfesg on our revenues.

We are not in compliance with the requirements oftie OEPA and, if the Ontario government seeks to eofce those requirements or
implements modifications to them, we could be adveely affected.

Certain regulations under the OEPA provide thairdmum percentage of a bottler’s soft drink saléthin specified areas in Ontario
must be made in refillable containers. The perfaitynon-compliance is a fine of $50,000 per dayileigg when the first offense occurs and
continuing until the first conviction, and then iieasing to $100,000 per day for each subsequentatimm. These fines may be increased to
equal the amount of monetary benefit acquired byoffiender as a result of the commission of therafé. We, and we believe other industry
participants, are currently not in compliance with requirements of the OEPA. We do not expectetmltompliance with these regulations
in the foreseeable future. Ontario is not enford¢mg OEPA at this time, but if it chose to enfotite OEPA in the future, we could incur fines
for non-compliance and the possible prohibitiosas of soft drinks in non-refillable containertntario. We estimate that approximately
3% of our Canada operating segment sales wouldféeted by the possible limitation on sales of slvfhks in non-refillable containers in
Ontario if the Ontario Ministry of the Environmeinitiated an action to enforce the provisions & @EPA.

Adverse weather conditions could affect our supplghain and reduce the demand for our products.

Severe weather conditions and natural disastech, asifreezes, frosts, floods, hurricanes, tornadtosights or earthquakes and crop
diseases may affect our facilities and our supplpe materials such as fruit. If the supply of afyour raw materials is adversely affectec
weather conditions, it may result in increased naaterial costs and there can be no assurance ¢hailllbe able to obtain sufficient supplies
from other sources. In addition, the sales of agodpcts are influenced to some extent by weatheditions in the markets in which we
operate. Unusually cold or rainy weather duringghmmer months may reduce the demand for our ptedme contribute to lower revenu
which could negatively impact our profitability.

Global or regional catastrophic events could impacbur operations and financial results.

Our business can be affected by large-scale tstracts, especially those directed against theedr8tates or other major industrialized
countries in which we do business, major natursdstiers, or widespread outbreaks of infectiousadese Such events could impair our ability
to manage our business, could disrupt our suppipwfmaterials, and could impact production, tramtgtion and delivery of products. In
addition, such events could cause disruption abre or global economic activity, which can affecnsumers’ purchasing power in the
affected areas and, therefore, reduce demand fgroducts.

Our success depends in part upon our ability to racit, retain and prepare succession plans for our EO, CFO, senior management
and key employees.

The performance of our Chief Executive Officer (QB, Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”)senior management and other key emplc
is critical to our success. We plan to continuantest time and resources in developing our semamagement and key employee teams. Our
longterm success will depend on our ability to recamitl retain capable senior management and othezrkployees, and any failure to do
could have a material adverse effect on our fubyerating results and financial condition. Furtlifewe fail to adequately plan for the
succession of our CEO, CFO, senior managementthed key employees, our operating results coulddwersely affected.
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Changes in future business conditions could caus@siness investments and/or recorded goodwill, indigfte life intangible assets or
other intangible assets to become impaired, resutt§ in substantial losses and write-downs that wouldegatively impact our results of
operations.

As part of our overall strategy, we will, from tinb@time, make investments in other businessessé lmwestments are made upon
careful target analysis and due diligence proceddesigned to achieve a desired return or stratdyjéctive. These procedures often involve
certain assumptions and judgment in determiningstment amount or acquisition price. After acqigeibr investment, unforeseen issues
could arise that adversely affect anticipated retur that are otherwise not recoverable as arsgu@nt to the purchase price. Even after
careful integration efforts, actual operating resuatay vary significantly from initial estimateso@lwill accounted for $137.3 million of our
recorded total assets as of December 28, 2013 valaate the recoverability of recorded goodwill amts annually, or when evidence of
potential impairment exists. The annual impairntest is based on several factors requiring judgrardtcertain underlying assumptions.
only intangible asset with an indefinite life relatto the 2001 acquisition of intellectual propértyn Royal Crown Company, Inc., including
the right to manufacture our concentrates, withiedited inventions, processes, technologies, teghand manufacturing information, know-
how and the use of the Royal Crown brand outsid¢asth America and Mexico (the “Rights”). This assghich has a net book value of
$45.0 million, is more fully described in Note 1ttee Consolidated Financial Statements.

As of December 28, 2013, other intangible assete $251.2 million, which consisted principally &%2.0 million of customer
relationships that arose from acquisitions, $10illian of financing costs, $17.5 million of inforrtian technology assets, and trademarks of
$7.4 million. Customer relationships are amortizeda straight-line basis for the period over whighexpect to receive economic benefits,
which is up to 15 years. We review the estimateduldife of these intangible assets annually,rigkinto consideration the specific net cash
flows related to the intangible asset, unlessrigéalired more frequently due to a triggering egerth as the loss of a customer. The
permanent loss of any customer included in thengitde asset would result in impairment in the eadd the intangible asset or accelerated
amortization and could lead to an impairment oédixassets that were used to service that clieimcipally, a decrease in expected reporting
segment cash flows, changes in market conditiass, df key customers and a change in our imputsdoé@apital may indicate potential
impairment of recorded goodwill or the Rights. Rdditional information on accounting policies werdén place for goodwill impairment,
see our discussion under “Critical Accounting Hebcand Estimates” in “Item 7. Management’s Dismrsand Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” of this AnnRalport on Form 10-K and Note 1, “Summary of Sigaifit Accounting Policies,” in the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Stateme

We may not be able to renew collective bargainingggeements on satisfactory terms, or we could expenmce strikes.

As of December 28, 2013, 785 of our employees wevered by collective bargaining agreements irlthiéed States, Canada, United
Kingdom and Mexico. These agreements typically iexpvery three to five years at various dates. Valg not be able to renew our collective
bargaining agreements on satisfactory terms di.aftas could result in strikes or work stoppagesjch could impair our ability to
manufacture and distribute our products and reéswtsubstantial loss of sales. The terms of exgsbr renewed agreements could also
significantly increase our costs or negatively etfieur ability to increase operational efficiency.

We depend on key information systems and third-past service providers.

We depend on key information systems to accuratetiefficiently transact our business, provide rimfation to management and
prepare financial reports. We have typically relegdthird-party providers for the majority of ougykinformation systems and business
processing services, including hosting our pringata center. In particular, we are in the procéamplementing a new SAP software
platform to assist us in the management of oummss and have also reorganized certain procestgn wiir finance and accounting
departments. As a part of the reorganization, we lnaitsourced certain back office transactionalrfoe processes. If we fail to successfully
implement these projects or if the projects dorastilt in increased operational efficiencies, querations may be disrupted and our oper:
expenses could increase, which could adverselgtadf@ financial results.

In addition, these systems and services are viifeeta interruptions or other failures resultingrfr, among other things, natural
disasters, terrorist attacks, software, equipmetglecommunications failures, processing errassmputer viruses, hackers, other security
issues or supplier defaults. Security, backup asalster recovery measures may not be adequatepterivanted properly to avoid such
disruptions or failures. Any disruption or failunéthese systems or services could cause substartias, processing inefficiencies, security
breaches, inability to use the systems or procassactions, loss of customers or other businassptions, all of which could negatively
affect our business and financial performance.
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Our stock price may be volatile.

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stoc&haxge (the “NYSE”) and Toronto Stock Exchange KT)S The market price ¢
our common stock has fluctuated substantially enghst and could fluctuate substantially in thareitbased on a variety of factors, includ
future announcements covering us or our key cust®arecompetitors, government regulations, litigatichanges in earnings estimates by
analysts, fluctuations in quarterly operating resat general conditions in our industry. Furthemrmatock prices for many companies
fluctuate widely for reasons that may be unreldéettheir operating results. Those fluctuations gederal economic, political and market
conditions, such as recessions or internationakagy fluctuations and demand for our services, athersely affect the market price of our
common stock.

We also face other risks that could adversely affeour business, results of operations or financiatondition, which include:
» any requirement to restate financial results inetent of inappropriate application of accountimiggiples or otherwise
e any event that could damage our reputat
» failure of our processes to prevent and detecthicetconduct of employee
» asignificant failure of internal controls overdincial reporting

» failure of our prevention and control systemisited to employee compliance with internal poicad regulatory requirements;
and

» failure of corporate governance policies and praces

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our business is supported by our extensive manufagtnetwork and flexible production capabiliti€ur manufacturing footprint
encompasses 34 strategically located beverage aetntihg and fruit processing facilities, includiB@ in the United States, five in Canada,
seven in the United Kingdom and one in Mexico, a#l as one vertically-integrated global concentramufacturing facility in Columbus,
Georgia.

Total square footage of our beverage productionfantprocessing facilities is approximately 3.7lian square feet in the United
States; 0.9 million square feet in Canada; 1.0ionilsquare feet in the United Kingdom; and 0.1 iovillsquare feet in Mexico. This square
footage does not include 39 separate leased anléaskd warehouses and four owned warehouse®teher comprise 3.4 million square
feet and five leased office spaces and two ownfideaspaces that together comprise 0.2 million sgfeet. Lease terms for non-owned
beverage production facilities expire between 2&id 2023.

The beverage production facilities and square fmmounts noted above do not include vacant agrutitized properties.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are subject to various claims and legal procegdivith respect to matters such as governmergalagons, income taxes, and other
actions arising out of the normal course of businbfanagement believes that the resolution of thesgers will not have a material adverse
effect on our financial position or results of cgi#ons.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM PART I. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following is a list of names, ages, offices &adkgrounds of all of our executive officers asebruary 24, 2014. Our officers do
not serve for a set term.

Office Age
Jerry Fowden Chief Executive Office 57
Jay Wells Chief Financial Office 51
Michael Creamer Vice Presiden- Human Resource 57
Marni Morgan Poe Vice President, General Counsel and Secre 44
Steven Kitching Presiden- U.S. Business Un 50
Gregory Leiter Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer akebistant Secretal 56
Carlos Baila Chief Procurement Office 47

Jerry Fowden was appointed Chief Executivedeffin February 2009. Prior to this appointment, Fbwden served as President
of our international operating segments and Inté?m@sident, North America from May 2008 to Febru2®99, and as Interim
President of our U.K. operating segment from Sep@am007 to May 2008. He served as Chief Exec@fficer of Trader Medi:
Group Ltd., a media company, and as a member phitsnt Guardian Media Group EdBoard of Directors from 2005 until 20(
From 2001 until 2004, Mr. Fowden served in a vgradtroles with AB InBev S.A. Belgium, an alcoholieverage company,
including President, European Zone, Western, Ceatih Eastern Europe from 2003 to 2004, Global Objgerating Officer from
2002 to 2003 and Chief Executive Officer of Bassvigrs Ltd., a subsidiary of AB InBev S.A. Belgiuimom 2001 to 2002.

Mr. Fowden currently serves on the board of dinectd Constellation Brands, Inc., a premium winegtand spirits company.
Mr. Fowden has served on our board since March z

Jay Wells was appointed Chief Financial OffiteMarch 2012. Prior to joining Cott, Mr. WellsIHevarious senior finance
positions with Molson Coors from May 2005 to Magbil2, including Chief Financial Officer of Molsoro@rs Canada, a
subsidiary of Molson Coors Brewing Company, andb@ld/ice President, Treasury, Tax, and Strategiafée of Molson Coors
Brewing Company. From September 1990 to April 2006, Wells held several positions within DeloittedaTouche LLP.,
including partner

Michael Creamer was appointed Vice Presidemtwhan Resources for International and Tampa, ddan April 2007 and
promoted to Vice President of Human Resources @it i August 2008. Mr. Creamer currently servesasCorporate Human
Resources Vice President. Prior to joining Cott, @ireamer was Senior Director of Human Resourca&@ipes and International
for Avanade Corporation, a global IT consultanayrfed as a joint venture between Accenture and MaftcCorporation. From
1990 to 2004, Mr. Creamer held several positiorteiwiMicrosoft, including senior global human resms positions

Marni Morgan Poe was appointed Vice Presidéetieral Counsel and Secretary in February 2016r ®riher appointment,

Ms. Poe served as Corporate Counsel of the ComipamySeptember 2008. Prior to joining the Company, Poe was the co-
founder and Chief Executive Officer of LetEat Dinner, Inc., a franchisor of dinner prepgarakitchens, from 2006 to 2008. Fr«
2000 to 2006, Ms. Poe was a partner at the lawdirtdolland & Knight LLP and an associate of the ltrm from 1995 to 200C

Steven Kitching was appointed President of '€aitS. business unit on March 4, 2013. Since 2808 Kitching has served as
Managing Director of Cott’s United Kingdom/Europeasimess unit. From 2005 to 2008, Mr. Kitching hedderal positions with
InBev UK, including Managing Director - On Tradel&aand Managing DirectorGommercial and Field Operations. Prior to t
Mr. Kitching held several positions with Interbreand Whitbread Beer Company from 1986 to 2005, otioly General Manager
Netherlands of Interbrew from 2004 to 20

Gregory Leiter was appointed Vice PresidentpOmte Controller and Assistant Secretary of @olMovember 2007, and
appointed Senior Vice President and Controller jpmil22008. Mr. Leiter took on the additional role®@hief Accounting Officer in
January 2010. Mr. Leiter currently serves as ounid@e/ice President, Chief Accounting Officer andsistant Secretary. Prior to
joining Cott, Mr. Leiter served from October 20@6Qctober 2007 as Practice Mane—Governance, Risk & Compliance with
the international software firm SAP America. Froamdary 2003 to September 2006, Mr. Leiter held pasitions with Graham
Packaging Company, an international manufactureusfom blow-molded plastic containers. From Fetyr@2806 to September
2006, he served as Graham Packaging’s Vice Prdsidglobal Business Process and from January 206@louary 2006 as
Director of Internal Audit
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Carlos Baila was appointed Chief Procuremefiic@&fin February 2013. From 2005 to 2012, Mr. Bailorked for PepsiCo Inc. as
Vice President of Global Procurement. From 1998005, Mr. Baila worked as a Supply Chain Execuéitvéccenture Ltd. where
he provided clients with management consultingisesvprimarily around supply chain and strategigreimg projects,
procurement transformations, contract structurdimgncial valuations, and supply chain optimizasioNlr. Baila has been
involved in multinational projects across the Aroas, Europe, Middle East and Asia; and, in Argentireld several positions in
operations at Keystone Foods from 1995 to 1997Quitines Brewery from 1992 to 19¢
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PART II

ITEM5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED SHAREOWNER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF SECURITIES

Our common shares are listed on the TSX undeli¢kertsymbol “BCB,” and on the NYSE under the tickgmbol “COT.”

The tables below show the high and low reportedspare sales prices of common shares on the TSEa(iradian dollars) and the
NYSE (in U.S. dollars) for the indicated periods 2013 and 201:

Toronto Stock Exchange (C$)

TSX
2013 2012
High Low High Low
First Quarter $10.31 $7.4¢ $7.2¢ $5.9¢
Second Quarte $11.4¢ $7.7¢ $8.47 $6.3¢
Third Quartel $ 9.1¢ $8.0: $8.7¢ $7.51
Fourth Quarte $ 9.2t $7.7¢ $8.7: $7.34
New York Stock Exchange (U.S.$)
NYSE
2013 2012
High Low High Low
First Quarter $10.1¢ $7.42 $7.34 $6.01
Second Quarte $11.2¢ $7.3¢ $8.27 $6.3¢
Third Quartel $ 8.84 $7.77 $8.77 $7.6¢
Fourth Quarte $ 8.74 $7.4¢ $8.7¢ $7.24

As of February 14, 2014, we had 1,021shareownerscoird. This number was determined from recordsit@iaed by our transfer
agent and does not include beneficial owners afréiiEs whose securities are held in the namesdbus dealers or clearing agencies. The
closing sale price of our common shares on Febri#r2014 was C$8.83 on the TSX and $8.03 on thEEY

No dividend payments were made during the firsemmonths of 2012. On October 31, 2012, the boadire€tors declared a dividend
of C$0.06 per share on common shares, which walsipaiash on December 20, 2012 to shareownersofdet the close of business on
December 4, 2012. The board of directors has detlarquarterly dividend of C$0.06 per common shraeach quarter during 2013 for an
aggregate dividend payment of approximately $21ilBom. Cott intends to pay a regular quarterlyidend on its common shares subject to,
among other things, the best interests of its slvamers, Cott’s results of operations, cash balaandsuture cash requirements, financial
condition, statutory regulations and covenantsaéh in the ABL facility and indentures governitige 2017 Notes and 2018 Notes, as we
other factors that the board of directors may deglgvant from time to time.

Dividends to shareowners who are non-residentsaofi@a will generally be subject to Canadian wittimg tax. Under current
Canadian tax law, dividends paid by a Canadianaratfon to a nonresident shareowner are generalijest to Canadian withholding tax &
25% rate. Under the current tax treaty between @aaad the United States, U.S. residents who ditkedrto treaty benefits are generally
eligible for a reduction in this withholding taxteato 15% (and to 5% for a shareowner that is paration and is the beneficial owner of at
least 10% of our voting stock). Accordingly, underrent tax law, our U.S. resident shareowners arecentitled to treaty benefits will
generally be subject to a Canadian withholdingataa 15% rate on dividends paid by us, providetttiey have complied with applicable
procedural requirements to claim the benefit ofrdduced rate under the tax treaty. The fifth prokdo the tax treaty between Canada ani
U.S. places additional restrictions on the abiityJ.S. residents to claim these reduced rate fisnekS. residents generally will be entitled
on their U.S. federal income tax returns to claiforaign tax credit, or a deduction, for Canadiadthtolding tax that applies to them, subject
to certain applicable limitations. U.S. investonegld consult their tax advisors with respect ® tdx consequences and requirements
applicable to them, based on their individual ainstances.
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There are certain restrictions on the paymentwtldnds under our ABL facility and under the indees governing the 2017 Notes and
2018 Notes. The ABL facility and the indentures gqming the 2017 Notes and 2018 Notes are discugsdthnagement’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggtems” in Item 7.

For information on securities authorized for issteannder our equity compensation plans, see ItgrfSEZ2urity Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related StvaesoMatters.”

During 2011, 2012 and 2013, no equity securitieefCompany were sold by the Company that wereagistered under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Calculation of aggregate market value of non-affilite shares

For purposes of calculating the aggregate markeevat common shares held by non-affiliates as showthe cover page of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, it was assumed thadfathe outstanding shares were held by non-atéiigxcept for outstanding shares held
or controlled by our directors and executive officé his should not be deemed to constitute an gglari that any of these persons are, in
fact, affiliates of us, or that there are not othersons who may be deemed to be affiliates. Fthduinformation concerning shareholding
officers, directors and principal stockholders kem 12, “Security Ownership of Certain Benefidiakners and Management and Related
Shareowner Matters.”
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Shareowner return performance graph

The following graph shows changes over our pastfiscal years in the value of C$100, assumingvesitment of dividends, invested
in: (i) our common shares; (ii) the Toronto StocicEange’s S&P/TSX Composite Index; and (iii) a pgexup of publicly-traded companies
in the bottling industry comprised of Coca-Colaétptises Inc., Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidatédtional Beverage Corp., Pepsi
Bottling Group Inc. and PepsiAmericas Inc. The icigsprice of Cott's common shares as of DecembeP@83 was C$8.65 on the TSX and

was $8.06 on the NYSE. The following table is im@dian dollars.
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Peer Grouj

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Common Share Repurchase Program

On April 30, 2013, our board of directors renewed share repurchase program for up to 5% of Cotitstanding common shares over
a 12-month period commencing upon the expiratiothefprior share repurchase program on May 21, 20/E3are unable to predict the
number of shares that ultimately will be repurcldaseder the share repurchase program, or the aajgrdgllar amount of the shares actually
purchased. We may discontinue purchases at any sumhgect to compliance with applicable regulat@guirements. No repurchases were

made during the fourth quarter ended December@B83.2
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data reflects tasults of operations. This information should &&d in conjunction with, and is
qualified by reference to “Management’s Discussiod Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpkrations” and the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto includesizdisre in this Annual Report on Form KOThe financial information presented may no
indicative of future performance.

December 2¢ December 2¢ December 31 January 1, January 2,
2013 2012 2011 20111 2010

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amaus) (52 weeks, (52 weeks) (52 weeks) (53 weeks (52 weeks
Revenue, ne $ 2,004 $ 22506 $ 2,334.¢ $1,803.0 $1,596.
Cost of sale: 1,842.( 1,961.: 2,058.( 1,537.( 1,346.¢
Gross profit 252.( 289.t 276.¢ 266.: 249.¢
Selling, general and administrative exper 160.4 178.( 1725 166.7 146.¢
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipm 1.C 1.8 1.2 1.1 0.t
Restructuring and asset impairmel
Restructuring 2.C — — (0.5 1.t
Asset impairment — — 0.€ — 3.€
Intangible asset impairmer — — 1.4 — —
Operating income 88.¢€ 109.% 100.% 99.C 97.2
Contingent consideration ei-out adjustmen — 0.€ 0.8 (20.9) —
Other expense (income), r 12.¢ (2.0 2.2 4.C 4.4
Interest expense, n 51.€ 54.2 57.1 36.€ 29.7
Income before income taxes 242 56.¢ 40.5 78.4 63.3
Income tax expense (bene! 2.2 4.€ (0.7) 18.€ (22.%)
Net income $ 22 $ 5.2 $ 41z $ 596 $ 86.1
Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest: 5.C 4.5 3.€ 5.1 4.€
Net income attributed to Cott Corporation $ 17 % 47.¢ $ 37.¢ $ 54.7 $ 81t
Net income per common share attributed to Cott Corpration
Basic 0.1¢ 0.51 0.4C 0.64 1.1C
Diluted 0.1¢ 0.5C 0.4C 0.6% 1.0¢
Financial Condition
Total asset $ 1,426 $ 1,565.¢ $ 1,508.¢ $1,529.: $ 873.¢
Shor-term borrowings 50.¢ — — 7.¢ 20.2
Current maturities of lor-term debt 3.¢ 1.8 3.4 6.C 17.€
Long-term debi 403.t 601.¢ 602.1 605.5 233.2
Equity 605.¢ 622.¢ 568.2 535.2 401.:
Cash dividends pai 21.¢ 5.8 — — —
Dividends declared per she 0.24 0.0€ — — —

1 In 2010, we completed the acquisition of subsdptall of the assets and liabilities of Cliffst&orporation (“Cliffstar”) and its
affiliated companies for approximately $503.0 ro#fliin cash, $14.0 million in deferred consideragayable in equal installments over
three years and contingent consideration of ugp&éGmillion. The
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first $15.0 million of the contingent consideratiaas paid upon the achievement of milestones iraiceexpansion projects in 2010.
The remainder of the contingent consideration wasetcalculated based on the achievement of cqréaformance measures during
fiscal year ending January 1, 2011. In 2011, thiersef Cliffstar raised certain objections to therformance measures used to calculate
the contingent consideration, and the parties comeexdthe dispute resolution mechanism providedhftine asset purchase agreement.
During 2011, Cott made interim payments to theesadtjual to $29.6 million, which was net of a $ahiflion refund due to Cott and
included $0.9 million in settlement of certain bétseller’'s objections to the calculation of thatawgent consideration. The seller’s
claims for an additional $12.1 million in contingensideration were submitted to binding arbitnatpursuant to the asset purchase
agreement and favorably resolved in February 2@1&up payment of $0.6 million to settle all clair
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Overview

We are one of the world’s largest producers of beyes on behalf of retailers, brand owners andiliigbrs. Our objective of creating
sustainable long-term growth in revenue and prioflits is predicated on working closely with ouratamers to provide proven profitable
products. As a “fast followerdf innovative products, our goal is to identify whinew products are succeeding in the marketpladelavelo|
similar high quality products at a better valueisTdbjective is increasingly relevant in more diffit economic times.

The beverage market is subject to some seasonativas. Our beverage sales are generally higheéngithe warmer months and also
can be influenced by the timing of holidays and therafluctuations. Our purchases of raw materiat$ r@lated accounts payable fluctuate
based upon the demand for our products as wellea8ring of the fruit growing seasons. The sealiynaf our sales volume combined with
the seasonal nature of fruit growing causes oukingrcapital needs to fluctuate throughout the yedh inventory levels increasing in the
first half of the year in order to meet high sumrmdemand, and with fruit inventories peaking duriing last quarter of the year when
purchases are made after the growing season. lticedaur accounts receivable balances declirtberfall as customers pay their higher-
than-average outstanding balances from the sumetieedes.

We typically operate at low margins and therefalatively small changes in cost structures can niadligimpact results. In 2011
industry carbonated soft drink (“CSD”) sales werestly flat while a decline was seen during 2012 2083, and ingredient and packaging
costs remained volatile.

Ingredient and packaging costs represent a signifiportion of our cost of sales. These costs abgest to global and regional
commodity price trends. Our most significant comitied are aluminum, polyethylene terephthalate 'BEesin, corn, sugar, fruit and fruit
concentrates. We attempt to manage our expostiectaations in ingredient and packaging costs fgeng into fixed price commitments
for a portion of our ingredient and packaging regients and implementing price increases as needed.

During 2013, we redeemed $200.0 million aggregatejpal amount of our 8.375% senior notes due 281& “2017 Notes”) primarily
through the use of available cash and borrowingleuthe asset-based lending (“ABlLf&cility. On February 19, 2014, we redeemed all.8
million in aggregate principal amount of the renmagnoutstanding 2017 Notes at 104.118% of par wiadwings under the ABL facility.

Prior to redeeming the 2017 Notes in 2013, we ameéide ABL facility to, among other things, provifte an increase in the lenders’
commitments under the ABL facility to $300.0 milioas well as an increase to the accordion fearieh permits us to increase the lenders’
commitments under the ABL facility to $350.0 miliosubject to certain conditions.

We supply Walmart and its affiliated companies,@emahnual non-exclusive supply agreements, withrgety of products in the United
States, Canada, the United Kingdom, and Mexicduéiieg CSDs, 100% shelf stable juice and juice-tgmeducts, clear, still and sparkling
flavored waters, energy drinks, sports producte; age beverages, and ready-to-drink teas. In 2@&8upplied Walmart with all of its
private-label CSDs in the United States. In theneWéalmart were to utilize additional supplierdudfill a portion of its requirements for
CSDs, our operating results could be materiallyeasily affected. Sales to Walmart in 2013, 2012201d., accounted for 30.1%, 31.0% and
31.6%, respectively, of total revenue.

In 2013, our capital expenditures were devoted griignto maintaining existing beverage productianifities, and making equipment
upgrades in the United States, the United KingdGamada and Mexico. In addition, we completed oojegts related to the vertical
integration of our manufacturing capabilities.

In June of 2013, our United Kingdom (“U.K.”) repioig segment acquired 100 percent of the shareatayiCooke Bros Holdings
Limited, which includes the subsidiary compgnigy@m Soft Drinks Limited and Mr. Freeze (Europénlted (together, “Calypso Soft
purchase price for the acquisition of Calypso ®wihks (the “Calypso Soft Drinks Acquisition”) w&i.2.1 million, which includes
approximately $7.0 million paid at closing, deferpayments of approximately $2.3 million and $3i0iom to be paid on the first and secc
anniversary of the closing date, respectively ef@alypso Soft Drinks Acquisition. The closing panhwas funded from available cash.
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In 2010, we completed the acquisition of substiiptél of the assets and liabilities of Cliffst&@orporation (“Cliffstar”) and its
affiliated companies for approximately $503.0 rofliin cash, $14.0 million in deferred consideragayable in equal installments over three
years and contingent consideration of up to $55liGom (the “Cliffstar Acquisition”). The first $15.0 million bthe contingent consideration
was paid upon the achievement of milestones iraiteeixpansion projects in 2010. The remainder @fcttntingent consideration was to be
calculated based on the achievement of certaimpeance measures during the fiscal year endingadariy 2011. In 2011, the seller of
Cliffstar raised certain objections to the perfonm@measures used to calculate the contingentdmrasion, and the parties commenced the
dispute resolution mechanism provided for in theeaipurchase agreement. During 2011, Cott madenmpayments to the seller equal to
$29.6 million, which was net of a $4.7 million reflidue to Cott and included $0.9 million in settigrnof certain of the seller’s objections to
the calculation of the contingent consideratione Bkller’s claims for an additional $12.1 milliendontingent consideration were submitted
to binding arbitration pursuant to the asset pusetegreement and favorably resolved in Februar@ B§Jpayment of $0.6 million by Cott to
settle all claims.

Summary Financial Results

Our net income in 2013 was $17.0 million or $0.&8 giluted share, compared with net income of $4TilBon or $0.50 per diluted
share in 2012.

The following items of significance impacted out2@nancial results:

« our filled beverage 8-ounce equivalents (“bagercase volume”), which excludes concentrate sdéeseased 8.6% due primarily
to the general market decline in the North Ameri€8D category, prolonged aggressive promotionaligcfrom the national
brands in North America as well as the exiting ade pack wate

e ourrevenue decreased 7.0% in 2013 compar2did due primarily to lower global volumes partiaffset by an increase in net
selling price per beverage case (which is net negelivided by filled beverage case volume). Exalgdhe impact of foreign
exchange, revenue decreased 6.5% from the compgrabt year perioc

e our gross profit as a percentage of revenuesdsed to 12.0% in 2013 from 12.9% in 2012 due qmilgnto lower global volumes
which resulted in unfavorable fixed cost absorpt

» our selling, general and administrative (“SG&Akpenses decreased to $160.4 million from $1#8ldn due primarily to lower
employer-related expenses, lower information technologyscastl a reduction in professional fees and simdats;

» our loss on disposal of property, plant andigment was related to the disposal of $1.0 milbdrquipment that was either
replaced or no longer being used in our opera@ugrents

» our other expense in 2013 was $12.8 million piimmarily to costs associated with the redemptib$200.0 million aggregate
principal amount of our 2017 Notes, compared t@othcome in 2012 of $2.0 million as a result afirance recoveries in excess
of the loss incurred on a facility in the Unitecu®t in the amount of $1.9 million and recordizpegain purchase of $0.9 million
in the United Kingdom offset partially by foreigrahange losses of $0.8 millio

» our interest expense decreased by $2.6 miltiod,8%, due primarily to the redemption of $206ilion aggregate principal
amount of our 2017 Notes and to an amendment téBurfacility to more favorable term:

» our income tax expense decreased to $2.2 milli@0iB compared to an income tax expense of $4lmih 2012 due primaril
to a reduction in pretax incom

» our Adjusted EBITDA decreased to $196.8 millfoom $212.9 million in the comparable prior yearipd due to the items listed
above; anc

» our adjusted net income and adjusted earniagsifuted share were $36.3 million and $0.38, eeipely, compared to $51.9
million and $0.55 in the prior year, respective
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The following items of significance impacted out2@inancial results:

our filled beverage case volume decreased @@&primarily to our exit from certain low grossnmgia business and the general
decline in the North American CSD and juice categm

our revenue decreased 3.6% in 2012 compared to @04 primarily to lower volumes and a product nfiktsnto juice drinks an
sports drinks from 100% sh-stable juice in North America. Excluding the impatforeign exchange, revenue decreased 3

our gross profit as a percentage of revenueased to 12.9% in 2012 from 11.8% in 2011 due gmilgnto an increase in average
price per case and our exit from lower margin besin as well as operational efficiencies in Nonthedica;

our SG&A expenses increased to $178.0 millimmf$172.7 million, due primarily to an increaseertain employeeelated cost
compared to a lowering of the annual incentive land-term incentive accruals in the prior year iadiit offset by lower
information technology expenses in 20

our loss on disposal of property, plant andigaent was the result of the sale of a facilitfMexico and normal operational
disposals

our 2012 results were impacted by the finalticmyent consideration earn-out accrual of $0.6iomlrelated to the Cliffstar
Acquisition;

our other income in 2012 was $2.0 million agsult of insurance recoveries in excess of theilosurred on a facility in the
United States in the amount of $1.9 million andbrding a bargain purchase of $0.9 million in theteth Kingdom offset partially
by foreign exchange losses of $0.8 million in tleary compared to other expense in 2011 of $2.2omitelated to foreign
exchange losses on intercompany loi

our interest expense decreased by $2.9 millionI5ue primarily to lower debt balances held tigfoaut the year; an

our income tax expense increased to $4.6 mitiempared to an income tax benefit of $0.7 miliim2011 due primarily to the
recording of allowances against deferred tax assete U.S. that are uncertain to be realized elfas a reduction to the loss
generated in the U.F

The following items of significance impacted out P@inancial results:

our filled beverage case volume increased 15.3%edrby a 17.6% increase in the North America répgidegment, due primar
to the Cliffstar Acquisition

our revenue increased 29.5% in 2011 compar@810 due primarily to the Cliffstar Acquisitionx@8uding the impact of the
Cliffstar Acquisition and foreign exchange, reveimgreased 6.7%

the Cliffstar Acquisition contributed $385.6lhein of the increase in revenue, and $19.6 milladrthe increase in operating
income;

our gross profit as a percentage of revenuéndetto 11.8% in 2011 from 14.8% in 2010. Grossfipin 2011 was adversely
impacted by higher commodity cos

our SG&A expenses increased to $172.7 million f@k66.7 million, due primarily to the full year inlion of Cliffstar;

our interest expense increased 54.7% due phntarthe issuance of the $375.0 million aggregatacipal amount of 8.125%
senior notes due 2018 (t“2018 Note”) by Cott Beverages Inc. in the third quarter of 204rid

a year-to-date tax benefit of $0.7 million id12 compared to income tax expense of $18.6 miliic2010 due primarily to lower
pre-tax income in the United States, the reorganizatioour legal entity structure and refinancingmercompany deb
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Critical Accounting Policies

Our significant accounting policies and recentiuisd accounting pronouncements are described i Ntt the consolidated financial
statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Reporform 10-K. We believe the following represemt critical accounting policies:

Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesmé@ntonformity with U.S. generally accepted acamgprinciples (“GAAP™)require!
management to make estimates and assumptiondfenztttae amounts in the consolidated financiatesteents and the accompanying notes.
These estimates are based on historical experidreadvice of external experts or on other assiampmanagement believes to be
reasonable. Where actual amounts differ from eséimaevisions are included in the results forglgod in which actual amounts become
known. Historically, differences between estimated actual amounts have not had a significant ilnpaour consolidated financial
statements.

I mpairment testing of goodwill

Gooduwill represents the excess purchase priceqfiaer businesses over the fair value of the redtasacquired. Goodwill is not
amortized, but instead is tested for impairmem¢ast annually in the fourth quarter or more fraglyeif we determine a triggering event has
occurred during the year. Any impairment loss omized in our results of operations. We evalgatedwill for impairment on a reporting
unit basis. Reporting units are operations for Whiliscrete financial information is available amd at or one level below our operating
segments. For the purpose of testing goodwill figpairment, our reporting units are the United St#td.S.”), United Kingdom (“U.K.”),
Canada, and Royal Crown International (“RCI"). Waellgoodwill of $137.3 million on our balance shaebecember 28, 2013, which
represents amounts for the U.S., U.K., Canadate®ClI reporting units.

In 2013 and 2012, for our RCI reporting unit, weessed qualitative factors to determine whetheexistence of events or
circumstances indicated that it was more likelynthat that the fair value of the reporting unit ess than its carrying amount. We also
performed this assessment for our Canada repartiitign 2012. If, after assessing the totality wésts or circumstances, we had determined
that it was more likely than not that the fair \@lf the reporting unit was less than its carnangpunt, then we would have performed the
first step of the two-step goodwill impairment téate concluded that it was more likely than not tha fair value of the reporting unit was
more than its carrying amount and therefore we wetgequired to perform any additional testing.

In 2013, for our U.S. and Canada reporting units,civose to bypass the qualitative assessment afwdrped the first step of the two-
step goodwill impairment test using a mix of thedme approach (which is based on the discountdudftmag of the reporting unit) and the
public company approach. We believe using a contibin@f the two approaches provides a more accwadteation because it incorporates
the actual cash generation of the Company in aafdit how a third party market participant wouldueathe reporting unit. We also chose to
bypass the qualitative assessment for our U.Srtiagaunit in 2012. Because the business is assumedntinue in perpetuity, the discounted
future cash flow includes a terminal value. We usedkighted average terminal growth rate of 1%ofarU.S. reporting unit in 2013 and
2012 and a weighted average terminal growth raié@®for our Canada reporting unit in 2013. The lbeign growth assumptions
incorporated into the discounted cash flow caldoiteteflect our longerm view of the market (including a decline in C8&mand), projecte
changes in the sale of our products, pricing ohguoducts and operating profit margins. The edtthaevenue changes in the analysis for
the U.S. reporting unit ranged between -9.7% af@éoFor 2013 and -1.4% and 3.0% for 2012. The eddtheevenue changes in the analysis
for the Canada reporting unit ranged between -17a8681.2% for 2013.

The discount rate used for the fair value estimiielse analysis for the U.S. reporting unit was?%8.for 2013 and 10.5% for 2012 and
ranged from 11% to 12% for 2011. The discount uaed for the fair value estimates in the analymiglfe Canada reporting unit was 9.0%
2013 and 11.0% for 2011. These rates were bas#teomeighted average cost of capital a marketqpatnt would use if evaluating the
reporting unit as an investment. The risk-free vedis 3.4% and 2.4% for 2013 and 2012, respectiaglg,was based on a 20-year U.S.
Treasury Bill as of the valuation date.

For the Canada reporting unit, the fair value ededahe net book value by approximately 23% and #92013 and 2011, respective
As noted above, a qualitative assessment was pertbon our Canada reporting unit in 2012. From 2012013, the fair value declined by
approximately 41%.

All goodwill in the U.K. reporting unit is attribable to the Calypso Soft Drinks Acquisition.
28



Table of Contents

Each year during the fourth quarter, we re-evalttedeassumptions used to reflect changes in thedmsenvironment, such as revenue
growth rates, operating profit margins and discoat#. Based on the evaluations performed this, yeadetermined that the fair value of our
reporting units exceeded their carrying amounts.

I mpairment testing of intangible assets with an indefinitelife

Our only intangible asset with an indefinite lifdates to the 2001 acquisition of intellectual gy from Royal Crown Company, Inc.,
including the right to manufacture our concentrat@th all related inventions, processes, technielmgechnical and manufacturing
information, know-how and the use of the Royal Qndwand outside of North America and Mexico (théglRs"). This asset has a net book
value of $45.0 million. Prior to 2001, we paid duroe based royalty to the Royal Crown Company focpase of concentrates. There are no
legal, regulatory, contractual, competitive, ecoimrar other factors that limit the useful life thiis intangible.

The life of the Rights is considered to be indeérsind therefore not amortized, but instead igtkefr impairment at least annually or
more frequently if we determine a triggering evieas occurred during the year. We compare the caymount of the Rights to their fair
value and where the carrying amount is greater theufiair value, we recognize in income an impairtdess. To determine fair value, we use
a relief from royalty method, which calculates & falue royalty rate that is applied to a foreaafstuture volume shipments of concentrate
that is used to produce CSDs. The forecast of dutotumes is based on the estimated inter-plaphstimts and RCI shipments. The relief
from royalty method is used since the Rights wenelpased in part to avoid making future royaltypants for concentrate to the Royal
Crown Company. The resulting cash flows are distedinsing a discount rate of 12.5% and estimatédmnw® changes between -10.7% and
5.5%. No impairment was calculated for the yearendecember 28, 2013. Absent any other changesr ifter-plant concentrate volume
declines by 1.0% from our estimated volume, thevfalue of our Rights would decline by approximgt®l.7 million. If our RCI volume
declines by 1.0% from our estimated volume, thevfalue of the Rights would decline by approximat&2.6 million. If our discount rate
increases by 100 basis points, the fair value ®Rlghts would decline by approximately $5.5 miilidNone of these adjustments would re
in an impairment of our Rights as either a stamh@ladjustment or in combination.

Other intangible assets

As of December 28, 2013, other intangible assete $251.2 million, consisting principally of $21llion of customer relationships
that arose from acquisitions, $10.1 million of fieéng costs, $17.5 million of information technojagssets, and $7.4 million of trademarks.
Customer relationships are amortized on a strdigatbasis for the period over which we expecteeeive economic benefits. We review the
estimated useful life of these intangible assetsialty, taking into consideration the specific oash flows related to the intangible asset,
unless a review is required more frequently due tiaggering event such as the loss of a custofier.permanent loss or significant declin
sales to any customer included in the intangibdéetwould result in impairment in the value of thiangible asset or accelerated amortiza
and could lead to an impairment of fixed assetswleae used to service that customer. In 2013,egerded $10.7 million of customer
relationships acquired in connection with the Catyoft Drinks Acquisition. In 2011, we recordedaaset impairment charge of $1.4
million related primarily to customer relationshige did not record impairment charges for othéarigible assets in 2013 or 2012.

I mpairment of long-lived assets

When adverse events occur, we compare the carayiryunt of long-lived assets to the estimated uodisted future cash flows at the
lowest level of independent cash flows for the grofilong-lived assets and recognize any impairneesg based on discounted cash flows in
the Consolidated Statements of Operations, takitgydonsideration the timing of testing and theeissemaining useful life. The expected
life and value of these long-lived assets is basedn evaluation of the competitive environmergtdrly and future prospects as appropriate.
In 2011, we recorded an impairment of long-livedets of $0.6 million related to a production plemiexico that ceased operations. We did
not record impairments of long-lived assets in 260.3012.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, ddtexthon the first-in, first-out method, or net izable value. Finished goods and work-
in-process include the cost of raw materials, dilgwor and manufacturing overhead costs. As dtrese use an inventory reserve to adjust
our costs down to a net realizable value and tervesfor estimated obsolescence of both raw anshid goods.
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I ncome taxes

We are subject to income taxes in Canada as wéall msmerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant grdents and estimates are required
in determining the income tax expense in thessdiciions. Our income tax expense, deferred tagtasmd liabilities and reserves for
unrecognized tax benefits reflect management’s dmstssment of estimated future taxes to be pd#ijurisdictions in which we operate.

Our income tax expense includes the results ofgdbeganization of our legal entity structure anfihencing of intercompany debt
during 2013. The reorganization of our legal ergttyicture and refinancing of intercompany debusdheesult in long term reduction of
Cott’s effective tax rate versus statutory rateswklver, since the calculation of our tax liabiktievolves dealing with uncertainties in the
application of complex tax laws and regulationa imultitude of jurisdictions across our global @girems, our effective tax rate may
ultimately be different than the amount we are ety reporting.

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary diffeesrbetween the tax and financial statement rettiogrif revenue and expense. In
evaluating our ability to recover our deferred émsets within the jurisdiction from which they arige consider all available positive and
negative evidence, including scheduled reversattefdrred tax liabilities, projected future taxalsleome, tax planning strategies and recent
financial operations. In projecting future taxaisleome, we begin with historical results adjustedthe results of discontinued operations
changes in accounting policies and incorporateragsians including the amount of future Canadian famdign pre-tax operating income, the
reversal of temporary differences, and the impleatén of feasible and prudent tax planning stri@ggrhese assumptions require signifi
judgment about the forecasts of future taxablermeand are consistent with the plans and estimageme using to manage the underly
businesses.

Changes in tax laws and rates could also affecrded deferred tax assets and liabilities in thereu Management is not aware of any
such changes that would have a material effectuomesults of operations, cash flows or financi@gifon.

The calculation of our tax liabilities involves dieg with uncertainties in the application of corpltax laws and regulations in a
multitude of jurisdictions across our global ope&nas.

Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Acating Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 740, tiome Taxes” (“ASC 740")
provides that a tax benefit from an uncertain tagifoon may be recognized when it is more likelgrtmot that the position will be sustained
upon examination, including resolutions of any tedaappeals or litigation processes, based orettitmical merits. ASC 740 also provides
guidance on measurement, derecognition, classditanterest and penalties, accounting in intgpemniods, disclosure and transition.

We recognize tax liabilities in accordance with ABD and we adjust these liabilities when our judgihthanges as a result of the
evaluation of new information not previously avhli& Due to the complexity of some of these unastitss, the ultimate resolution may re:
in a payment that is materially different from @urrrent estimate of the tax liabilities. Theseealiénces will be reflected as increases or
decreases to income tax expense in the period ichvthey are determined.

Pension costs

We account for our pension plans in accordance A8 No. 715-20, “Compensation—Defined Benefit BlarGeneral” (*“ASC 715-
20"). The funded status is the difference betwéerfair value of plan assets and the benefit otitigaThe adjustment to accumulated other
comprehensive income represents the net unrecabactsarial gains or losses and unrecognized peprice costs. Future actuarial gains or
losses that are not recognized as net periodicfiteenest in the same periods will be recognized asmponent of other comprehensive
income.

We maintain three defined-benefit plans that ca@eztain employees in the United Kingdom and centéiirer employees under a
collective bargaining agreement at one plant inth#¢ed States. We record annual amounts relatingdse plans based on calculations
specified by GAAP, which include various actuadasumptions such as discount rates (4.4% to 4.B8ogssumed rates of return (6.1% to
7.0%) depending on the pension plan. Material charmg pension costs may occur in the future dughémges in these assumptions. Future
annual amounts could be impacted by changes idisigeunt rate, changes in the expected long-tetenafareturn, changes in the level of
contributions to the plans and other factors.
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The discount rate for the U.S. Plan is based oma@ehportfolio of AA rated bonds with a maturity tolaed to the estimated payouts of
future pension benefits for this type of plan. Higcount rate of the U.K. Plans for 2012 and 20&tewbased on a model portfolio of AA
rated bonds, using the redemption yields on thatdaent stocks of the Merrill Lynch index with atarity matched to the estimated future
pension benefits. The discount rate of the U.Kn®lfar 2013 is based on the Annualized yield ofAba Hewitt GBP Select AA Curve. The
expected return on plan assets is based on ouctakioe of the long-term rates of return on eadetslass based on the current asset mix of
the funds, considering the historical returns eduore the type of assets in the funds, plus an gasomof future inflation. The current
investment policy target asset allocation diffeesA®en our three plans, but it is between 50.080t0% for equities and 20.0% to 50.0% for
bonds. The current inflation assumption is 2.3%.ré&léew our actuarial assumptions on an annuaklzsl make modifications to the
assumptions based on current rates and trends agpgopriate. The effects of the modifications ar®dized over future periods.

Non-GAAP Measures

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we supplemantm@porting of financial measures determined icoadance with GAAP by
utilizing certain non-GAAP financial measures. Welade the impact of foreign exchange to sepataémpact of currency exchange rate
changes from our results of operations, and, inesoases, by excluding the impact of the Calypst Bidfiks Acquisition or the Cliffstar
Acquisition, as the case may be. We exclude thesgsito better understand trends in the businesthaenmpact of the Calypso Soft Drinks
Acquisition or the Cliffstar Acquisition, as thesgamay be.

We also utilize earnings before interest expersed, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”), whiis GAAP earnings before
interest expense, provision for income taxes, degtien and amortization. We consider EBITDA todreindicator of operating performan:
We also use EBITDA, as do analysts, lenders, imvesind others, because it excludes certain ithaiscan vary widely across different
industries or among companies within the same iingushese differences can result in considerabhéability in the relative costs of
productive assets and the depreciation and amtistiizexpense among companies. We also utilize s&jusBITDA, which is EBITDA
adjusted for inventory step-up (step-down), actjoisicosts, and integration costs related to thgpgsa Soft Drinks Acquisition or the
Cliffstar Acquisition, as the case may be (“AdjusEBITDA”). We consider Adjusted EBITDA to be ardioator of our operating
performance. Adjusted EBITDA excludes certain itamaake more meaningful period-over-period conguars of our ongoing core
operations before material charges.

We also utilize adjusted net income, which is GAgdPnings (loss) excluding purchase accounting &dprsts, integration expenses,
restructuring expenses and asset impairments, lhasvadjusted earnings per diluted share, whi@ujasted net income divided by diluted
weighted average outstanding shares. We considse tmeasures to be indicators of our operatingeance. These measures exclude
certain items to make period-over-period compassafrour ongoing core operations before materiatgés.

Additionally, we supplement our reporting of neslegrovided by operating activities determineddoadance with GAAP by
excluding capital expenditures to present free ¢lasty which management believes provides usefidrination to investors about the amc
of cash generated by the business that, afterciipgisition of property and equipment, can be usedtrategic opportunities, including
investing in our business, making strategic actjaiss, paying dividends, and strengthening therizdasheet.

Because we use these adjusted financial resulteeimanagement of our business and to understatetlyimg business performance,
we believe this supplemental information is uséduhvestors for their independent evaluation andaustanding of our business performance
and the performance of our management. The@AAP financial measures described above are intiaddio, and not meant to be conside
superior to, or a substitute for, our financiatestaents prepared in accordance with GAAP. In aalditihe non-GAAP financial measures
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K reflear judgment of particular items, and may be défe from, and therefore may not be
comparable to, similarly titled measures reportgadther companies.
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The following table summarizes our Consolidatedestents of Operations as a percentage of revem291@3, 2012 and 2011:

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentage anumts)
Revenue

Cost of sale:

Gross profit

Selling, general, and administrative exper
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipn
Restructuring

Asset impairment

Intangible asset impairmer

Operating incom:

Contingent consideration ei-out adjustmen
Other expense (income), r

Interest expense, n

Income before income tax
Income tax expense (bene!

Net income

Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest:

Net income attributed to Cott Corporati
Depreciation & amortizatio

2013 2012 2011
Percent Percent Percent
of of of
Revenu¢ Revenu¢ Revenue
$2,094.( 100.C%  2,250.¢ 100.(% 2,334.¢ 100.(%
1,842.( 88.(%  1,961. 87.1% 2,058.( 88.2%
252.C 12.(% 289.F 12.9% 276.€ 11.&8%
160.2 7.7% 178.( 7.% 172.7 7.4%
1.C — % 1.8 0.1% 1.2 0.1%
2.C 0.1% — — % — — %
— — % — — % 0.€ — %
— — % — — % 1.4 0.1%
88.€ 4.2% 109.7 4.%% 100.7 4.2%
— — % 0.€ — % 0.¢ — %
12.¢ 0.6% (2.0 (0.1)% 2.2 0.1%
51.€ 2.5% 54.2 2.4% 57.1 2.4%
24.2 1.2% 56.€ 2.5% 40.5 1.7%
2.2 0.1% 4.€ 0.2% (0.7) — %
22.C 1.1% 52.: 2.2% 41.2 1.8%
5.C 0.2% 4.5 0.2% 3.€ 0.2%
$ 17.c 0.8% 47.¢ 2.1% 37.€ 1.6%
$ 100.¢ 4.8% 97.7 4.3% 95.¢ 4.1%
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The following table summarizes our revenue and apeg income by reporting segment for 2013, 2012 201 1 (for purposes of the
table below, our corporate oversight function (“@anate”) is not treated as a segment; it includetamn general and administrative costs that
are not allocated to any of the reporting segments)

(in millions of U.S. Dollars] 2013 2012 2011
Revenus

North America $1,535.: $1,707.. $1,809.
United Kingdom 494 473.2 447 ¢
All Other 64.5 70.C 77 .2
Total $2,094.( $2,250.¢ $2,334.¢
Operating income (los:

North America $ 67 $ 904 $ 81.:c
United Kingdom 25.€ 27.1 27.t
All Other 7.2 4.3 2.8
Corporate (11.7) (12.7) (10.9)
Total $ 88.€ $ 109.7 $ 100.7

The following table summarizes our beverage casenwe by reporting segment for 2013, 2012 and 2011:

(in millions of cases 2013 2012 2011
Volume 8 oz. equivalent cas- Total Beverage (including concentra

North America 660.4 739.2 808.7
United Kingdom 208.1 204.1 209.(
All Other 274.1 303.¢ 296.F
Total 1,143.; 1,247.: 1,314.:
Volume 8 oz. equivalent cas— Filled Beverage

North America 580.¢ 651.5 727.€
United Kingdom 193.¢ 189.t 194.%
All Other 18.€ 26.C 37.2
Total 792.¢ 867.( 959.t

Revenues and volumes are attributed to reportigmeats based on the location of the customer.
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The following tables summarize revenue and bevecage volume by product for 2013, 2012 and 2011:

(in millions of U.S. dollars’
Revenu

Carbonated soft drink
Juice

Concentratt

All other products
Total

(in millions of cases

Volume 8 oz. equivalent cas- Total Beverage (including concentra

Carbonated soft drink
Juice

Concentratt

All other products

Total

(in millions of U.S. dollars’
Revenu

Carbonated soft drink
Juice

Concentratt

All other products
Total

(in millions of cases

Volume 8 oz. equivalent cas- Total Beverage (including concentra

Carbonated soft drink
Juice

Concentratt

All other products

Total
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For the Year Ended December 28, 201
North United
America Kingdom All Other Total

$ 586 $159.f5 $ 108 $ 756.¢

488.¢ 31.¢ 2.6 523.1
12.C 2.2 27.C 41.2
448.: 300.¢ 23.¢ 772.€

$1,535.0 $494° $ 645  $2,094.(

For the Year Ended December 28, 201

North United
America Kingdom All Other Total
263.¢ 81.1 7.2 352.1
114.: 7.1 0.€ 122.(
79.¢ 15.1 255.F 350.¢
202.5 105.4 10.€ 318.
660.4 208.7 274.] 1,143.C

For the Year Ended December 29, 201

North United

America Kingdom All Other Total

$ 698.C $160¢ $ 21.¢ $ 880.¢
527.2 14.C 2.7 543.¢
12.2 2.2 29.1 43.€
469.¢ 296.] 16.3 782.%

$1,707..  $473.2 $ 70.C $2,250.¢

For the Year Ended December 29, 201

North United
America Kingdom All Other Total
306.t 83.t 15.t 405.5
119t 3.7 1.1 124.:
87.7 14.¢ 277.¢ 380.1
225.f 102.3 9.4 337.2
739.2 204.] 303.¢ 1,247..
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For the Year Ended December 31, 201

North United
(in millions of U.S. dollars’ America Kingdom All Other Total
Revenus
Carbonated soft drink $ 731« $179.2 $ 39.6 $ 950.2
Juice 587.7 12.2 2.7 602.%
Concentratt 9.1 2.8 25.¢ 37.t
All other products 481.1 253.¢ 9.5 744.2
Total $1,809.0 $447.¢ $ 77.4 $2,334.¢
For the Year Ended December 31, 201
North United
(in millions of cases America Kingdom All Other Total
Volume 8 oz. equivalent cas- Total Beverage (including concentra
Carbonated soft drink 349.¢ 97.€ 26.7 474.2
Juice 134.¢ 3.5 2.C 139.¢
Concentratt 81.1 14.C 259.¢ 354.t
All other products 243.C 93.¢ 8.4 345.¢
Total 808.7 209.( 296.5 1,314.:

Results of Operations

The following table summarizes the change in reedmureporting segment for 2013:

For the Year Ended December 28, 201

North United
(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentage anumts) Cott America Kingdom All Other
Change in revenue $(156.6) $(172.2) $ 211 $ (5.5
Impact of foreign exchang! 10.¢ 5.3 6.4 (0.9
Change excluding foreign exchar $(145.9) $(166.9) $ 27t $ (6.9
Percentage change in revet (7.0% (10.1% 4.5% (7.9%
Percentage change in revenue excluding foreignaagz (6.5% (9.8% 5.8% (9.1)%
1. Impact of foreign exchange is the differenceMeen the current year’'s revenue translated utditire current year’s average foreign

exchange rates less the current’s revenue translated utilizing the prior y's average foreign exchange ra
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The following table summarizes the change in reedmureporting segment for 2012:

For the Year Ended December 29, 201

North United
(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentage anumts) Cott America Kingdom All Other
Change in revenue $(84.0) $(101.9) $ 25: $ (7.9
Impact of foreign exchanc? 14.4 4.7 6.C 3.7
Change excluding foreign exchar $(69.6) $ (97.9) $ 312 $ (3.9
Percentage change in revet (3.6% (5.0% 5.€% (9.6)%
Percentage change in revenue excluding foreignasgz (3.0% (5.9% 7.C% (4.8%
1. Impact of foreign exchange is the differenceMeen the current year’'s revenue translated utditire current year’s average foreign

exchange rates less the current’s revenue translated utilizing the prior y's average foreign exchange ra
The following table summarizes the change in reedmureporting segment for 2011:

For the Year Ended December 31, 201

North United

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentage anumts) Cott America Kingdom All Other
Change in revenue $ 531.: $ 452.( $ 80.¢ $ (1.5
Impact of foreign exchang! 24.1 (7.9 (15.9 (1.2
Change excluding foreign exchar $ 507.2 $444. $ 65.4 $ (2.9
Percentage change in revet 29.5% 33.2% 22.(% (1.9%
Percentage change in revenue excluding foreignasgs 28.1% 32.1% 17.€% (3.9%
Impact of Cliffstar Acquisitior (385.6) (385.6 — —
Change excluding foreign exchange and CliffstarAsitjon $121.¢ $ 58.C $ 65.4 $ (2.9
Percentage change in revenue excluding foreignasgsand

Cliffstar Acquisition 6.7% 4.2% 17.€% (3.9%

1. Impact of foreign exchange is the differenceveen the current year’s revenue translated utditive current year's average foreign

exchange rates less the current’s revenue translated utilizing the prior y's average foreign exchange ra
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The following table summarizes our EBITDA and Adpgs EBITDA for the three and twelve months endedddeber 28, 2013 and
December 29, 2012, respectively.

For the Three Months Ended For the Year Ended
December 2¢ December 2¢ December 2¢ December 2¢
2013 2012 2013 2012
Net (loss) income attributed to Cott Corporation $ (11.5) $ 2.3 $ 17.C $ 47.¢
Interest expense, n 12.2 13.€ 51.€ 54.2
Income tax (benefit) expen (0.2 (0.9 2.2 4.€
Depreciation & amortizatio 26.1 25.F 100.¢ 97.7
Net income attributable to n-controlling interest: 1.1 1.1 5.C 4.5
EBITDA $ 27.¢ $ 41.¢ $ 176.¢ $ 208.¢
Restructuring — — 2.C —
Tax reorganization and regulatory cc 0.€ — 1.4 —
Bond redemption cos 12.7 — 12.7 —
Acquisition adjustment
Earnout adjustmer 0. — 0.€
Integration and acquisition cos 1.1 0.2 4.1 3.5
Adjusted EBITDA $ 42.5 $ 42.5 $ 196.¢ $ 212.¢

The following table summarizes our adjusted nebine and adjusted earnings per share for the tmeérgelve months ended
December 28, 2013 and December 29, 2012, resplctive

For the Three Months Ended For the Year Ended
December 2¢ December 2¢ December 2¢ December 2¢
2013 2012 2013 2012
Net (loss) income attributed to Coti
Corporation $ (11.5) $ 2.3 $ 17.C $ 47.¢
Restructuring, net of ta (0.7 — 1.8 —
Tax reorganization and regulatory costs, net o 0.¢ — 1.4 —
Bond redemption costs, net of t 12.7 — 12.7% —
Acquisition adjustments, net of ti
Earnout adjustmer — 0.€ — 0.€
Integration and acquisition cos 0.€ 0.2 3.4 3.2
Adjusted net income attributed to Cott
Corporation $ 2.8 $ 3.2 $ 36.2 $ 51.¢C
Adjusted net income per common share
attributed to Cott Corporation
Basic $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.3¢ $ 0.5¢
Diluted $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.3¢ $ 0.5t
Weighted average outstanding shares (million:
attributed to Cott Corporation
Basic 94.2 94.¢ 94.¢ 94.€
Diluted 94.¢ 95.2 95.€ 94.¢
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The following unaudited financial information fdre three months and year ended December 28, 2ff&sents the activity of Calypso
Soft Drinks from and after June 2013, the monttvirich we acquired Calypso Soft Drinks and combitedperations with those of our

United Kingdom business.

For the Three For the Year
Months Endec Ended
December 2¢
December 28
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2013 2013
Revenue
United Kingdom $ 126.] $ 494:
Less: Calypso Soft Drink (10.9 (30.7)
United Kingdom excluding Calypso Soft Drin $ 115.: $ 463.¢

The following table summarizes our free cash flowthe three months and year ended December 28,&td December 29, 2012,
respectively.

For the Three Months Ended

December 2€ December 2¢

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ 2013 2012
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 92.2 $ 120.(
Less: Capital expenditur (10.9) (19.7)
Free Cash Flow $ 81.4 $ 100

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 2¢

2013 2012
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 155. $ 173«
Less: Capital expenditur (55.6) (69.7)
Free Cash Flow $ 99.€ $ 103

2013 versus 2012

Revenue decreased $156.6 million, or 7.0%, in Z848 2012. Excluding the impact of foreign exchangeenue decreased 6.5% due
primarily to the general market decline in the Ko&imerican carbonated soft drink (“CSD”) categ@glonged aggressive promotional
activity from the national brands in North Amergsawell as the exiting of case pack water.

2012 versus 2011

Revenue decreased $84.0 million, or 3.6%, in 2642 2011. Excluding the impact of foreign exchangeenue decreased 3.0% due
primarily to lower beverage case volumes and aywbohix shift into juice drinks and sports drinkerh 100% shelf-stable juice in North

America.
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Revenue Results for Reporting Segments
2013 versus 2012

North America revenue decreased $172.2 millior,1%, in 2013 from 2012. Excluding the impactareign exchange, revenue
decreased 9.8%, due primarily to the general mal&eline in the North American CSD category, prged aggressive promotional activity
from the national brands in North America as wsltlae exiting of case pack water. Net selling ppeebeverage case (which is net revenue
divided by filled beverage case volume) increas&&din 2013 from 2012.

U.K. revenue increased $21.1 million, or 4.5%, @12 from 2012, due primarily to the Calypso SofinRs Acquisition and an increase
in net selling price per beverage case. Net sefinge per beverage case increased 2.3% in 2028201 2. Excluding the impact of foreign
exchange, U.K. revenue increased 5.8% in 2013 #0f2.

All Other revenue decreased $5.5 million, or 7.892013 from 2012, due primarily to the exitinglo# gross margin business,
partially offset by increased higher margin contraenufacturing and export customers. Net sellingepper beverage case increased 28.2%
in 2013 from 2012. Excluding the impact of foreigxchange, revenue decreased 9.1% in 2013 from 2012.

2012 versus 2011

North America revenue decreased $101.9 milliors.6%0, in 2012 from 2011. Excluding the impact akign exchange, revenue
decreased 5.4%, due primarily to our exit fromaiartow gross margin business, a general declitlearNorth American CSD and juice
categories and a product mix shift into juice dsirsiad sports drinks from 100% shelf-stable juicet $¢lling price per beverage case (which
is net revenue divided by beverage case volumeg¢ased 3.2% in 2012 from 2011 due primarily torammgéase in average price per case
product mix shift.

U.K. revenue increased $25.3 million, or 5.6%, @12 from 2011, due primarily to an increase in agerprice per case and favorable
product mix. Net selling price per beverage casecimsed 8.2% in 2012 from 2011 due primarily ton@nease in average price per case and
favorable product mix. Excluding the impact of figreexchange, U.K. revenue increased 7.0% in 2642 011.

All Other revenue decreased $7.4 million, or 9.6%2012 from 2011, due primarily to the noeanewal of a regional brand license at
end of its term slightly offset by higher volumesri a new customer in South America and the tinsihghipments to customers in Asia. Net
selling price per beverage case increased 12.726182 from 2011 due primarily to favorable produdx.niExcluding the impact of foreign
exchange, All Other revenue decreased 4.8% in f0h2 2011.

Cost of Sales
2013 versus 2012

Cost of sales represented 88.0% of revenue in 20dared to 87.1% in 2012. The increase in cosalefs as a percentage of revenue
was due primarily to unfavorable fixed cost absorpassociated with lower global volumes.

2012 versus 2011

Cost of sales represented 87.1% of revenue in 20dtared to 88.2% in 2011. The decrease in castles as a percentage of revenue
was due primarily to an increase in average prezecpse and favorable product mix. Major elemehteese variable costs included
ingredient and packaging costs, distribution casts$ fees paid to third-party manufacturers.

Gross Profit
2013 versus 2012

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue decreasEtl@% in 2013 from 12.9% in 2012, due primardlydwer global volumes which
resulted in unfavorable fixed cost absorption.
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2012 versus 2011

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue increas&d.9% in 2012 from 11.8% in 2011, due primariyah increase in average price per
case and the exit from certain low gross marginrnass, as well as operating efficiencies in Northekica.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
2013 versus 2012

SG&A in 2013 decreased $17.6 million, or 9.9%, frd@12. The decrease in SG&A was due primarily teeloemployee-related costs,
reduced information technology costs, and a redndti professional fees and similar costs. As agretage of revenue, SG&A was 7.7% in
2013 and 7.9% in 2012.

2012 versus 2011

SG&A in 2012 increased $5.3 million, or 3.1%, fr@®11. The increase in SG&A was due primarily taramease in certain employee-
related costs in 2012 compared to lowering of tieual incentive and long-term incentive accrual2dal, partially offset by lower
information technology expenses in the current yAara percentage of revenue, SG&A was 7.9% in 20027.4% in 2011.

Restructuring and Asset Impairments
2013 versus 2012

During June 2013, we implemented a restructuriag filhe “2013 Restructuring Plan”), which consigteicharily of headcount
reductions. For the year ended December 28, 2@Xyrinection with the 2013 Restructuring Plan, meiired charges of approximately $2.0
million related primarily to employee redundancyitso We did not record any restructuring or impaintrcharges in 2012.

2012 versus 2011

We did not record any restructuring or impairmemarges in 2012. In 2011, we recorded an intangibset impairment of $1.4 million
related to a customer list that was impaired dubédoss of a customer. Also in 2011, we reco&0.6 million impairment of long-lived
assets related to a production plant in Mexico tealsed operations.

Operating Income
2013 versus 2012

Operating income in 2013 was $88.6 million compacedperating income of $109.7 million in 2012. @k operating income
decreased by $21.1 million, or 19.2 %, as a regutiwer gross profit as a percentage of revenugalig offset by lower SG&A.

2012 versus 2011

Operating income in 2012 was $109.7 million comgareoperating income of $100.7 million in 2011.60adl, operating income
increased by $9.0 million, or 8.9%, as a resulirofncrease in average price per case, the erit éertain low gross margin business,
favorable product mix, and operational efficiendre®orth America, partially offset by an increaseSG&A.

Other Expense (Income), Net
2013 versus 2012

Other expense was $12.8 million in 2013 comparegttier income of $2.0 million in 2012. In 2013, imeurred approximately $12.7
million in costs related to the redemption of $20Million aggregate principal amount of our 201 7é¢o as well as other foreign exchange
losses of approximately $0.1 million. In 2012, atlreome was $2.0 million, which consisted of $tiflion of insurance recoveries in exci
of the loss incurred on a U.S. facility and a bargaurchase gain of $0.9 million in the U.K., off&y $0.8 million of foreign exchange losses
related primarily to intercompany loans.
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2012 versus 2011

Other income was $2.0 million in 2012 comparedtt®oexpense of $2.2 million in 2011. In 2012, wearded $1.9 million of
insurance recoveries in excess of the loss incumea U.S. facility and a bargain purchase gai®® million in the United Kingdom, offset
by $0.8 million of foreign exchange losses primarélated to intercompany loans. In 2011, we reedr#2.2 million of foreign exchange
losses related primarily to intercompany loans.

Interest Expense, Net
2013 versus 2012

Net interest expense in 2013 decreased 4.8% frd @d0e primarily to the redemption of $200.0 milliof our 2017 Notes as well as
an amendment to our ABL facility to more favoratdems.

2012 versus 2011

Net interest expense in 2012 decreased 5.1% frdrh @0e primarily to lower average debt balanced tiebughout 2012 and lower
ABL fees in 2012 compared to 2011.

Income Taxes
2013 versus 2012

In 2013, we recorded income tax expense of $2.Romitompared to an income tax expense of $4.6aniih 2012. The difference wi
due primarily to a reduction in pre-tax income dgr2013.

2012 versus 2011

In 2012, we recorded income tax expense of $4.Bomitompared to a tax benefit of $0.7 million iB14. The difference was due
primarily to the recording of allowances againdeded tax assets in the United States that arertain to be realized as well as a reduction
to the loss generated in the United Kingdom.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summarizes our cash flows fot2, 2012 and 2011 as reported in our Consolidatattments of Cash Flows in 1
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements:

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 2¢ December 31
(in millions of U.S. dollars’ 2013 2012 2011
Net cash provided by operating activit $  155.C $ 173« $ 163t
Net cash used in investing activiti (71.9 (80.9 (90.2)
Net cash used in financing activiti (213.9) (16.2) (20.9)
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ (2.9) 2.1 0.9
Net (decrease) increase in cash & cash equive (132.2) 78.5 52.i
Cash & cash equivalents, beginning of pel 179.¢ 100.¢ 48.2
Cash & cash equivalents, end of per $ 47.2 $ 179.4 $ 100.¢

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities in 2013 w5552 million compared to $173.0 million in 20120&8163.5 million in 2011. The
$17.8 million decrease in 2013 compared to 2012duasprimarily to lower net income, tax adjustmergseipt of a deposit and reduced
inventory balances excluding the Calypso Soft DsiAkquisition.

The $9.5 million increase in 2012 compared to 2804% due primarily to higher net income, deferretbine taxes, and income taxes
recoverable, offset by a smaller amount of caskigeal by changes in working capital in 2012 comgace2011.
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Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was $71.9 millio2013 compared to $80.4 million in 2012 and $94illion in 2011. The $8.5
million decrease in 2013 compared to 2012 was dieapily to using less cash for equipment purchagadially offset by an increase in
acquisition activity.

The $9.8 million decrease in 2012 compared to 2@44 due primarily to using less cash for acquisgtioffset in part by larger
expenditures for property, plant and equipmenteel#o our ongoing vertical integration.

Financing Activities

Cash used in financing activities was $213.3 millio 2013 compared to $16.2 million in 2012 and.$24illion in 2011. The increase
in financing occurred as a result of our redemptib$200.0 million aggregate principal amount of 8017 Notes, a full year of dividend
payments, increased share repurchase activitypayments of long term debt associated with the [iza\Soft Drinks Acquisition, partially
offset by an increase in outstanding borrowingsenrmair ABL during the period.

During 2012, we made payments of $3.3 million onlong-term debt, $5.8 million for dividends and &nillion for financing fees. In
2011, we made payments of $6.8 million on our legrga debt and $7.8 million, net under our ABL figil

Financial Liquidity

As of December 28, 2013, we had $458.3 millionethtcand $47.2 million of cash and cash equivaleotspared to $605.8 million of
debt and $179.4 million of cash and cash equivalastof December 29, 2012.

We believe that our level of resources, which ideksicash on hand, available borrowings under thie faBility and funds provided by
operations, will be adequate to meet our expemsgital expenditures, and debt service obligationshe next twelve months. Our ability to
generate cash to meet our current expenses andelelite obligations will depend on our future periance. If we do not have enough cash
to pay our debt service obligations, or if the ABicility or 2018 Notes were to become currently,ceither at maturity or as a result of a
breach, we may be required to take actions suamanding our ABL facility or the indentures goveiguiour 2018 Notes, refinancing all or
part of our existing debt, selling assets, incgr@additional indebtedness or raising equity. Ifveed to seek additional financing, there is no
assurance that this additional financing will baikable on favorable terms or at all.

Should we desire to consummate significant acgoisiipportunities or undertake significant expansetivities, our capital needs
would increase and could result in our need toegase available borrowings under our ABL facilityagcess public or private debt and equity
markets.

As of December 28, 2013, our total availability anthe ABL facility was $238.3 million, which wassed on our borrowing base
(accounts receivables, inventory, and fixed asséte)had $50.8 million of outstanding borrowingslenthe ABL facility and $7.5 million in
outstanding letters of credit. As a result, ouresscavailability under the ABL facility was $180xfllion. Each months borrowing base is n
effective until submitted to the lenders, whichalbuoccurs on the fifteenth day of the followingnih.

We earn approximately 100% of our consolidated &y income in subsidiaries located outside ofddian All of these foreign
earnings are considered to be indefinitely reireedt foreign jurisdictions where we have made, witidcontinue to make, substantial
investments to support the ongoing developmentgaodth of our international operations. Accordingtp Canadian income taxes have
provided on these foreign earnings. Cash and agasivaents held by our foreign subsidiaries arelilgaonvertible into other foreign
currencies, including Canadian dollars. We do ntrid, nor do we foresee a need, to repatriate tioesls.

We expect existing domestic cash, cash equivaleash flows from operations and the issuance ofedtimdebt to continue to be
sufficient to fund our domestic operating, invegtand financing activities. In addition, we expexisting foreign cash, cash equivalents, and
cash flows from operations to continue to be sigfitto fund our foreign operating and investing\diies.

In the future, should we require more capital toadigignificant discretionary activities in Canablart is generated by our domestic
operations and is available through the issuanc®ofestic debt or stock, we could elect to reptifiature
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periods’ earnings from foreign jurisdictions. Thigernative could result in a higher effective tate during the period of repatriation. While
the likelihood is remote, we could also elect oateiate earnings from foreign jurisdictions thavé previously been considered to be
indefinitely reinvested. Upon distribution of thosarnings in the form of dividends or otherwise,megy be subject to additional Canadian
income taxes and withholding taxes payable to warforeign jurisdictions, where applicable. Thigalative could result in a higher effect
tax rate in the period in which such a determimattomade to repatriate prior period foreign eagain

In 2013, a dividend of C$0.06 per common sharedeatared each quarter for an aggregate dividenthpayof approximately $21.9
million. During 2013, we repurchased 1,245,027 camrshares for approximately $10.0 million througlem market transactions.

On November 15, 2013, we redeemed $200.0 milligregate principal amount of our 2017 Notes at 1TBP4 of par. The redemption
included approximately $8.2 million in premium pagmbs as well as approximately $4.5 million in deddrfinancing fees, discount charges
and other bond redemption costs.

On February 19, 2014, we redeemed all $15.0 millioaggregate principal amount of the remainingtautding 2017 Notes at
104.118% of par. The redemption included approxétye®0.6 million in premium payments as well asragpnately $0.3 million in deferred
financing fees and discount charges.

We may, from time to time, depending on market déiorts, including without limitation whether the P® Notes are then trading at a
discount to their face amount, repurchase the 2018s for cash and/or in exchange for shares oEoommon stock, warrants, preferred
stock, debt or other consideration, in each casgpén market purchases and/or privately negotiaéedactions. The amounts involved in any
such transactions, individually or in aggregatey ftn@ material. However, the covenants in our ABtilfy subject such purchases to certain
limitations and conditions.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements as deafimder Iltem 303(a)(4) of Regulation S-K as of Deber 28, 2013.

Contractual Obligations

The following table shows the schedule of futurgmpants under certain contracts, including debtements and guarantees, as of
December 28, 2013:

Payments due by perioc

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter
8.375% Senior notes due in 2017 $15¢ $ — $— $— $150 $ — $ —
8.125% Senior notes due in 2C 375.( — — — — 375.( —
ABL facility 1 50.¢ 50.¢ — — — — —
GE Term Loar? 10.: 1.¢ 2.C 2.1 2.2 2.C —
Deferred consideratic 5.8 2.3 3.C — — — —
Capital leases and other lc-term debt 7.2 2.C 2.2 1.3 0.€ 0.2 0.6
Interest expens3 148. 33.t 32.4 31.€ 31.: 19.7 0.2
Operating lease 89.2 17.7 16.5 14.C 11.2 9.7 20.1
Guarantee purchase equipm 11.C 11.C — — — — —
Pension obligation 3.1 3.1 — — — — —
Purchase obligatior4 177.¢ 120.¢ 17.€ 13.t 9.€ 9.€ 6.7
Total 5 893.t 243.7 73.7 62.5 70.1 416.2 27.€

1. The ABL facility is considered a current liabylitAs of December 28, 2013, we had $50.8 milliomuatistanding borrowings under the
ABL facility.
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2. In January 2008, we entered into a capital [§as@ce arrangement with General Electric Capi@dp©ration (“GE Capital”) for the
lease of equipment. In September 2013, we purchisegiquipment subject to the lease for an aggeggathase price of $10.7 millic
with the financing for such purchase provided by Gapital at 5.23% interes

3. Interest expense includes fixed interest on MEBANotes, the 2017 Notes, the GE Term Loan, thk faBility, capital leases and other
long-term liabilities. Actual amounts will differ fromsémates providec

4. Purchase obligations consist of commitments fopilnehase of inventory, energy transactions, aytheats related to professional f
and technology outsourcing agreements. These dioligarepresent the minimum contractual obligatiexgected under the normal
course of busines

5. The contractual obligations table excludes then@any’s ASC 740 uncertain tax positions of $10.5 millmtause the Company can
make a reliable estimate as to when such amoulitbensettled

Debt
Our total debt as of December 28, 2013 and Dece@the2012 was as follows:

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ December 28, 201 December 29, 201
8.375% senior notes due in 2017 15.C 215.(
8.125% senior notes due in 2C 375.( 375.(
ABL facility 50.¢ —
GE Term Loar 10.c 9.¢
Capital leases and other debt financ 7.2 5.¢
Total debt 458.: 605.¢
Less: Sho-term borrowings and current de

ABL facility 50.¢ —

Total short-term borrowings 50.¢ —

GE Term Loar- current maturitie: 1.6 0.€

Capital leases and other financing - curren

maturities 2.C 1.C

Total current debt 54.7 1.¢
Long-term debt before discou 403.¢ 603.¢

Less discount on 8.375% no! (0.7) (2.7
Total long-term debt $ 403.t $ 601.¢

1 Our 8.375% senior notes were issued at a discdun#85% on November 13, 20(

Asset-Based Lending Facility

On March 31, 2008, we entered into a credit agre¢méh JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. as Agent thattedkan ABL facility to provid
financing for our North America, U.K. and Mexicoaations. In connection with the Cliffstar Acquiisit, we refinanced the ABL facility on
August 17, 2010 to, among other things, provideHerCliffstar Acquisition, the Note Offering arttetapplication of net proceeds therefrom,
the Equity Offering and the application of net preds therefrom and to increase the amount availebleorrowings to $275.0 million. We
drew down a portion of the indebtedness under tBE facility in order to fund the Cliffstar Acquistin. We incurred $5.4 million of
financing fees in connection with the refinancirighe ABL facility.

On July 19, 2012, we amended the ABL facility tmamg other things, extend the maturity date toeeiftuly 19, 2017 or, if we have t
redeemed, repurchased or refinanced the 2017 Kptekay 1, 2017, May 15, 2017. We incurred $1.2ianllof financing fees in connection
with the amendment of the ABL facility. This amergimhwas considered to be a modification of theioalgagreement under generally
accepted accounting standards.

On October 22, 2013, we amended the ABL facilityatmong other things, (1) provide for an increasthé lenders’ commitments
under the ABL facility to $300 million, as well &mcrease to the accordion feature, which permit®uscrease the lenders’ commitments
under the ABL facility to $350 million, subject éertain conditions, (2) extend the
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maturity date to the earliest of (i) October 22120(ii) May 15, 2017, if we have not redeemedyrepased or refinanced the 2017 Notes by
May 1, 2017, or (iii) March 1, 2018, if we have metleemed, repurchased or refinanced the 2018 WNgtEsbruary 15, 2018, and (3) provide
for greater flexibility under certain covenants. Weurred approximately $0.7 million of financingefs in connection with the amendment of
the ABL facility. This amendment was consideretéoa modification of the original agreement undaragally accepted accounting
standards.

The financing fees incurred in connection with teéftnancing of the ABL facility on August 17, 201&lpng with the financing fees
incurred in connection with the amendment of the A&cility on July 19, 2012 and on October 22, 204@& being amortized using the
straight line method over the duration of the aneehdBL facility.

As of December 28, 2013, we had $50.8 million dstanding borrowings under the ABL facility. Thenmmitment fee was 0.375% per
annum of the unused commitment, which, taking atdoount $7.5 million of letters of credit, was $XBfillion as of December 28, 2013.

The effective interest rate as of December 28, 201 BIBOR and Prime loans is based on average ggtgavailability as follows:

Eurodollar CDOR Overnight
Average Aggregate Availability ABR Canadian
(in millions of U.S. dollars) Spreac Prime Spreac Spread Spreac LIBOR
Over $150 0.25% 0.25% 1.75% 1.75% 1.7%
$75- $150 0.5(% 0.5(% 2.0(% 2.0(% 2.0(%
Under $7& 0.7%% 0.7%% 2.25% 2.2%% 2.2%%

8.125% Senior Notes duein 2018

On August 17, 2010, we issued $375.0 million of@0Ibtes. The issuer of the 2018 Notes is our whollyned U.S. subsidiary Cott
Beverages Inc., and most of our U.S., Canadiarl.akdsubsidiaries guarantee the 2018 Notes. Thezast on the 2018 Notes is payable
semi-annually on March 1st and September 1st df gear.

We incurred $8.6 million of financing fees in cootien with the issuance of the 2018 Notes. Thenfoirag fees are being amortized
using the effective interest method over an eigdgryperiod, which represents the term to matufith® 2018 Notes.

8.375% Senior Notes duein 2017

On November 13, 2009, we issued $215.0 million@f72Notes. The 2017 Notes were issued at a $3libmdiscount. The issuer of
the 2017 Notes is our wholly-owned U.S. subsidiaoft Beverages Inc., and most of our U.S., Canaali@hU.K. subsidiaries guarantee the
2017 Notes. The interest on the 2017 Notes is gaysmi-annually on May 15th and November 15thamheyear.

We incurred $5.1 million of financing fees in cootien with the 2017 Notes. The financing fees amd amortized using the effective
interest method over an eight-year period, whighasents the term to maturity of the 2017 Notes.

On November 15, 2013, we redeemed $200.0 milligregate principal amount of our 2017 Notes at 118PA of par. The redemption
included approximately $8.2 million in premium pagmts as well as approximately $4.5 million in defdrfinancing fees, discount charges
and other bond redemption costs.

On February 19, 2014, we redeemed all $15.0 millioaggregate principal amount of the remainingtautding 2017 Notes at
104.118% of par.

GE Term Loan

In January 2008, we entered into a capital leamentie arrangement with GE Capital for the leassjafpment. In September 2013, we
purchased the equipment subject to the lease faggregate purchase price of $10.7 million, with fihancing for such purchase providec
GE Capital at 5.23% interest.
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Credit Ratings and Covenant Compliance
Credit Ratings

Our objective is to maintain credit ratings thatyide us with ready access to global capital aeditmarkets at favorable interest ra
As of December 28, 2013, the Company’s credit gatinere as follows:

Credit Ratings

Moody’s Rating Standard and Poor's Rating
Corporate credit rating B2 B+
2017 Notes B3 B+
2018 Notes B3 B+
Outlook Stable Watch Developing

Any downgrade of our credit ratings by either Moadyr S&P could increase our future borrowing castgmpair our ability to access
capital markets on terms commercially acceptablestor at all.

Covenant Compliance
8.125% Senior Notes due in 2018

Under the indenture governing the 2018 Notes, wesabject to a number of covenants, including camenthat limit our and certain of
our subsidiariesability, subject to certain exceptions and quadifions, to (i) pay dividends or make distributiorepurchase equity securiti
prepay subordinated debt or make certain invessnéijtincur additional debt or issue certain dialified stock or preferred stock, (iii) cre:
or incur liens on assets securing indebtednegsm@rge or consolidate with another company oralktir substantially all of our assets taken
as a whole, (v) enter into transactions with &fféis and (vi) sell assets. We have been in congdiaith all of the covenants under the 2018
Notes and there have been no amendments to anyxsuehants since the 2018 Notes were iss

8.375% Senior Notes due in 2017

Under the indenture governing the 2017 Notes, wesabject to a number of covenants, including camenthat limit our and certain of
our subsidiariesability, subject to certain exceptions and quadifions, to (i) pay dividends or make distributiorepurchase equity securiti
prepay subordinated debt or make certain invessnéijtincur additional debt or issue certain dialified stock or preferred stock, (iii) cre:
or incur liens on assets securing indebtednegsm@rge or consolidate with another company oradetir substantially all of our assets taken
as a whole, (v) enter into transactions with &fféis and (vi) sell assets. We have been in congdiaith all of the covenants under the 2017
Notes and there have been no amendments to anygsuehants since the 2017 Notes were iss

ABL Facility

Under the credit agreement governing the ABL figilCott and its restricted subsidiaries are suhipa number of business and
financial covenants, including a covenant requidminimum fixed charge coverage ratio of at Ida%tto 1.0 effective when and if excess
availability is less than the greater of 10% of fgmeders’ commitments under the ABL facility or $3@nillion. If excess availability is less
than the greater of 12.5% of the lenders’ commitsiender the ABL facility or $37.5 million, the léers will take dominion over the cash
and will apply excess cash to reduce amounts owulgr the facility. We were in compliance with @flithe applicable covenants under the
ABL facility as of December 28, 2013.

I ssuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Common Share Repurchase Program

On May 1, 2012, our board of directors authorizesirepurchase of up to $35.0 million of our comrabares in the open market or
through privately negotiated transactions over -antihth period through either a 10b5-1 automatiditrg plan or at management’s discretion
in compliance with regulatory requirements, andegimarket, cost and other considerations. Durirgséitond quarter of 2012, we
repurchased 35,272 common shares for approxim$&@es/million
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through open market transactions. On April 30, 2@18 board of directors renewed our share repgepaogram for up to 5% of Cott’s
outstanding common shares over a 12-month periodrencing upon the expiration of the prior shareireipase program on May 21, 2013.
During 2013, we repurchased 1,245,027 common sharegproximately $10.0 million through open mdritansactions. We are unable to
predict the number of shares that ultimately wéllrepurchased under the share repurchase prograne aggregate dollar amount of the
shares actually purchased. We may discontinue paeshat any time, subject to compliance with appleregulatory requirements.

Tax Withholding

In the fourth quarter of 2012, 356,379 shares ofppaviously-issued common stock were withheld frdetivery to our employees to
satisfy their tax obligations related to stock-lwhae/ards. No such withholdings occurred duringfthueth quarter of 2013.

Capital structure

Since December 29, 2012, equity has decreasedh #iillion. The decrease was primarily the restiividend payments of $21.9
million, $10.1 million in common share repurchask&6 million of distributions to non-controllingterests, and $5.1 million of foreign
currency translation losses on the net assetdfe$gstaining foreign operations, partially offsetrist income of $17.0 million, $5.0 million
non-controlling interest income, $4.0 million ofssb-based compensation expense, and $0.7 millipansion benefit plan adjustments.

Dividend payments

No dividend payments were made during 2011. Onlaet81, 2012, the board of directors declared aleind of C$0.06 per share on
common shares, payable in cash on December 20,t@Gtareowners of record at the close of busioed3ecember 4, 2012. The dividend
payment was approximately $5.8 million in the aggte. The board of directors has declared a qhad®idend of C$0.06 per common
share in each quarter during 2013 for an aggretjeigend payment of approximately $21.9 million.tCatends to pay a regular quarterly
dividend on its common shares subject to, amongrdtiings, the best interests of its shareownesit;<results of operations, cash balances
and future cash requirements, financial condit&tatutory regulations and covenants set forth@ABL facility and indentures governing 1
2018 Notes, as well as other factors that the bokditectors may deem relevant from time to time.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK ET RISK
We do not trade market risk sensitive instruments.

Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We are exposed to changes in foreign currency exggheates. Operations outside of the United Sttesunted for 33.7% of 2013
revenue and 34.2% of 2012 revenue, and are coatediprincipally in the United Kingdom, Canada afekico. We translate the revenues
and expenses of our foreign operations using aeezaghange rates prevailing during the period. &ffext of a 10% change in foreign
currency exchange rates among the U.S. dollar seheuCanadian dollar, pound sterling and Mexicssopms of December 28, 2013, at
current levels of foreign debt and operations waeakllt in our revenues in 2013 changing by $70IBom and our gross profit in 2013
changing by $7.1 million. This change would be mateo our cash flows and our results of operagion

Our primary exposure to foreign currency exchamgesrrelates to transactions in which the curreatigcted from customers is
different from the currency utilized to purchase givoduct sold. In 2013, we entered into foreigmency contracts to hedge some of these
currency exposures for which natural hedges dexist. Natural hedges exist when purchases and gatlein a specific country are both
denominated in the same currency and, thereforexposure exists to hedge with foreign exchangedat, option, or swap contracts
(collectively, the “foreign exchange contracts”)e\fo not enter into foreign exchange contracts$réating purposes. The risk of loss on a
foreign exchange contract is the risk of non-peni@nce by the counterparties, which we minimizeitmting our counterparties to major
financial institutions. The fair values of the fiye exchange contracts, which are $0.3 million,em@mated using market quotes. As of
December 28, 2013, we had outstanding foreign exgdnforward contracts with notional amounts of $8&ibion.
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Debt obligations and interest rates

We have exposure to interest rate risk from thetaating principal amounts of our short-term amdjiterm debt. Our lonterm debt it
fixed and our short-term debt is variable. Our Afatility is vulnerable to fluctuations in the U ghort-term base rate and the LIBOR rate.
Since we had $50.8 million of ABL borrowings outsliing as of December 28, 2013, a 100 basis poiné&se in the current per annum
interest rate for our ABL facility (excluding th& $ million of outstanding letters of credit) woulesult in additional interest expense of
approximately $0.5 million. The weighted averageiiest rate of our debt outstanding at Decembe2@83 was 7.4%.

We regularly review the structure of our debt aadsider changes to the proportion of variable \&fisted rate debt through
refinancing, interest rate swaps or other measaressponse to the changing economic environmegtokically, we have not used derivative
instruments to manage interest rate risk. If wearskfail to manage these derivative instrumentsessfully, or if we are unable to refinance
our debt or otherwise increase our debt capacitgsponse to changes in the marketplace, the exessciated with debt service could
increase. This would negatively impact our finahc@ndition and profitability.

The information below summarizes our market risksoaiated with long-term debt obligations as oféeber 28, 2013. The table
presents principal cash flows and related intenass by year. Interest rates disclosed reprekeradtual weighted average rates as of
December 28, 2013.

Debt Obligations

Outstanding debt Weighted averag:
(in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentage anumts) balance interest rate
Debt maturing in:
2014 $ 54.7 2.%
2015 4.2 5.%%
2016 3.t 5.4%
2017 17.¢ 7.%
2018 377.2 8.1%
Thereaftel 0.¢ 10.5%
Total $ 458.%

Commodity Price Risk

The competitive marketplace in which we operate fimai our ability to recover increased costs thghunigher prices. As a result, we
are subject to market risk with respect to comnyoplitce fluctuations principally related to our pbases of aluminum, PET resin, corn for
HFCS, sugar, fruit and fruit concentrates. We marsgmne of our exposure to this risk through theafiseipplier pricing agreements, which
enable us to fix the purchase prices for certamroodities. We estimate that a 10% increase in thket prices of these commodities over
the current market prices would cumulatively inseeaur cost of sales during the next 12 monthpycximately $24.0 million. This chan
would be material to our cash flows and our resofitsperations.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Financial statements and exhibits filed under itikim are listed in the index appearing in Item 1t Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, under the supervisiomihdhe participation of the Company’s Chief Eniee Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, carried out an evaluation of #ftectiveness of the design and operation of the@any’s disclosure controls and
procedures as of December 28, 2013 (the “Evalugti@ased upon the Evaluation, the Company’s Chiefcutive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer concluded that Company’s disclescontrols and procedures (as defined in RulelB}a) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934) are effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for estabfi and maintaining adequate internal controt éwancial reporting as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Mpemaent evaluates the effectiveness of the Compamygmal control over financial
reporting using the criteria set forth by the Coitte& of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadwasn@gssion in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework (1992). Management, undestipervision and with the participation of the Compga Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, assessed the effectivernétshe Company’s internal control over financigporting as of December 28, 2013, and
concluded that it was effective as of December2283.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal cortika@r financial reporting as of December 28, 2048 heen audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company’s independgistered certified public accounting firm, wéiso audited the Company’s
consolidated financial statements included in Ansual Report on Form 10-K, as stated in their reptich appears herein.

Calypso Soft Drinks AcquisitiarAs permitted by Securities and Exchange Commissiaff interpretive guidance for newly acquired
businesses, management has excluded the Calypsessifrom its assessment of internal control éwancial reporting as of December 28,
2013 because it consummated the Calypso Soft DAcksiisition in June 2013. Calypso’s total assets @tal revenues represent 4.0% and
1.5%, respectively, of the Company’s consolidatedrfcial statement amounts as of and for the yede@ December 28, 2013.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control oveairfcial reporting during the quarter ended Decer@BeR013 that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this item regardingediors is incorporated by reference to, and wiltbetained in, the “Election of
Directors” section of our definitive proxy circulfor the 2014 Annual and Special Meeting of Shameens, which will be filed within 120
days after December 28, 2013 (the “2014 Proxy Gir& The information required by this item regagl audit committee financial expert
disclosure is incorporated by reference to, antheilcontained in, the “Corporate Governance” sectif our 2014 Proxy Circular. The
information required by this item regarding execaitdfficers appears as the Supplemental Item ihIP&here have been no material changes
to the procedures by which shareholders may recardmeminees to our board of directors.

The Audit Committee of our board of directors is‘andit committee” for the purposes of Section @&8)(A) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Audit Coremitharter is posted on our website at www.cott.cidme members of the Audit
Committee are Graham Savage (Chairman), GeorgecBuamnd Gregory Monahan. As required by the NYSEsiuthe board has determined
that each member of the Audit Committee is indepeahdinancially literate and that Mr. Savage dfiggdi as an “audit committee financial
expert” within the meaning of the rules of the US&curities and Exchange Commission.

All of our directors, officers and employees mustnply with our Code of Business Conduct and EtHizaddition, our Chief Executi
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and principal acouing officer and certain other employees havertnér obligation to comply with our
Code of Ethics for Senior Officers. Our Code of Bess Conduct and Ethics and our Code of EthicSé&mior Officers are posted on our
website, www.cott.com, and we intend to comply vatiigations to disclose any amendment to, or waidfeprovisions of these codes by
posting such information on our website.

Section 16(a) Beneficial ownership reporting compdince

The information required by this item is incorpadby reference to, and will be contained in, tBection 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance” section of our 2014 ProxycGiar.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorpecby reference to, and will be contained in, @erhpensation of Executive Officers”
section of our 2014 Proxy Circular.

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
SHAREOWNER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorpaaby reference to, and will be contained in, tRgricipal Shareowners,” “Security
Ownership of Directors and Management” and “Eq@impensation Plan Information” sections of our 2Btdxy Circular.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorpeby reference to, and will be contained in, tBertain Relationships and Related
Transactions” section of our 2014 Proxy Circular.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorpeaby reference to, and will be contained in, tmel&épendent Certified Public
Accountants” section of our 2014 Proxy Circular
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The documents filed as part of this reportaaréollows:

1. Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements and accompgmgport of independent certified public accoutsaare listed in the
Index to Consolidated Financial Statements andilactas part of this report.

2. Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule ll—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

3. Exhibits
Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K fegth on the “Exhibit Index.”

All other schedules called for by the applicableCst€counting regulations are not required undereteged instructions or are
inapplicable and, therefore, have been omitted.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regjigthas duly caused this report to

be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized.

Cott Corporatior

/S|  JERRY FOWDEN
Jerry Fowden

Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 24, 201¢

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated:

/SIJERRY FOWDEN

Jerry Fowden
Chief Executive Officer, Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: February 24, 2014

IS/ JAY WELLS

Jay Wells
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
Date: February 24, 2014

IS/ GREGORY LEITER

Gregory Leiter
Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and
Assistant Secretary
(Principal Accounting Officer)
Date: February 24, 201¢

/SI DAVID T. GIBBONS

David T. Gibbons
Chairman, Director
Date: February 24, 201¢

/SI MARK BENADIBA

Mark Benadiba
Director
Date: February 24, 201¢

/S/ STEPHEN H. HALPERIN

Stephen H. Halperin
Director
Date: February 24, 201¢

/S/ BETTY JANE HESS

Betty Jane Hess
Director
Date: February 24, 2014

IS/ GREGORY MONAHAN
Gregory Monahan
Director
Date: February 24, 2014

/SI MARIO PILOZZI
Mario Pilozzi
Director
Date: February 24, 2014

/S| GEORGE A. BURNETT
George A. Burnett
Director
Date: February 24, 2014

/S ANDREW PROZES
Andrew Prozes
Director
Date: February 24, 201¢

/SI  GRAHAM SAVAGE
Graham Savage
Director
Date: February 24, 201¢

/S/  ERIC ROSENFELD
Eric Rosenfeld
Director
Date: February 24, 201¢
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Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Cotiporation:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the accompanying index present fairyall material respects, the financial
position of Cott Corporation and its subsidiarie®acember 28, 2013 and December 29, 2012, anckldts of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the three years in the peginded December 28, 2013 in conformity with actiogrprinciples generally accepted in
the United States of America. In addition, in opimion, the financial statement schedule listethindex appearing under Item 15(a)2
presents fairly, in all material respects, the infation set forth therein when read in conjunctigth the related consolidated financial
statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maiet, in all material respects, effective interoahtrol over financial reporting as of
December 28, 2013, based on criteria establishbdemal Control - Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO®2)9The Company’s management is responsible éselinancial statements and
financial statement schedule, for maintaining eféecinternal control over financial reporting aftd its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, includedvianagement’s Report on Internal Control overaficial Reporting appearing under

Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opiniamsthese financial statements, on the financia¢stant schedule, and on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting basedaam integrated audits. We conducted our audits@oalance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United Statéhphse standards require that we plan and perfoenatdits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statemeatises of material misstatement and whether effedtiternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®is: audits of the financial statements includedharéng, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the éilahstatements, assessing the accounting prirsciiled and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financé&éstent presentation. Our audit of internal cordx@r financial reporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dugaincial reporting, assessing the risk that aemaltweakness exists, and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectivenégsternal control based on the assessed risk.aldits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the @tanoes. We believe that our audits provide a redde basis for our opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantegeinerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over firgad reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainly reflect the transactions and dispositionshef assets of the company; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeztessary to permit preparation of financétkstents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeipnrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and(idiyide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygseds that could have a material effect on then@iiz statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgect to the risk that controls may become inadegibecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

As described in Management’s Report on Internalt@b@ver Financial Reporting appearing under [@# management has excluded
Cooke Bros. Holdings Limited (“Calypso”) from itssessment of internal control over financial reépgras of December 28, 2013 because it
was acquired in June 2013. We have also excludggh&afrom our audit of internal control over fir@al reporting. Calypso is a wholly
owned subsidiary whose total assets and total tmserepresent 4.0% and 1.5%, respectively, ofala¢ed consolidated financial statement
amounts as of and for the year ended December023, 2

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers L
Tampa, Florid:
February 24, 201
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COTT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in millions of U.S. dollars except share and geare amounts)

Revenue, ne
Cost of sale:

Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative exper
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipm
Restructuring and asset impairme
Restructuring
Asset impairment
Intangible asset impairmer

Operating income

Contingent consideration ei-out adjustmen
Other expense (income), r

Interest expense, n

Income before income taxe
Income tax expense (bene!

Net income

Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest:

Net income attributed to Cott Corporation

Net income per common share attributed to Cott Corpration

Basic
Diluted

Weighted average outstanding shares (thousands) ahuted to Cott Corporation

Basic
Diluted

Dividends declared per share

For the Year Ended

December 2¢

December 2¢

December 31

2013 2012 2011
$ 20940 $ 22506 @ $ 2334
1,842.( 1,961.. 2,058.(
252.( 289.F 276.¢
160.2 178.( 172.7
1.0 1.8 1.2
2. — —
— — 0.€
— — 1.4
88.€ 109.7 100.7
— 0.6 0.¢
12. (2.0 2.2
51.€ 54.; 57.1
24.2 56.¢ 40.
2.2 4.6 (0.7)
$ 220 $ 52: $ 41
5.C 4.5 3.6
$ 17.C $ 476 $  37.€
$ 01¢ $ 051 $  0.4C
0.1€ 0.5¢ 0.4¢
94,75( 94,55: 94,24
95,63t 94,77 95,00
$ 022 $ 006 % =

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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COTT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 2¢ December 31
2013 2012 2011

Net income $ 22.C $ 52.: $ 41.z
Other comprehensive income (los

Currency translation adjustme (5.9 10.7 (4.7)

Pension benefit plan, net of t1 g 1.4 (3.1

Unrealized gain on derivative instruments, netaf? — — 0.€

Total other comprehensive (loss) incom (4.9 12.1 (7.2

Comprehensive income $ 17.€ $ 64.4 $ 34.(

Less: Comprehensive income attributable to-controlling interest: 5.C 4.2 3.€

Comprehensive income attributed to Cott Corporation $ 12.€ $ 60.1 $ 30.4

1. Net of a $0.3 million tax expense, $1.1 million &xpense and $0.6 million tax benefit for the yearded December 2
2013, December 29, 2012 and December 31, 201leatsply.

2. Net of a nil tax benefit, a nil tax benefit and $anillion tax expense effect for the years endedddeber 28, 2013, December 29, 2
and December 31, 2011, respectivi

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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COTT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in millions of U.S. dollars, except share amounts)

December 2¢

December 2¢

2013 2012
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash & cash equivalen $ 47.2 $ 179.
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $5.8 (%¥&®f December 29, 201 204.¢ 199.¢
Income taxes recoverak 1.1 1.2
Inventories 233.1 224.¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 19.2 20.2
Total current assets 505.1 625.1
Property, plant & equipment, n 483.7 490.¢
Goodwill 137.C 130.:
Intangibles and other assets, 296.2 315.¢
Deferred income taxe 3.6 3.2
Other tax receivabl 0.2 0.¢
Total assets $ 1,426.: $ 1,565
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Shor-term borrowings $ 50.€ $ —
Current maturities of lor-term debt 3.9 1.¢
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 298.2 287.1
Total current liabilities 352.¢ 289.¢
Long-term debi 403.5 601.¢
Deferred income taxe 41.F 39.1
Other lon¢-term liabilities 22.2 12.5
Total liabilities 820.2 943.(
Commitments and contingenci- Note 18
Equity
Capital stock, no pe 94,238,190 (December 29, 20- 95,371,484) shares issu 392.¢ 397.¢
Treasury stocl — —
Additional paic-in-capital 44.1 40.¢
Retained earning 176.: 186.(
Accumulated other comprehensive I (16.9) (12.9)
Total Cott Corporation equity 596.4 611.¢
Non-controlling interest: 9.5 11.]
Total equity 605.¢ 622.¢
Total liabilities and equity $ 1,426.: $ 1,565.¢

Approved by the Board of Director

/sl Graham Savag
Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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COTT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Operating Activities

Net income

Depreciation & amortizatio

Amortization of financing fee

Share-based compensation expel

Increase (decrease) in deferred income t

Write-off of financing fees and discou

Gain on bargain purcha

Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipm

Asset impairment

Intangible asset impairmer

Contract termination paymer

Other nor-cash item:

Change in operating assets and liabilities, netcglisition:
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current a
Other asset
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and ofilaéilities
Income taxes recoverak

Net cash provided by operating activit

Investing Activities
Acquisition, net of cash receiwvt
Additions to property, plant & equipme
Additions to intangibles and other ass
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipn
Proceeds from insurance recovel
Other investing activitie

Net cash used in investing activiti

Financing Activities
Payments of lor-term deb!
Borrowings under ABL
Payments under AB
Distributions to no-controlling interest:
Issuance of common shares, net of offering
Common shares repurchased and canc
Dividends to shareholde
Financing fee:
Net cash used in financing activiti
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢
Net (decrease) increase in cash & cash equivalel
Cash & cash equivalents, beginning of perio

Cash & cash equivalents, end of period

Supplemental Non-cash Investing and Financing Actities:
Capital lease additior
Common stock repurchased through accrued expi
Deferred consideratic
Financing fee:

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for intere:
Cash paid (received) for income taxes,

For the Year Ended

December 2¢

2013

$ 22.C
100.¢

2.8

4.C

0.€

4.C

1.C

o

13.€
(1.0)
(1.9)
6.1
(0.6)
1.7
155.

(11.9)

(55.6)

(5.9
0.2
0.€

(71.9

(220.9)
131.¢
(82.1)

(6.€)

(13.0
(21.9)
(0.6)
(213.9
(2.2)
(132.)
179.

$ 47.2
1.3
5.1
1.2

$ 50.¢
0.1

December 2¢

2012

$ 522
97.7

3.7

4.9

3.8

(0.9

1.8

0.4

15.C
(12.3)
0.3)
0.9
2.2)
8.8
173.(

9.7)
(69.7)
(5.2)
2.3
1.9

(80.9)

(3.9
24.F

(24.5

(5.6)

(0.9

(5.9)

(1.2)

(16.2)

2.1

78.F

100.¢

$ 179.¢

$ 510
7.7)

December 31

2011

$ 41z
95.2

3.

2.

3.7)

1.
0.€
1.4

(3.1)
4.

(5.0)
6.5
5.8

(0.7)

11.5
0.8

163.t

(34.9)

(48.9)

(5.7)
0.4

(1.6)
(90.9)

(6.9)
224.1

(231.9)

(6.0)
0.2

$ 53.¢
1.E



The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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COTT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
(in millions of U.S. dollars, except share amounts)

Cott Corporation Equity

Retained  Accumulated

Number of Number of Additional Other Non-
Common Treasury Common Treasury Earnings Comprehensive Controlling
Shares Shares Paid-in- Total
(Inthousands)  (In thousands) Shares Shares Capital (Deficit)  Income (Loss)  Interests Equity
Balance at January 1, 201: 94,75( 1,051 $395€ $ (32 $ 40.& $106L $ (A7.5) $ 13.C $535.C
Common shares issued - Director
Share Award: 76 — — — 0.7 — — — 0.7
Treasury shares issu- PSU Plar — (181) — 0.5 (0.5 — — — —
Treasury shares issu- EISPP — (19¢) — 0.€ (0.6) — — — —
Shar+-based compensatic — — — — 2.2 — — — 2.2
Options exercise 27¢ — 0.3 — — — — — 0.2
Contributions to non-controlling
interests — — — — — — — 1.€ 1.€
Distributions to non-controlling
interests — — — — — — — (6.0 (6.0
Comprehensive incorr
Currency translation adjustme — — — — — — 4.7 — (4.7
Pension benefit plan, net of t — — — — — — 3.1 — (3.2
Unrealized loss on derivative
instruments, net of ts — — — — — — 0.€ — 0.€
Net income — — — — — 37.€ — 3.6 41z
Balance at December 31, 2011 95,10: 674 $395.¢ $ (2.1) $ 42.€ $144.1 $ 247 $ 12.£ $568.:
Common shares issued - Director
Share Award: 96 — — — 0.7 — — — 0.7
Common shares repurchased and
cancellec (392 — (3.2 — — (0.7 — — (3.2
Treasury shares issued - Time-ba
RSUs — (674 — 2.1 (2.7 — — — —
Common shares issued - Tirhasec
RSUs 56€ — 5.C — (5.0 — — — —
Sharebased compensatic — — — — 4.2 — — — 4.2
Dividend paymen — — — — — (5.9 — — (5.8
Distributions to non-controlling
interests — — — — — — — (5.0 (5.6
Comprehensive incorr
Currency translation adjustm — — — — — — 10.€ (0.2) 10.7
Pension benefit plan, net of t — — — — — — 1.4 — 1.4
Unrealized gain on derivative
instruments, net of ts — — — — — — — — —
Net income — — — — — 47.¢ — 4.5 52.%
Balance at December 29, 201 95,37: — $397.¢ $§ — $ 404 $186.C $ (1249 $ 11.1 $622.¢
Common shares issued - Director
Share Award: 87 — — — 0.€ — — — 0.€
Common shares repurchased anc
cancellec (1,25)) — (5.3 — — (4.8 — — (20.0)
Common shares issued - Tirhasec
RSUs 31 — 0.3 — (0.9 — — — —
Shar+-based compensatic — — — — 3.2 — — — 3.2
Dividend paymen — — — — — (21.9 — — (21.9
Distributions to non-controlling
interests — — — — — — — (6.€) (6.6
Comprehensive incorr
Currency translation adjustme — — — — — — (5.0 — (5.2
Pension benefit plan, net of t — — — — — — 0.7 — 0.7



Unrealized gain (loss) on
derivative instruments, net

tax — — — — — — — — —
Net income — — — — — 17.C — 5. 22(
Balance at December 28, 201 94,23t — $392¢6 $ — $ 441 $176.:5 $ (16.8) $ 9.5 $605.¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Description of Business

” . ” o« ” o, ” o

Cott Corporation, together with its consolidatedsidiaries (“Cott,” “the Company,” “our Company,Cbtt Corporation,” “we,” “us,or
“our”), is one of the world’s largest producershafverages on behalf of retailers, brand ownergd@idbutors. Our product lines include
carbonated soft drinks (“CSDs"), 100% shelf stgblee and juice-based products, clear, still aratldng flavored waters, energy drinks,
sports products, new age beverages and ready+tk-ias, as well as alcoholic beverages for bravitkos.

Note 1— Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of presentation

These consolidated financial statements have begraped in accordance with U.S. generally acceptedunting principles (“GAAP”)
using the U.S. dollar as the reporting currencythasmajority of our business and the majority of shareowners are in the United States.

For the years ended December 28, 2013, Decemb@029,and December 31, 2011, we had 52 weeks igftacOur fiscal year ends
on Saturday, December 28, 2013 and our next 53 yeakis 2015.

We have three reporting segments— North Americadlwimcludes our U.S. operating segment and Caopdeating segment), United
Kingdom (“U.K.”) (which includes our United Kingdomeporting unit and our Continental European rapgrtinit), and All Other (“All
Other”) (which includes our Mexico operating segmenr Royal Crown International (“RCI”) operatisggment and other Miscellaneous
Expenses). Our corporate oversight function (“Coaped) is not treated as a segment; it includetagegeneral and administrative costs that
are not allocated to any of the reporting segmddusing the fourth quarter of 2013, managementawed our reporting segments and
subsequently combined our Mexico and RCI reposiegments with the segment previously classifieéllb®ther into one segment
classified as All Other. Prior year information Heeen updated to reflect the change in our regpg@gments.

Basis of consolidation

The financial statements consolidate our accowntsyholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaried gint ventures which we
control. All intercompany transactions and accotnatge been eliminated in consolidation.

Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financiaéstants in conformity with GAAP requires managentenhake estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts of assetsiaitities and disclosure of contingent assets laiillities at the date of the financial
statements and the amount of revenue and expeuseg the reporting period. Actual results coultfatifrom those estimates. The
consolidated financial statements include estimatesassumptions which, in the opinion of managenvegre significant to the underlying
amounts representing the future valuation of initalegassets, long-lived assets and goodwill, actingrior share-based compensation,
realization of deferred income tax assets anddhelution of tax contingencies.

Revenue recognition

We recognize revenue, net of sales returns, whereship passes to customers for products manuéktinrour own plants and/or by
third parties on our behalf, and when prices toaustomers are fixed and collection is reasonasdyiieed. This may be upon shipment of
goods or upon delivery to the customer, dependimgomtractual terms. Shipping and handling cosits Ipy the customer to us are include:
revenue. Although we accept returns of productsifoar customers occasionally, such returns, hisatlyi, have not been material.

Sales incentives

We participate in various incentive programs witin oustomers, including volumgased incentives, contractual rebates and prona
allowances. Volume incentives are based on oupmests achieving volume targets for a period of tii@ume incentives and contractual
rebates are deducted from revenue and accrue@ asctmtives are earned and are based on managsrestimate of the total the custome
expected to earn and claim. Promotional allowamacesccrued at time of revenue recognition and c@edurom revenue based on either the
volume shipped or the volume sold at the retadeation, depending on the terms of the allowance r&gularly review customer sales
forecasts to ensure volume targets will be metadjdst incentive accruals and revenues accordingly.
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Cost of sales

We record shipping and handling and finished gandsntory costs in cost of sales. Finished goo#sritory costs include the cost of
direct labor and materials and the applicable shhoverhead expense chargeable to production.

Selling, general and administrative expenses

We record all other expenses not charged to pramuas selling, general and administrative expenses

Share-based compensation

Share-based compensation expense for all share-basgensation awards is based on the grant-dateafae. We recognized these
compensation costs net of a forfeiture rate omaagttt-line basis over the requisite service pedbthe award, which is generally the vesting
term of three years. No estimated forfeitures viecided in the calculation of share-based compenséor the 2013, 2012 and 2011 share-
based awards.

Additional paid-in capital is adjusted by the tanpiact related to the difference between the amdeaticted for tax purposes and the
compensation cost for accounting purposes. Wheréathdeduction exceeds book compensation costcagase in additional paid-in capital
is recorded. Where the tax deduction is less tloak lsompensation cost, a reduction in additiona-pacapital is recorded to the extent
there is an accumulated balance or charged to ia¢armexpense if a shortfall remains after the eedated additional paid-in capital is
brought to zero.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly ligoicestments with original maturities not exceedimge months at the time of
purchase. The fair values of our cash and caslvaiguits approximate the amounts shown on our Cinfadetl Balance Sheets due to their
short-term nature.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

A portion of our accounts receivable is not expédtebe collected due to non-payment, bankruptnesdeductions. Our accounting
policy for the allowance for doubtful accounts riegs us to reserve an amount based on the evaluattihe aging of accounts receivable,
detailed analysis of high-risk customers’ accouais the overall market and economic conditionsurfcustomers.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, datexchon the first-in, first-out method, or net ieable value. Returnable bottles are
valued at the lower of cost, deposit value or patizable value. Finished goods and work-in-progesside the cost of raw materials, direct
labor and manufacturing overhead costs. As a resaluse an inventory reserve to adjust our castsdo a net realizable value and to
reserve for estimated obsolescence of both rawrratste@nd finished goods.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cestdecumulated depreciation. Depreciation is aéatbetween cost of sales and sel
general and administration expenses and is detedmnising the straight-line method over the estichageful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 10 to 40 yeal
Machinery and equipme! 7 to 15 year:
Furniture and fixture 3 to 10 year:
Plates, films and molc 1to 10 year
Vending 5to 10 year:
Transportation equipme 3to 15 year:
IT Systems 3to 7 year:

Leasehold improvements are amortized using thehktrine method over the remaining life of thedear useful life, whichever is
shorter. Maintenance and repairs are charged t@tipg expense when incurred.
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Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets:

The following table summarizes our goodwill on paging segment basis as of December 28, 2013 aedber 29, 2012:

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ December 28, 201 December 29, 201
North America
Balance at beginning of ye $ 125.¢ $ 125.1
Goodwill acquired during the ye — —
Foreign exchang (1.9 0.7
Balance at end of ye. $ 124.( $ 125.¢
All Other

Balance at beginning of ye $ 4.5 $ 4.5
Goodwill acquired during the ye — —
Foreign exchang — —
Balance at end of ye. $ 4.5 $ 4.5

UK
Balance at beginning of ye $ — $ —
Goodwill acquired during the ye 8.5 —
Foreign exchang 0.2 —
Balance at end of ye $ 8.8 $ —
Total
Balance at beginning of ye $ 130.: $ 129.¢
Goodwill acquired during the ye 8.5 —
Foreign exchang (1.9 0.7
Balance at end of ye $ 137.3 $ 130.:

Gooduwill represents the excess purchase priceqfiaer businesses over the fair value of the retasacquired. Goodwill is not
amortized, but instead is tested for impairmem¢ast annually in the fourth quarter or more fraglyelif we determine a triggering event has
occurred during the year. Any impairment loss ognized in our results of operations. We evalgatadwill for impairment on a reporting
unit basis. Reporting units are operations for Whiiscrete financial information is available amd at or one level below our operating
segments. For the purpose of testing goodwill figuairment, our reporting units are the United St#td.S.”), United Kingdom (“U.K.”),
Canada, and Royal Crown International (“RCI"). Waellgoodwill of $137.3 million on our balance shaebDecember 28, 2013, which
represents amounts for the U.S., U.K., Canadatem&®€l reporting units.

In 2013 and 2012, for our RCI reporting unit, weessed qualitative factors to determine whetheexigtence of events or
circumstances indicated that it was more likelynthat that the fair value of the reporting unit ess than its carrying amount. We also
performed this assessment for our Canada repartiitign 2012. If, after assessing the totality wésts or circumstances, we had determined
that it was more likely than not that the fair \@lf the reporting unit was less than its carnangpunt, then we would have performed the
first step of the two-step goodwill impairment téate concluded that it was more likely than not tha fair value of the reporting unit was
more than its carrying amount and therefore we wetgequired to perform any additional testing.

In 2013, for our U.S. and Canada reporting units,civose to bypass the qualitative assessment afwdrped the first step of the two-
step goodwill impairment test using a mix of theame approach (which is based on the discountddflag of the reporting unit) and the
public company approach. We believe using a contibinaf the two approaches provides a more accwalteation because it incorporates
the actual cash generation of the Company in aafdit how a third party market participant wouldueathe reporting unit. We also chose to
bypass the qualitative assessment for our U.Srtiagaunit in 2012. Because the business is assumedntinue in perpetuity, the discounted
future cash flow includes a terminal value. We use&dkighted average terminal growth rate of 1%ofarU.S. reporting unit in 2013 and
2012 and a weighted average terminal growth rai@efor our Canada reporting unit in 2013. The lb@gn growth assumptions
incorporated into the discounted cash flow caldoiteteflect our longerm view of the market (including a decline in C8&mand), projecte
changes in the sale of our products, pricing ohquoducts and operating profit margins.
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The estimated revenue changes in the analysiféddtS. reporting unit ranged between -9.7% an#3d@ 2013 and -1.4% and 3.0% for
2012. The estimated revenue changes in the anétydise Canada reporting unit ranged between %7agd 1.2% for 2013.

The discount rate used for the fair value estimadise analysis for the U.S. reporting unit wes%8.for 2013 and 10.5% for 2012 and
ranged from 11% to 12% for 2011. The discount uaed for the fair value estimates in the analymiglfe Canada reporting unit was 9.0%
2013 and 11.0% for 2011. These rates were bas#teomeighted average cost of capital a marketqpatnt would use if evaluating the
reporting unit as an investment. The risk-free vedis 3.4% and 2.4% for 2013 and 2012, respectiaglg,was based on a 20-year U.S.
Treasury Bill as of the valuation date.

For the Canada reporting unit, the fair value ededahe net book value by approximately 23% and #92013 and 2011, respective
As noted above, a qualitative assessment was pertbon our Canada reporting unit in 2012. From 2012013, the fair value declined by
approximately 41%.

All goodwill in the U.K. reporting unit is attribable to the June 2013 acquisition (the “Calypsd Badfks Acquisition”)of 100 percen
of the share capital of Cooke Bros. Holdings Limjterhich includes the subsidiary companies Caly\§sio Drinks Limited and Mr. Freeze
(Europe) Limited (together, “Calypso Soft Drinks”).

Each year during the fourth quarter, we re-evalttaeassumptions used to reflect changes in thaedmsenvironment, such as revenue
growth rates, operating profit margins and discaatg. Based on the evaluations performed this, yeadetermined that the fair value of our
significant reporting units exceeded their carryamgounts.

Intangible and other assets

As of December 28, 2013, other intangible assets $251.2 million, consisting principally of $21lllion of customer relationships
that arose from acquisitions, $10.1 million of fieéng costs, $17.5 million of information technojagssets, and $7.4 million of trademarks.
Customer relationships are amortized on a strdigatbasis for the period over which we expecteceive economic benefits. We review the
estimated useful life of these intangible assetaially, taking into consideration the specific oash flows related to the intangible asset,
unless a review is required more frequently du tiaggering event such as the loss of a customie permanent loss or significant declin
sales to any customer included in the intangibéetwould result in impairment in the value of thiangible asset or accelerated amortiza
and could lead to an impairment of fixed assetsulegie used to service that customer. In 2013 werded $10.7 million of customer
relationships acquired in connection with the Caty@oft Drinks Acquisition. We did not record impaént charges for other intangible
assets in 2013 or 2012. In 2011, we recorded &t Bepairment charge of $1.4 million related priflyaio customer relationships.

Our only intangible asset with an indefinite lifdates to the 2001 acquisition of intellectual gy from Royal Crown Company, Inc.,
including the right to manufacture our concentrat@th all related inventions, processes, technielgechnical and manufacturing
information, know-how and the use of the Royal Qndwand outside of North America and Mexico (théghRs"). This asset has a net book
value of $45.0 million. Prior to 2001, we paid duroe based royalty to the Royal Crown Company focpase of concentrates. There are no
legal, regulatory, contractual, competitive, ecoimrar other factors that limit the useful life thiis intangible.

The life of the Rights is considered to be indeérsind therefore not amortized, but instead igtkefr impairment at least annually or
more frequently if we determine a triggering evieas occurred during the year. We compare the cayymount of the Rights to their fair
value and where the carrying amount is greater therair value, we recognize in income an impamtiess. To determine fair value, we use
a relief from royalty method, which calculates & fa@lue royalty rate that is applied to a foreaafstuture volume shipments of concentrate
that is used to produce CSDs. The forecast of éutotumes is based on the estimated inter-plapt&tits and RCI shipments. The relief
from royalty method is used since the Rights wenelpased in part to avoid making future royaltympants for concentrate to the Royal
Crown Company. The resulting cash flows are distedinsing a discount rate of 12.5% and estimatédnw® changes between -10.7% and
5.5%. No impairment was identified for the year eh@®ecember 28, 2013. Absent any other changesr ihter-plant concentrate volume
declines by 1.0% from our estimated volume, thewvalue of our Rights would decline by approximat®l.7 million. If our RCI volume
declines by 1.0% from our estimated volume, thevfalue of the Rights would decline by approximat&2.6 million. If our discount rate
increases by 100 basis points, the fair value ®Rlghts would decline by approximately $5.5 miililNone of these adjustments would re
in an impairment of our Rights as either a stamsha@ladjustment or in combination.
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Impairment of long-lived assets

When adverse events occur, we compare the carayiryunt of long-lived assets to the estimated uodisted future cash flows at the
lowest level of independent cash flows for the grofilong-lived assets and recognize any impairness in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations, taking into consideration the timingesfting and the asset’s remaining useful life. &kgected life and value of these long-lived
assets is based on an evaluation of the compegitiveonment, history and future prospects as gpjate. In 2011, we recorded an
impairment of long-lived assets of $0.6 millionateld to a production plant in Mexico that ceasegtatons. We did not record impairments
of long-lived assets in 2012 or 2013.

Foreign currency translation

The assets and liabilities of non-U.S. active ofi@na, all of which are seustaining, are translated to U.S. dollars at Kobh&nge rate
in effect at the balance sheet dates. Revenuesxgahses are translated using average monthly egehates prevailing during the period.
The resulting gains or losses are recorded in agtated comprehensive income under shareownerstyequi

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the asset abititfamethod. Deferred tax assets and liabiliges recognized based on the
differences between the accounting values of assetdiabilities and their related tax bases usingently enacted income tax rates. A
valuation allowance is established to reduce defeimcome tax assets if, on the basis of availebigence, it is not more likely than not that
all or a portion of any deferred tax assets wilrbalized. We classify interest and income tax firsaas income tax expense (benefit).

We account for uncertain tax positions using a step process. The first step is to evaluate th@aakion for recognition by
determining if the weight of available evidenceigades that it is more likely than not that theipos will be sustained on audit, including
resolution of related appeals or litigation proessased on the technical merits. The secondatejres us to estimate and measure the tax
benefit as the largest amount that is more than B8y to be realized upon ultimate settlementslinherently difficult and subjective to
estimate such amounts, as we have to determirrahability of various possible outcomes. We relagate these uncertain tax positions on a
quarterly basis. This evaluation is based on faadtwluding, but not limited to, changes in factsiocumstances, changes in tax law,
effectively settled issues under audit, and newtaadivity. Such a change in recognition or measwunt would result in the recognition of a
tax benefit or an additional charge to the tax miow.

We recognize interest and penalties related tocogrgzed tax benefits within the income tax expdimgein the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations, and wedechccrued interest and penalties within the inctameayable or receivable account in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Pension costs

We record annual amounts relating to defined bepefision plans based on calculations, which ireclkatious actuarial assumptions
such as discount rates and assumed rates of apanding on the pension plan. Material changesmsion costs may occur in the future
due to changes in these assumptions. Future aam@lints could be impacted by changes in the disaatay changes in the expected long-
term rate of return, changes in the level of cbwtidbns to the plans and other factors. The fursiatlis is the difference between the fair v
of plan assets and the benefit obligation. Futateaaial gains or losses that are not recognizetweaperiodic benefits cost in the same pel
will be recognized as a component of other comprsive income.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements

Update ASU 2013-02 — Comprehensive Income (Tofit B2porting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Acdated Other Comprehensive
Income

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standd@&dard (“FASB”) amended its guidance regardingitifiermation provided in
relation to the amounts reclassified out of accataa other comprehensive income. The amendmentstdthange the current requirements
for reporting net income or other comprehensiveine in financial statements. However, the amendseujuire an entity to provide
information about the amounts reclassified outagfuanulated other comprehensive income by compoheatldition, an entity is required to
present, either on the face of the statement wirencome is presented or in the notes, signifiaamounts reclassified out of accumulated
other
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comprehensive income by the respective line itehmebincome but only if the amount reclassifieddquired under U.S. GAAP to be
reclassified to net income in its entirety in tlaeng reporting period. For other amounts that ateetuired under U.S. GAAP to be
reclassified in their entirety to net income, afitgns required to cross-reference to other disates required under U.S. GAAP that provide
additional detail about those amounts. For pubiitties, the amendments are effective prospectif@lyeporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2012. We have adopted this guidandethe required disclosure is set forth in Note 17.

Note 2— Acquisition
Calypso Soft Drinks Acquisition

During June 2013, our United Kingdom (“U.Krgporting segment completed the Calypso Soft Drixdguisition. Calypso Soft Drink
produces fruit juices, juice drinks, soft drinkaddreeze products in the United Kingdom. The aggte purchase price in the Calypso Soft
Drinks Acquisition was $12.1 million, which inclusi@approximately $7.0 million paid at closing, degéer payments of approximately $2.3
million and $3.0 million to be paid on the firstctheecond anniversary of the closing date, respagtiof the Calypso Soft Drinks Acquisitic
In connection with the Calypso Soft Drinks Acquit, we paid off $18.5 million of outstanding detithe acquired companies. The closing
payment was funded from available cash.

The total consideration paid by us in the Calypsfi Brinks Acquisition, subject to final working p#al adjustments, is summarized
below:

(in millions of U.S. dollars’

Cash $7.C
Deferred consideratict _ 51
Total consideratiol $12.1

1. Principal amount of $5.3 million discounted to teedoon the first and second anniversary of comphetiate

Our primary reasons for the Calypso Soft Drinks éisifion were to expand Cott’s product portfoliacdaanhance our customer offering
and growth prospects.

The Calypso Soft Drinks Acquisition is being accmehfor as a business combination which, among dktiegs, requires that assets
acquired and liabilities assumed be measured atabguisition date fair values. Identified intabigi assets, goodwill and property, plant and
equipment are recorded at their estimated fairasper preliminary valuations and may change basdtle final valuation results including,
for example, the process of physically validatingd assets. The results of operations of Calypgb®inks have been included in our
operating results beginning as of the acquisitiate dWe allocated the purchase price of the CalgamsbDrinks Acquisition to tangible asst
liabilities and identifiable intangible assets aicgd based on their estimated fair values. The &xoéthe purchase price over the aggregate
fair values was recorded as goodwill. The fair eadigsigned to identifiable intangible assets aequiras based on estimates and assumption
made by management. Intangible assets are amotisteg a method that reflects the pattern in wieicbnomic benefits of the intangible
asset are consumed using a straight-line amougizatiethod.

The following table summarizes the estimated atioceof the purchase price to the fair value ofdlseets acquired and liabilities
assumed in connection with the Calypso Soft Drifségquisition.

As reported at As reported at

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ September 27, 201 Adjustments December 28, 201
Cash $ 0.5 $ — $ 0.
Accounts receivabl 15.1 1.0 16.1
Inventory 25 0.6 8.1
Prepaid expenses and other as 0.€ — 0.€
Property, plant and equipme 9.7 (1.0 8.7
Goodwill 10.t (2.0) 8.t
Intangibles and other assi 14.¢ 0.2 15.C
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (14.7 2.7 (15.9)
Shareholder loar (1.6 — (1.6)
Deferred tax liabilitie: 4.7 1.2 (3.5
Other lon¢-term liabilities (26.2) 1.7 (24.5)
Total $ 12.1 $ — $ 12.1
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The Company recognized $1.7 million of acquisitietated costs associated with the Calypso Softk3ra&cquisition that were
expensed during 2013. These costs are includdeisdlling, general, and administrative expenseainConsolidated Statements of
Operations in accordance with Accounting Stand@uaigification (“ASC") 805, “Business CombinationsAGC 805").

Scotland Acquisition

In March 2012, our U.K. reporting segment acquimdibverage and wholesale business based in Scéblaagproximately $5.0
million. The business was purchased from a comjraagministration and provides a number of benéditsur U.K. reporting segment,
including increased product offerings, logisticahergies and access to an additional productian Tiime acquisition has been accounted for
using the purchase method of accounting for businembinations, and related operating resultsrefleded in the Consolidated Statements
of Operations for the periods subsequent to theiaitipn. The identified assets, which includedentory, property, plant and equipment,
trade names and customer lists, were recorde@iatgstimated fair values, which exceeded thevidine of the purchase price of the busir
Accordingly, the acquisition has been accountedfoa bargain purchase and, as a result, we reeabaigain of approximately $0.9 million
associated with the acquisition. The gain is inetich the other (income) expense, net sectionefbnsolidated Statements of Operations.

Cliffstar Acquisition

On August 17, 2010, we completed the Cliffstar Asiion for approximately $503.0 million in cash,450 million in deferred
consideration payable in equal installments ovegdlyears and contingent consideration of up toG&Bllion. The first $15.0 million of the
contingent consideration was paid upon the achievemf milestones in certain expansion projec0dh0. The remainder of the contingent
consideration was to be calculated based on thHewrhent of certain performance measures durindigbal year ending January 1, 2011.

In 2011, the seller of Cliffstar raised certainestjons to the performance measures used to ceddhika contingent consideration, and
the parties commenced the dispute resolution mésmagorovided for in the asset purchase agreememin® 2011, Cott made interim
payments to the seller equal to $29.6 million whics net of a $4.7 million refund due to Cott amduded $0.9 million in settlement of
certain of the seller’s objections to the calculatof the contingent consideration. The sellersnak for an additional $12.1 million in
contingent consideration were submitted to bindirgjtration pursuant to the asset purchase agreaeandrfavorably resolved by payment by
Cott in February 2013 of approximately $0.6 million

The Cliffstar Acquisition was financed through thsuance of $375.0 million aggregate principal amati 8.125% senior notes due
2018 (the “2018 Notes”), the underwritten publiteoing of 13.4 million of our common shares (thetity Offering”) and borrowings under
our credit facility, which we refinanced in connieatwith the Cliffstar Acquisition, to increase thmount available for borrowings to $275.0
million.

Our primary reasons for the Cliffstar Acquisitioen to expand Cott’s product portfolio and manufeing capabilities, enhance our
customer offering and growth prospects, and impmwestrategic platform for the future.

The Cliffstar Acquisition is being accounted forden the purchase accounting method, in accordaitheABC 805, “Business
Combinations”, with the assets and liabilities daceplirecorded at their fair values at the datehefCliffstar Acquisition. Identified intangible
assets, goodwill and property, plant and equipraemtecorded at their estimated fair values peratains. The results of operations of the
acquired business have been included in our opegratisults beginning as of the date of the Cliffgtequisition. We allocated the purchase
price of the Cliffstar Acquisition to tangible atsdiabilities and identifiable intangible assatsjuired based on their estimated fair values.
The excess of the purchase
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price over the aggregate fair values was recordegbadwill. The fair value assigned to identifialieangible assets acquired was based on
estimates and assumptions made by managemengiliaassets are amortized using the straightdimertization method.

In addition to the purchase price, we incurred $fillon of acquisition related costs, which wesgensed as incurred and recorded in
the selling, general, and administrative expenagsian of our Consolidated Statements of Operationthe year ended January 1, 2011, in
accordance with ASC 805.

The following table summarizes the allocation @& lurchase price to the fair value of the assefsiead and liabilities assumed in
connection with the Cliffstar Acquisition.

As reported at

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ January 1, 201.

Accounts receivable $ 52.2
Inventories 87.1
Prepaid expenses and other as 5.7
Property, plant & equipmel 167.:
Goodwill 98.2
Intangibles and other assi 224.:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (63.9)
Other lon¢-term liabilities (2.9
Total $ 568.7

Intangible Assets
Calypso Soft Drinks Acquisition

In our determination of the fair value of the ingéie assets, we considered, among other factoed)est use of acquired assets, ane
of historical financial performance and estimate&iture performance of Calypso Soft Drinks’ prothicThe estimated fair values of
identified intangible assets were calculated carsig) market participant expectations and usingneome approach and estimates and
assumptions provided by Calypso Soft Drinks’ managet, as well as our management. The followingetabls forth the components of
identified intangible assets associated with thiy@&@ Soft Drinks Acquisition and their estimatedighted average useful lives:

As Reported at December 28, 201
Estimated Fair

Estimated
(in millions of U.S. dollars’ Market Value Useful Life
Customer relationships $ 10.7 15 years
Trademarks and trade nan 3.C 20 years
Non-competition agreemen 1.2 5 years
Total $ 15.C

Customer relationships represent future projeatgdnue that will be derived from sales to existingtomers of Calypso Soft Drinks.

Trademarks and trade names represent the futupecped cost savings associated with the premiunmbaaudd image obtained as a re
of owning the trademark or trade name as opposebttining the benefit of the trademark or trade@ahrough a royalty or rental fee.

In conjunction with the closing of the Calypso Sbftnks Acquisition, certain key employees of CagSoft Drinks executed non-
competition agreements, which prevent those empbff®m competing with us in the specified restdcterritories for five years after the
acquisition date. The value of the Calypso Sofnksibusiness could be diminished without theseawmnpetition agreements.

Cliffstar Acquisition

In our determination of the fair value of the ingéile assets, we considered, among other factoed)est use of acquired assets, ane
of historical financial performance and estimate&iture performance of Cliffstar’'s products. The
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estimated fair values of identified intangible assgere calculated considering market participapeetations and using an income approach
and estimates and assumptions provided by Cliféstard our management. The following table setthftire components of identified
intangible assets associated with the CliffstaruAsition and their estimated weighted average uieks:

As Reported at January 1, 201.
Estimated Fair

Estimated
(in millions of U.S. dollars’ Market Value Useful Life
Customer relationships $ 216.¢ 15 years
Non-competition agreemen 6.€ 3 years

Total $ 223.F

Customer relationships represent future projecgdmue that will be derived from sales to existingtomers of the acquired company.

In conjunction with the closing of the Cliffstar gwisition, certain key employees of Cliffstar exstlinon-competition agreements,
which prevent those employees from competing wétlnuspecified restricted territories for a peraddhree years from the date of the
Cliffstar Acquisition. The value of the Cliffstaubiness could be materially diminished without éhesn-competition agreements.

Goodwill

The principal factor that resulted in recognitidrgoodwill was that the purchase prices for they@sb Soft Drinks Acquisition and
Cliffstar Acquisition were based in part on cagiwflprojections assuming the reduction of admintigtracosts and the integration of acquired
customers and products into our operations, wlsalf greater value than on a standalone basis. @bbéglexpected to be deductible for tax
purposes.

Supplemental Pro Forma Data (unaudited)

The following unaudited financial information fdre years ended December 28, 2013 and Decembe®P® r@present the combined
results of our operations as if the Calypso Softhr Acquisition had occurred on December 31, 20tk unaudited pro forma financial
information does not necessarily reflect the rasoftoperations that would have occurred had weabpe as a single entity during such
period.

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 2¢
(in millions of U.S. dollars, except share amount 2013 2012
Revenue $ 2,121 $ 2,309.
Net income 18.€ 48.2
Net income per common share, dilu $ 0.2C $ 0.51

Note 3— Restructuring

We implement restructuring programs from time todithat are designed to improve operating effecége and lower costs. When we
implement these programs, we incur various chaigekiding severance and other employment reladstscIn June 2013, we implemented
one such program (the “2013 Restructuring Planbictv consisted primarily of headcount reductiorws. the year ended December 28, 2013,
we incurred charges of approximately $2.0 milliefated primarily to employee redundancy costs.
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The following table summarizes restructuring, ags@lirment and intangible asset impairment chafgethe years ended
December 28, 2013, December 29, 2012 and Decemb@031.:

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 2¢ December 31
(in millions of U.S. dollars’ 2013 2012 2011
Restructuring $ 2.C $ — $ —
Asset impairment — — 0.€
Intangible asset impairmer — — 1.4
$ 2.C $ — $ 2.C

As of December 28, 2013, December 29, 2012 andrbieee31, 2011, no amounts are owed under our ptsting plans.

Year ended December 28, 2013
The following table summarizes restructuring charge a reporting segment basis for the year enéeember 28, 2013.

(in millions of U.S. dollars’

North America United Kingdom All Other Total
Restructuring $ 1.C $ 0.7 $ 0.3 $2.C
$ 1.C $ 0.7 $ 0.2 $2.C

Year ended December 31, 2011
The following table summarizes our asset impairnodiarges on a reporting segment basis for thegreded December 31, 2011.

(in millions of U.S. dollars’

North America All Other Total

Asset impairment $ — $ 0.€ $0.€
Intangible asset impairmer 1.4 — 1.4
$ 14 $ 0.€ $2.C

Asset impairmentsin 2011, we recorded an asset impairment char§é.d million related primarily to customer retatships. Also, in
2011, we recorded a $0.6 million impairment of ldivgd assets related to a production plant in Mexhat ceased operations.
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Note 4— Other Expense (Income), Net

The following table summarizes other expenses mdie) for the years ended December 28, 2013, Dleee29, 2012 and
December 31, 2011:

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 2¢ December 31
(in millions of U.S. dollars 2013 2012 2011
Foreign exchange lot $ 0.2 $ 0.8 $ 2.2
Gain on bargain purcha — (0.9 —
Proceeds from insurance recovel (0.2 (1.9 —
Bond redemptiot 8.7 — —
Write-off of financing fees and discou 4.C — —
Total $ 12.¢ $ (2.0 $ 2.2

Note 5— Interest Expense
The following table summarizes interest expenseHeryears ended December 28, 2013, December 29,8 December 31, 2011:

For the Year Ended

December 2& December 2¢ December 31
(in millions of U.S. dollars’ 2013 2012 2011
Interest on lon-term debi $ 47 L $ 49.4 $ 50.1
Other interest expen: 4.2 4.8 7.C
Total $ 51.€ $ 54.2 $ 57.1
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Note 6— Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

Income before income taxes consisted of the fotapvi

(in millions of U.S. dollars’

Canads
Outside Canad
Income before income taxe

Income tax expense (benefit) consisted of the falig:

(in millions of U.S. dollars’

Current
Canade
Outside Canad

Deferred
Canade
Outside Canad

Income tax expense (benefil

For the Year Ended

December 2¢

December 2¢

2012

$ 22.¢
34.C

$ 56.¢

For the Year Ended

December 31

2011

$ 20.1
20.4

$ 40.5

December 2¢

2013
$ (0.9
(0.4)
$ 0.7)
$ (0.6
3.
$ 2.C

December 2¢

2012

$ 2.4
(1.9

$ 0.
$ 0.€
3.2

$ 3.8
$ 4.€

December 31

2011

$ 2.2

0.t
$ 27
$ 0.€

(4.9
$ 3.4)
$ 0.7)

The following table reconciles income taxes caladat the basic Canadian corporate rates witimtteeme tax provision:

(in millions of U.S. dollars’

Income tax expense based on Canadian statutos
Foreign tax rate differenti

Tax exempt incom

Dividend income

Changes in enacted tax ra

Increase in valuation allowan

Increase (decrease) to uncertain tax posit
Non-controlling interest:

Other items

Income tax expense (bene!

For the Year Ended

December 2¢
2013

$ 6.1
(0.7)
(15.1)

(1.5

12.F
0.6

(1.8)
1.
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December 2¢
2012

$ 14«
1.2

(14.9)

0.7

(0.9)

4.

(0.)

(1.6)

2.2

$ 4.6

December 31
2011

$  10¢
(3.0

(14.2)

1.C

(0.9)

10.2

0.9

(1.9)

(2.7)
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities weregaized on temporary differences between the filsand tax bases of existing ass
and liabilities as follows:

December 2¢ December 2¢

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ 2013 2012
Deferred tax asset:
Loss carryforward $ 64.1 $ 53.¢
Leases 3.8 4.1
Property, plant & equipme! 5.¢ 4.t
Liabilities and reserve 13.4 12.C
Stock options 1.¢ 0.€
Inventories 1.8 3.7
Other 4.€ 4.1

95.5 83.1
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant & equipmel (54.2) (63.€)
Intangible asset (25.0 (15.9)
Other (1.9 (0.9

(80.2) (80.9)
Valuation allowanct (45.9) (27.5)
Net deferred tax liability $ (29.9 $ (24.9)

The increase in the valuation allowance from Decam@9, 2012 to December 28, 2013 was primarilyréisailt of additional allowances
booked in the U.S and Mexico.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities have b&esified as follows on the Consolidated Balancee®

December 2& December 2¢

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ 2013 2012
Deferred tax assets:

Current $ 8.2 $ 11.1

Long-term 3.€ 3.3
Deferred tax liabilities:

Current $ (0.2 $ —

Long-term (41.9) (39.))
Net deferred tax liability $ (29.9 $ (24.9)

As a result of certain realization requirement&8fC Topic 718, “Compensation—Stock Compensatio&ASC 718"), the table of
deferred tax assets and liabilities shown above do¢include certain deferred tax assets at Deee@f) 2013 and December 29, 2012 that
arose directly from tax deductions related to ggoimpensation in excess of compensation recograedidhancial reporting. As of
December 28, 2013, equity will be increased by $2ilBon if and when such deferred tax assets #imately realized.

At December 28, 2013, undistributed earnings offorgign operations were considered to be permanezihvested. No deferred tax
liability has been recognized on the basis diffeeecreated by such earnings since it is our irdartt utilize those earnings in the foreign
operations for an indefinite period of time. Theadmination of the amount of deferred taxes ondhesgnings is not practicable because the
computation would depend on a number of factorsdhanot be known until a decision to repatriageehrnings is made.
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As of December 28, 2013, we have operating logyfoawards totaling $357.1 million, credit carryfeards totaling $1.5 million and
capital loss carryforwards totaling $15.8 millidrhe operating loss carryforward amount was attablet to Mexico operating loss
carryforwards of $22.6 million that will expire fr02018 to 2023 and U.S. federal and state operkisgycarryforwards of $121.0 million a
$213.5 million, respectively. The U.S. federal @iy loss carryforwards will expire from 2027 1033 and the state operating loss
carryforwards will expire from 2014 to 2033.

The credit carryforward amount was attributabla 10.S. federal alternative minimum tax credit ckoryard of $0.7 million with an
indefinite life and U.S. state credit carryforwanfs$0.8 million that will expire from 2014 to 2018he capital loss carryforward is
attributable to a Canadian capital loss of $10.faniand a U.K. capital loss of $5.1 million, bathth an indefinite life.

We establish a valuation allowance to reduce dedietaix assets if, based on the weight of the aveikevidence, both positive and
negative, for each respective tax jurisdictiofis inore likely than not that some portion or altleé deferred tax assets will not be realized.
Due to uncertainty resulting from the lack of sirstd taxable income in recent years in the U.S.Mexico, we have determined that it is
more likely than not that the benefit from net aiierg loss carryforwards and other net deferredatsets in these jurisdictions will not be
realized in the future. In recognition of this riske have provided a valuation allowance of $31illan and $9.6 million to reduce our
deferred tax assets in the U.S. and Mexico, resdet

Additionally, we have determined that it is moteely than not that the benefit from our capitakles in Canada and the U.K. will not
realized in the future due to the uncertainty rdgy potential future capital gains in each jurisiin. In recognition of this risk, we have
provided a valuation allowance of $2.7 million air €anadian capital losses and $1.0 million onlbig. capital losses.

If our assumptions change and we determine webwikible to realize these deferred tax assetscamimtax benefit of $45.2 million
will be realized as a result of the reversal ofwhkiation allowance at December 28, 2013.

In 2006, the FASB issued guidance regarding pronsbf uncertain tax positions in ASC 740, whicbvides specific guidance on the
financial statement recognition, measurement, tempand disclosure of uncertain tax positions takeexpected to be taken in a tax return.
ASC 740 addresses the determination of whethdoaafits, either permanent or temporary, shoulceberded in the financial statements.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoeindur unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 2¢ December 31

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ 2013 2012 2011
Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of year $ 9.2 $ 9.C $ 13
Additions based on tax positions taken during arpri

period 0.2 0.1 0.2
Reductions based on tax positions taken duringoat

period — (2.2) —
Settlement on tax positions taken during a prioiqok (1.2 — (5.9
Lapse in statute of limitatior — (0.2) —
Additions based on tax positions taken during the

current perioc 2.4 2.2 1.7
Foreign exchang 0.7) 0.2 0.9
Unrecognized tax benefits at end of yee $ 10. $ 9.2 $ 9.C

As of December 28, 2013, we had $10.5 million afeaognized tax benefits, a net increase of $1.Bomifrom $9.2 million as of
December 29, 2012. If we recognized our tax passti@pproximately $4.8 million would favorably ingbahe effective tax rate. We believi
is reasonably possible that our unrecognized taefits will decrease or be recognized in the nexite months by up to $0.9 million due to
the settlement of certain tax positions and lagsetatutes of limitation in various tax jurisdimtis.
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We recognize interest and penalties related tocagrézed tax benefits in the provision for incorares. We recovered nil, $0.2 million
and $0.2 million of interest and penalties during year ended December 28, 2013, December 29,&@lPecember 31, 2011, respectively.
The amount of interest and penalties recognizeahassset in the Consolidated Balance Sheets f@& &0d 2012 was $0.1 million and $0.1
million, respectively.

Years prior to 2008 are closed to audit by therhrdbRevenue Service. Years prior to 2008 are didseaudit by U.S. state jurisdictior
We are currently under audit in Canada by the Camlenue Agency (“CRA”) for tax years 2005 thro2@l8. Years prior to 2005 are
closed to audit by the CRA. We are currently uraietit in Mexico by the Servicio de Administracioributaria (“SAT”) for the 2011 tax
year. Years prior to 2008 are closed to audit i blee U.K. and Mexico tax authoritie

Note 7— Share based Compensation

Each of our share-based compensation plans hasabpeoved by our shareowners, except for our 1986r@on Share Option Plan, as
amended (the “Option Plan”), which was adoptedrgaaur initial public offering, and a stock optiaward granted to our Chief Executive
Officer, which was an inducement grant made t@ettand retain that executive. Subsequent amendrtetite Option Plan that required
shareowner approval have been approved.

The table below summarizes the share-based contpansapense for the years ended December 28, ZId&mber 29, 2012, and
December 31, 2011. This share-based compensatimmmsa was recorded in selling, general, and adimétiisee expenses in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations. As used below: (i) “Rerfmce-based RSUs” mean restricted share unitspgifiormance-based vesting granted
under the Company’s 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (8840 Equity Incentive Plan'dr Amended and Restated Equity Plan (as defineml)¢
as the case may be, (ii) “Time-based RSUs” mearictesl share units with time-based vesting granteder the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan
or Amended and Restated Equity Plan, as the cagdediii) “Stock options” mean non-qualified skooptions granted under the Amended
and Restated Equity Plan, the 2010 Equity Inceriham, or the Option Plan, as the case may be(i@ntDirectors’ share awards” mean
common shares issued in consideration of the arbasall retainer fee to non-management membersrdfaard of directors under the 2010
Equity Incentive Plan or Amended and Restated Edrldn, as the case may be.

For the Year Ended

December 2& December 2¢ December 31
(in millions of U.S. dollars’ 2013 2012 2011
Stock options $ 0.8 $ 0.4 $ —
Performanc-based RSU 0.2 0.7 (1.2
Time-based RSU 2.2 3.1 3.4
Director¢ share award 0.8 0.7 0.7
Total $ 4.C $ 4.¢ $ 2.6
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During the third quarter of 2011, we concluded ihatas no longer probable that the targets estaétl for the Performance-based
RSUs awarded in 2011 would be met, and we no loageect these awards to ultimately vest. Accordingle recorded an adjustment to
reverse $3.3 million in compensation costs thatlieeh recorded to date for the Performance-basét BR&arded in 2010 and 2011. During
the fourth quarter of 2013, we concluded that is wa longer probable that the targets establistiethé Performancbased RSUs awarded
2013 would be met, and we no longer expect thesedsito ultimately vest. We continue to accruecibtrapensation expense for the
Performance-based RSUs awarded in 2012.

As of December 28, 2013, the unrecognized sharecbe@mpensation expense and years we expect nigedat as compensation
expense were as follows:

Unrecognized shar-basec Weighted average yeat
compensation expense expected to recognize
(in millions of U.S. dollars, except year: as of December 28, 201 compensation
Stock options $ 1.7 1.7
Performanc-based RSU 0.t 1.C
Time-based RSU 34 1.8
Total $ 5.€

Stock Options

Subsequent to the adoption of the 2010 Equity ItreerPlan, which was amended and restated by thentlied and Restated Equity
Plan (as defined below), the Human Resources anth€asation Committee of the board of directors (G4R) determined that certain of
Cott’s long-term incentive plans were no longerdezband terminated the Option Plan. In connectith the termination of the Option Plan,
outstanding options will continue in accordancehwiite terms of the Option Plan until vested, pait forfeited or terminated, as applicable.
No further awards have been granted under the @ptian. Future awards, including any awards ofonsti are expected to be governec
the terms of the Company’s Amended and RestateityHglan.

On February 14, 2013, our board of directors adbpteamendment and restatement of the 2010 Equdgntive Plan (the “Amended
and Restated Equity Plan”), pursuant to which ®&02Equity Incentive Plan was amended and restatemong other things, increase the
number of shares that may be issued under thetpld?, 000,000 shares and to provide that the nuwitshares available for issuance will be
reduced 2.0 shares for each share issued pursuarifull-value” award (i.e., an award other thanaption or stock appreciation right) after
the effective date of the amendment and restatembetAmended and Restated Equity Plan was appioyé&btt's shareowners on April Z
2013. Awards made in 2011 and 2012 prior to thermiment and restatement are generally governedebah0 Equity Incentive Plan.

During 2013, approximately 392,000 options werenggd to certain of our employees under the AmersaetRestated Equity Plan at
an exercise price of $9.29 per share (C$9.36 atafassuance). The fair value of the option graas estimated to be $4.10 using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. During 2012, apprcadiaty 385,000 options were granted to certain ofemaployees under the 2010 Equity
Incentive Plan at an exercise price of $6.58 pares(iC$6.47 at date of issuance). The fair valub®bption grant was estimated to be $4.04
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
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No options were granted during the year ended Dbee®i, 2011. The fair value of each option grawmhathg the years ended
December 28, 2013 and December 29, 2012 was estimatthe date of grant using the Black-Scholemomtricing model with the
following assumptions:

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 2¢ December 31
2013 2012 2011
Risk-free interest rate 1.7% 2.4% n/e
Average expected life (yeatr 10.C 6.5 n/e
Expected volatility 32.3% 66.4% n/e
Expected dividend yiel — — n/e
Stock option activity was as follows:
Weighted
Weighted average A_gg_reg_ate
average remaining intrinsic
Shares exercise contractual term value (C$)
(in thousands price (C$) (years) (in thousands
Balance at January 1, 201: 704 $ 16.6i 4.2 $ 625.(
Exercisec (275) 1.32
Forfeited or expires (145 38.2i
Balance at December 31, 201 284 $ 20.4i 1.7 $ 263.(
Granted 38t 6.47
Forfeited or expirer (207) 24.4(
Balance at December 29, 2012 46€ $ 7.2¢ 7.8 $ 819.¢
Granted 392 9.3¢
Forfeited or expires (30) 6.47
Balance at December 28, 2013 83C $ 8.2¢ 7.€ $ 1,068.
Vested at December 28, 201 12¢ $ 9.4¢ 1.1 $ 386.%
Exercisable at December 28, 2013 12¢ $ 9.4¢ 1.1 $ 386.°

The aggregate intrinsic value amounts in the tabteve represent the difference between the clgming of our common stock on the
Toronto Stock Exchange on December 28, 2013, wiiach C$8.65 (December 29, 2012— C$7.90; Decembe2@®1,—C$6.40), and the
exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-theney stock options as of the same date. There meestock options exercised during the
years ended December 28, 2013 and December 29, PBé2otal intrinsic value of stock options exsed during the year end
December 31, 2011 was $0.4 million.

Total compensation cost related to unvested awardsr the option plan not yet recognized is $1.Mani The total fair value of shar
that vested during the year ended December 28, @asil.
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Outstanding options at December 28, 2013 werelksv®

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Number Remaining Weighted Number Weighted
Exercise Exercisable Contractual Average Exercisi Exercisable Average Exercist
Prices (C$ (in thousands Life (Years) Price (C$) (in thousands Price (C$)
$ 3.5C 75 1.6 $ 3.5C 75 $ 3.5C
$ 6.47 313 8.2 $ 6.41 — $ —
$ 09.3¢ 392 9.3 $ 9.3¢ — $ —
$ 18.4¢ 50 0.3 $ 18.4¢ 50 $ 18.4¢
83C 7.6 $ 8.2¢ 12t $ 9.4¢

Long-Term Incentive Plans
Amended and Restated Equity Plan

Our shareowners approved our 2010 Equity Incertlaa at the Annual and Special Meeting of Shareosvheld on May 4, 2010.
Awards under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan majnitee form of incentive stock options, non-qualifistock options, restricted shares,
restricted share units, performance shares, pegafoceunits, stock appreciation rights, and stogkrneats to employees, directors and out
consultants. The 2010 Equity Incentive Plan is aistered by the HRCC or any other board committemay be designated by the board
from time to time. At the inception of the 2010 Eguncentive Plan, 4,000,000 shares were resefwefiliture issuance, subject to adjustn
upon a share split, share dividend, recapitalinatmd other similar transactions and events.

On February 14, 2013, our board of directors adbfiie Amended and Restated Equity Plan, pursuamhich the 2010 Equity
Incentive Plan was amended and restated to, antbeg things, increase the number of shares thatbeagsued under the plan to 12,000,
shares and to provide that the number of sharébleafor issuance will be reduced 2.0 shares#wh share issued pursuant to a “full-value”
award (i.e., an award other than an option or stggkeciation right) after the effective date af ftmendment and restatement. The Amendec
and Restated Equity Plan was approved by Cott'seshaers on April 30, 2013.

Awards under the Amended and Restated Equity PEnbra in the form of incentive stock options, naraified stock options,
restricted shares, restricted share units, perfocamahares, performance units, stock appreciaitjhist and stock payments to employees,
directors and outside consultants. The AmendedRastiated Equity Plan is administered by the HRC@ngrother board committee as may
be designated by the board from time to time.

On May 2, 2013, we granted 87,190 common shar#getoon-management members of our board of direciatler the Amended and
Restated Equity Plan with a grant date fair valuepproximately $0.8 million. The common sharesenissued in consideration of the
directors’ annual board retainer fee and were degp®n issuance.

In 2013, we granted 247,181 Performance-based RE82$452 Time-based RSUs and 392,131 stock optioosrtain of our
employees. The Performance-based RSUs vest badhd anhievement of a specified target level oftaxeincome for the period beginning
on December 30, 2012 and ending on the last dayo2015 fiscal year. The amount of Performancet#&SUs that may vest and the
related unrecognized compensation cost is suljestidnge based on the level of targeted pre-tapniechat is achieved during the period
beginning on December 30, 2012 and ending on Btalky of our 2015 fiscal year. The Time-based R&usthe stock options vest on the
last day of our 2015 fiscal year.

On May 3, 2012, we granted 96,010 common shar#getaoon-management members of our board of direciwtler the 2010 Equity
Incentive Plan with a grant date fair value of apgmately $0.7 million. The common shares wereésssin consideration of the directors’
annual board retainer fee and were vested upoarissu

In 2012, we granted 330,969 Performance-based R8115996 Time-based RSUs and 384,546 stock optioosrtain of our
employees. The Performance-based RSUs vest badhd anhievement of a specified target level oftaxeincome for the period beginning
on January 1, 2012 and ending on the last day 02014 fiscal year. The amount of Performance-b&®ds that may vest and the related
unrecognized compensation cost is subject to chhaged on the level of targeted pre-tax incomeish@athieved during the period beginning
on January 1, 2012 and ending on the last day 02014 fiscal year. The Time-based RSUs and thekgiptions vest on the last day of our
2014 fiscal year.
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On May 6, 2011, we granted 76,110 common shar#getoon-management members of our board of direciwter the 2010 Equity
Incentive Plan with a grant date fair value of apgmately $0.7 million. The common shares wereésssim consideration of the directors’
annual board retainer fee and were vested upoarissu

In 2011, we granted 592,163 Performance-based R8t4451,545 Time-based RSUs to certain of our eygpe The Performance-
based RSUs vest based on the achievement of disgaarget level of préax income for the period beginning on Januaryd,12and endin
on the last day of our 2013 fiscal year. The penfomce targets established for these PerformanesiSUs were not met, and as a result,
such awards did not vest. The Time-based RSUsd/est¢he last day of our 2013 fiscal year and dudanuary 2014 we issued 71,204
shares, net of shares withheld to satisfy the eyegle’ tax obligations.

During the year ended December 28, 2013, Perforezaased RSU and Time-based RSU activity was asnsl|

Weighted Weighted
Number of Average Number of Average
Performance- Grant-Date Time-basec Grant-Date
(in thousands’ based RSU: Fair Value RSUs Fair Value
Balance at December 29, 20 82t $ 7.8 52¢ $ 7.2
Awarded 247 9.2¢ 382 9.2¢
Issued — — (32 7.4C
Cancellec (509¢) 8.5¢ — —
Forfeited (30) 7.81 (48) 7.3(C
Outstanding at December 28, 2( 534 $ 7.8 831 $ 8.04

Shares to be issued pursuant to Time-based RSUeriance-based RSUs, or stock options that afeifed, expired, or are cancelled
or settled without the issuance of shares retuthg¢gool of shares available for issuance undeAtnended and Restated Equity Plan. As of
December 28, 2013, there were 7,619,472 sharekbleafor future issuance under the Amended andaRss Equity Plan.

Average Canadian—U.S. Dollar Exchange Rates for 2812012 and 2011

The weighted average exercise prices for optionkignNote are disclosed in Canadian dollars. Bhéetbelow represents the average
Canadian dollar to U.S. dollar exchange rate ferfical years ended 2013, 2012 and 2011.

For the Year Ended

December 2& December 2¢ December 31
2013 2012 2011
Average exchange rate $ 097 $  1.00C $ 1.017

Note 8— Net Income per Common Share

Basic net income per common share is computed\bglidg net income by the weighted average numbe&oaimon shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted net income per commaarshs calculated using the weighted average nuofi@mmon shares outstanding
adjusted to include the effect, if dilutive, of theercise of in-the-money stock options, Perfornealngsed RSUs and Time-based RSUs.
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A reconciliation of the denominators of the basid diluted net income per common share computat#oas follows:

For the Year Ended

December 2¢ December 2¢ December 31

(in thousands' 2013 2012 2011
Weighted average number of shares outstandingc bas 94,75( 94,55: 94,24:
Dilutive effect of stock option 55 32 33
Dilutive effect of Performan«-based RSU 302 58 727
Dilutive effect of Timebased RSU 52t 132 —
Adjusted weighted average number of shares outistgrd

diluted 95,63 94,77¢ 95,00:

At December 28, 2013, options to purchase 830,D@@é¢mber 29, 2012—468,000; December 31, 2011—28%sMares of common
stock at a weighted average exercise price of @®2cember 29, 2012— C$7.28; December 31, 2011-6@3%2 per share were
outstanding, of which 442,131 (December 29, 2012;0@® December 31, 2011—209,000) were not includede computation of diluted
net income per share because the options’ exqudises were greater than the average market pfiteeaommon shares. Shares purchased
on the open market and held by independent trustsadegorized as treasury shares under applieabtaunting rules. No shares were held in
treasury at December 28, 2013. In 2012, we utilagch shares to satisfy the vesting of Time-basgd'&granted in 2010. For the year er
December 31, 2011, we excluded 674,397 treasurgslmeld in various trusts from the calculatiomas$ic and diluted earnings per share.

Note 9— Segment Reporting

Our business operates through three reporting setgméNorth America (which includes our U.S. opergtasegment and Canada
operating segment), U.K. (which includes our Unitédgdom reporting unit and our Continental Eurapegporting unit), and All Other
(which includes our Mexico operating segment, oGt Bperating segment and other Miscellaneous Exggn€orporate is not treated as a
segment; it includes certain general and adminig&@osts that are not allocated to any of themépg segments. The primary measures |
in evaluating our reporting segments are revery@sating income (loss), and additions to propgrgnt and equipment, which have been
included as part of our segment disclosures liseddw. During the fourth quarter of 2013, managetmeviewed our reporting segments and
subsequently combined our Mexico and RCI reposiegments with the segment previously classifieéllb®ther into one segment
classified as All Other. Prior year information Heeen updated to reflect the change in our regpeagments.

December 28, 201.
North United All

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ America Kingdom Other Corporate Total

External revenué $1,535.: $ 494.: $64.5 $ — $2,094.(
Depreciation and amortizatic 84.4 14.2 2.2 — 100.¢
Operating income (lost 67.5 25.€ 7.2 (12.9) 88.¢€
Property, plant and equipme 363.< 111.C 9.4 — 483.7
Goodwill 124.( 8.8 4.5 — 137.:
Intangibles and other assi 268.2 27.1 0.3 — 296.2
Total asset? 1,089.! 296.: 40.2 — 1,426.:
Additions to property, plant and equipmi 41.¢ 12.4 1.3 — 55.€

1. Intersegment revenue between North America andtther reporting segments was $21.0 million forythar ended December 28, 20
2. Excludes intersegment receivables, investmentsates receivable
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December 29, 201

North United All

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ America Kingdom Other Corporate Total
External revenué $1,707 .« $ 473.% $70.C $ — $2,250.¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 82.7 13.2 1.8 — 97.7
Operating income (los! 90.4 27.1 4.3 (12.7) 109.%
Property, plant and equipme 382.1 99.t 9.3 — 490.¢
Goodwill 125.¢ — 4.5 — 130.:
Intangibles and other assi 301.1 13.€ 0.4 — 315.¢
Total asset? 1,246.° 273.¢ 45.¢ — 1,565.¢
Additions to property, plant and equipmi 52.¢ 14.5 2.5 — 69.7
1. Intersegment revenue between North America andtther reporting segments was $16.4 million forythar ended December 29, 20

2. Excludes intersegment receivables, investmentsates receivable

December 31, 201

North United All

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ America Kingdom Other Corporate Total
External revenué $1,809.! $ 447.¢ $77.4 $ — $2,334.¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 80.C 13.2 2.1 — 95.2
Asset impairment — — 0.€ — 0.€
Intangible asset impairmer 14 — — — 1.4
Operating income (los! 81.2 27.t 2.8 (10.9 100.%
Property, plant and equipme 383.1 89.¢ 9.3 — 482.2
Goodwill 125.] — 4.5 — 129.¢
Intangibles and other assi 326.1 14.€ 0.4 — 341.1
Total asset? 1,231. 237.( 40.€ — 1,508.¢
Additions to property, plant and equipmi 39.1 9.5 0.2 — 48.¢
1. Intersegment revenue between North America andtther reporting segments was $14.7 million forythar ended December 31, 20

2. Excludes intersegment receivables, investmentsateb receivable

For the year ended December 28, 2013, sales to #vaéocounted for 30.1% (2012—31.0%; 20131-6%) of our total revenue, 36.:
of our North America reporting segment revenue 22886.3%; 2011—35.9%), 14.8% of our U.K. reportiegment revenue (2012%4.9%:
2011—14.6%) and 3.9% of our All Other reportingreegt revenue (2012—12.0%; 2011—30.0%).

Credit risk arises from the potential default afustomer in meeting its financial obligations with Concentrations of credit exposure
may arise with a group of customers that have aingitonomic characteristics or that are locatdtlérsame geographic region. The ability of
such customers to meet obligations would be silyikfected by changing economic, political or athenditions. We are not currently aw
of any facts that would create a material credk.ri
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Revenues are attributed to operating segments loawsttk location of the customer. Revenues by tipgraegment were as follows:

For the Year Ended

December 2¢

December 2¢

December 31

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ 2013 2012 2011
United States $ 1,376.¢ $ 1,509.: $ 1,610:!
Canade 204.1 2442 249.(
United Kingdom 494 473.2 447 ¢
Mexico 27.€ 38.¢ 51.t
RCI 36.¢ 31.2 25.€
Elimination? (45.9 (45.9) (50.2)

Total $ 2,094.( $ 2,250.¢ $ 2,334.¢

1. Represents intercompany revenue among our opgrseigments, of which $21.0 million, $16.4 milliand $14.7 million represents
intersegment revenue between the North Americartiegosegment and our other operating segment®éaember 28,
2013, December 29, 2012, and December 31, 201dectgely.

Revenues by product by reporting segment werelksvisi

(in millions of U.S. dollars’

Revenu

Carbonated soft drink
Juice

Concentratt

All other products

Total

(in millions of U.S. dollars’
Revenu

Carbonated soft drink
Juice

Concentratt

All other products
Total

For the Year Ended December 28, 201

North United
America Kingdom All Other Total
$ 586.F $ 159.t $ 10.€ $ 756.¢
488.4 31.¢ 2.9 523.1
12.C 2.2 27.C 41.2
448.3 300.¢ 23.8 772.¢
$ 1,535.: $ 494.: $ 64F $ 2,094.(
For the Year Ended December 29, 201
North United
America Kingdom All Other Total
$ 698.( $ 160.¢ $ 21¢ $ 880.¢
527.2 14.C 2.7 543.¢
12.: 2.2 29.1 43.€
469.¢ 296.] 16.5 782.3
$ 1,707.¢ $ 473. $ 70.C $ 2,250.
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For the Year Ended December 31, 201

North United

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ America Kingdom All Other Total
Revenu

Carbonated soft drink $ 731.¢ $ 179.C $ 39.¢ $ 950.2
Juice 587.7 12.: 2.7 602.7
Concentratt 9.1 2.8 25.€ 37.t
All other products 481.1 253.¢ 9.5 744.2
Total $ 1,809.: $ 447.¢ $ 77.4 $ 2,334.¢

Property, plant and equipment by geographic ared Becember 28, 2013 and December 29, 2012 wealaws:

December 2¢

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ 2013
United States $ 319t
Canade 43.¢
United Kingdom 111.C
Mexico 9.4

Total $ 483

Note 10— Accounts Receivable, Net

December 2¢

2012
$ 333.i
48.4
99.8
9.3
$ 490.¢

The following table summarizes accounts receivaig¢ as of December 28, 2013 and December 29, 2012:

December 2&

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ 2013
Trade receivables $ 199.t
Allowance for doubtful accoun (5.9
Other 10.7

Total $ 204.¢

Note 11— Inventories
The following table summarizes inventories as of&maber 28, 2013 and December 29, 2012:

December 2¢

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ 2013
Raw materials $ 89.C
Finished good 126.:
Other 17.¢

Total $ 233.1

F-31

December 2¢

2012
$ 199:¢
(6.9)
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Note 12— Property, Plant & Equipment
The following table summarizes property, plant angdipment as of December 28, 2013 and Decemb&022;

December 28, 201. December 29, 201
Accumulated Accumulated

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ Cost Depreciation Net Cost Depreciation Net

Land and Land Improvements $ 281 % — $281 $ 27 % — $ 27.:
Buildings 162.¢ 74.2 88.4 167.2 68.C 99.2
Machinery and equipme 725. 395.1 330.: 692.¢ 376.: 316.5
Plates, films and molc 427 32.t 10.2 42.1 30.¢ 11.2
Vending 12.1 11.2 0.¢ 12.¢ 11.€ 1.2
Transportation equipme 0.7 0.€ 0.1 0.€ 0.€ —

Leasehold improvemen 36.t 23.1 13.4 39.4 22.t 16.€
IT Systems 8.¢ 7.2 1.€ 8.2 7.C 1.2
Furniture and fixture 10.5 8.8 iLg 10.2 9.C 1.2
Capital lease 14.: 5.1 9.2 20.1 4.C 16.1
Total $1,041¢ $ 557.¢ $483.7 $1,020.f $ 529.¢ $490.¢

Depreciation expense for the year ended Decemh&@8 was $69.4 million ($66.0 million—December 2012; $63.5 —December
31, 2011).

Note 13— Intangibles and Other Assets

The following table summarizes intangibles and pHssets as of December 28, 2013 and Decembe022; 2

December 28, 201 December 29, 201
Accumulated Accumulated
(in millions of U.S. dollars’ Cost Amortization Net Cost Amortization Net
Intangibles
Not subject to amortizatic
Rights $45.C % = $45.C $45.C % = $ 45.C
Subject to amortizatio
Customer relationshir 379.t 167.5 212.( 367.t 142.¢ 225.(
Trademarks 32.¢ 25.2 7.4 28.¢ 23.2 5.E
Information technolog 50.4 32.¢ 17.t 65.2 50.2 15.C
Other 6.€ 4.C 2.€ 11.€ 8.5 3.4
469.] 229.€ 239.5 473.2 224.% 248.¢
514.] 229.¢ 284.% 518.4 224.% 293.¢
Other Assets
Financing cost 26.2 16.2 10.1 24.£ 11.1 13.c
Deposits 1.1 — 1.1 7.2 — 7.2
Other 0.€ 0.4 0.t 1.2 0.3 1.C
28.2 16.€ 11.7 32.¢ 11.4 21.t
Total Intangibles & Other Assets $542.¢ $ 246.2 $296.2 $551.2 $ 235.¢ $315.

Amortization expense of intangible and other assets $34.2 million during 2013 ($35.4 million—Dedeen 29, 2012; $35.7 million—
December 31, 2011). Amortization of intangibledudes $2.9 million ($2.9 million—December 29, 20$2;7 million—December 31, 201:
relating to information technology assets and $&il8on ($3.7 million—December 29, 2012; $3.9 nmoli—December 31, 2011) relating to
deferred financing assets.
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The estimated amortization expense for intangibtk@her assets over the next five years is:

(in millions of U.S. dollars’

2014 $ 30.€
2015 28.¢
2016 25.2
2017 21.¢
2018 20.¢
Thereaftel 111.%
Total $239.k

Note 14— Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
The following table summarizes accounts payablesadued liabilities as of December 28, 2013 andelber 29, 2012:

December 2¢ December 2¢
(in millions of U.S. dollars’ 2013 2012
Trade payables $ 197.: $ 166.¢
Deferred income taxe 0.2 —
Accrued compensatic 19.1 38.t
Accrued sales incentive 28.4 27.Z
Accrued interes 11.2 12.€
Payroll, sales and other tax 14.¢ 12.c
Other accrued liabilitie 27.2 29.¢
Total $ 298.2 $ 287.7
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Note 15— Debt
Our total debt as of December 28, 2013 and Dece2the?012 was as follows

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ December 28, 201 December 29, 201

8.375% senior notes due in 2017 15.C 215.(
8.125% senior notes due in 2C 375.( 375.(
ABL facility 50.¢ —
GE Term Loar 10.2 9.€
Capital leases and other debt financ 7.2 5.¢
Total debt 458.: 605.¢
Less: Sho-term borrowings and current de

ABL facility 50.¢ —

Total short-term borrowings 50.¢ —

GE Term Loar- current maturitie: 1.6 0.€

Capital leases and other financing - curren

maturities 2.C 1.C

Total current debt 54.7 1.¢
Long-term debt before discou 403.¢ 603.¢

Less discount on 8.375% no! (0.7) (2.7
Total long-term debt $ 403.t $ 601.¢

1 Our 8.375% senior notes were issued at a discdun#85% on November 13, 20(

The long-term debt payments (which include curraaturities of long-term debt) required in eachiaf hext five years and thereafter
are as follows:

Long Term Debt
(incl. current)

(in millions of U.S. dollars’

2014 $ 54.7
2015 4.2
2016 3.5
2017 17.¢
2018 377.2
Thereaftel 0.9

$ 458.%

Asse-Based Lending Facility

On March 31, 2008, we entered into a credit agre¢mih JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Agent thaater an asset-based lending
credit facility (the “ABL facility”) to provide firancing for our North America, U.K. and Mexico opéras. In connection with the Cliffstar
Acquisition, we refinanced the ABL facility on Augiul7, 2010 to, among other things, provide forGlifistar Acquisition, the issuance of
the 2018 Notes and the application of net procéieetefrom, the underwritten public offering of 1803000 common shares at a price of $
per share and the application of net proceedsftioeneand to increase the amount available for lwimgs to $275.0 million. We drew dowi
portion of the indebtedness under the ABL facilityrder to fund the Cliffstar Acquisition. We incad $5.4 million of financing fees in
connection with the refinancing of the ABL facility

On July 19, 2012, we amended the ABL facility tmamg other things, extend the maturity date toeeiftuly 19, 2017 or, if we have r
redeemed, repurchased or refinanced the 2017 Kagefefined below) by May 1, 2017, May 15, 2017.iweirred $1.2 million of financing
fees in connection with the amendment of the ABtilitg. This amendment was considered to be a niatibn of the original agreement
under generally accepted accounting standards.

F-34



Table of Contents

On October 22, 2013, we amended the ABL facilityatmong other things, (1) provide for an increasthé lenders’ commitments
under the ABL facility to $300.0 million, as welhancrease to the accordion feature, which perust® increase the lenders’ commitments
under the ABL facility to $350.0 million, subjedt tertain conditions, (2) extend the maturity datthe earliest of (i) October 22, 2018,

(i) May 15, 2017, if we have not redeemed, repasg or refinanced the 2017 Notes by May 1, 20d{iioMarch 1, 2018, if we have not
redeemed, repurchased or refinanced the 2018 KgtEebruary 15, 2018, and (3) provide for greddilbility under certain covenants. We
incurred approximately $0.7 million of financingefein connection with the amendment of the ABLIfgciThis amendment was considered
to be a modification of the original agreement urgkmnerally accepted accounting standards.

The financing fees incurred in connection with ténancing of the ABL facility on August 17, 2018lpng with the financing fees
incurred in connection with the amendment of thd A8cility on July 19, 2012 and on October 22, 204& being amortized using the
straight line method over the duration of the aneehdBL facility.

As of December 28, 2013, we had $50.8 million dstanding borrowings under the ABL. The commitmieetwas 0.375% per annum
of the unused commitment, which, taking into ac¢d@m5 million of letters of credit, was $180.0 Ioih as of December 28, 2013.

The effective interest rate as of December 28, 2B1LBIBOR and Prime loans is based on average ggtgavailability as follows:

Eurodollar CDOR Overnight
ABR Canadian
Average Aggregate Availability (in millions of U.S.dollars) Spreac Prime Spreac Spread Spreac LIBOR
Over $150 0.25% 0.25% 1.75% 1.75% 1.75%
$75- $150 0.5(% 0.5(% 2.0(% 2.0(% 2.0(%
Under $7& 0.75% 0.75% 2.25% 2.25% 2.25%

8.125% Senior Notes due in 2018

On August 17, 2010, we issued the 2018 Notes. 3$eer of the 2018 Notes is our wholly-owned U.Bsaliary Cott Beverages Inc.,
and most of our U.S., Canadian and United Kingdabsgliaries guarantee the 2018 Notes. The interetite 2018 Notes is payable semi-
annually on March 1st and September 1st of each yea

We incurred $8.6 million of financing fees in cortien with the issuance of the 2018 Notes. Thertfireg fees are being amortized
using the effective interest method over an eigtgryperiod, which represents the term to matufithe 2018 Notes.

8.375% Senior Notes due in 2017

On November 13, 2009, we issued $215.0 millionesfiar notes that are due on November 15, 2017207 Notes”).The 2017 Note
were issued at a $3.1 million discount. The issi¢ghe 2017 Notes is our wholly-owned U.S. subsidi@ott Beverages Inc., and most of our
U.S., Canadian and United Kingdom subsidiaries antee the 2017 Notes. The interest on the 2017sNefeayable semi-annually on
May 15th and November 15th of each year.

We incurred $5.1 million of financing fees in cootien with the 2017 Notes. The financing fees amd amortized using the effective
interest method over an eight-year period, whighasents the term to maturity of the 2017 Notes.

On November 15, 2013, we redeemed $200.0 milligregate principal amount of our 2017 Notes at 1TBP4 of par. The redemption
included approximately $8.2 million in premium pagmbs as well as approximately $4.5 million in deddrfinancing fees, discount charges
and other bond redemption costs.

On February 19, 2014, we redeemed all $15.0 millioaggregate principal amount of the remainingtautding 2017 Notes at
104.118% of par. The redemption included approxétye®0.6 million in premium payments as well asragpnately $0.3 million in deferred
financing fees and discount charges.

F-35



Table of Contents

GE Term Loan

In January 2008, we entered into a capital leamentie arrangement with GE Capital for the leassafpment. In September 2013, we
purchased the equipment subject to the lease faggregate purchase price of $10.7 million, with fihancing for such purchase providec
General Capital at 5.23% interest.

Covenant Compliance
8.125% Senior Notes due in 2018

Under the indenture governing the 2018 Notes, wesabject to a number of covenants, including camenthat limit our and certain of
our subsidiariesability, subject to certain exceptions and quadifions, to (i) pay dividends or make distributiorepurchase equity securiti
prepay subordinated debt or make certain invessnéijtincur additional debt or issue certain dialified stock or preferred stock, (iii) cre:
or incur liens on assets securing indebtednegsim@rge or consolidate with another company oradetir substantially all of our assets taken
as a whole, (v) enter into transactions with &fféis and (vi) sell assets. We have been in congdiaith all of the covenants under the 2018
Notes and there have been no amendments to anygsuehants since the 2018 Notes were iss

8.375% Senior Notes due in 2017

Under the indenture governing the 2017 Notes, wesabject to a number of covenants, including camenthat limit our and certain of
our subsidiariesability, subject to certain exceptions and quadifions, to (i) pay dividends or make distributioregurchase equity securiti
prepay subordinated debt or make certain invessnéijtincur additional debt or issue certain dialified stock or preferred stock, (iii) cre:
or incur liens on assets securing indebtednegsim@rge or consolidate with another company oradetir substantially all of our assets taken
as a whole, (v) enter into transactions with &fféis and (vi) sell assets. We have been in congdiaith all of the covenants under the 2017
Notes and there have been no amendments to anysuehants since the 2017 Notes were iss

ABL Facility

Under the credit agreement governing the ABL figilCott and its restricted subsidiaries are suhia number of business and
financial covenants, including a covenant requianminimum fixed charge coverage ratio of at ldastto 1.0, effective when and if excess
availability is less than the greater of 10% of ldreders’ commitments under the ABL facility or $30nillion. If excess availability is less
than the greater of 12.5% of the lenders’ commitsiender the ABL facility or $37.5 million, the léers will take dominion over the cash
and will apply excess cash to reduce amounts owugr the facility. We were in compliance with @fithe applicable covenants under the
ABL facility as of December 28, 2013.

Note 16— Benefit Plans

We maintain three defined benefit plans resultiognf prior acquisitions that cover certain employagesne plant in the United States
under a collective bargaining agreement (“U.S. Bland certain employees of Cott Beverages Limited@moke Bros. Limited in the Uniti
Kingdom (“U.K. Plans”). Retirement benefits for eloyees covered by the U.S. Plan are based on géagsvice multiplied by a monthly
benefit factor. The monthly benefit for employeesler the U.K. Plans is based on years of servidéptied by a monthly benefit factor.
Pension costs are funded in accordance with thésioos of the applicable law. All plans are closedew participants. The Cooke Bros.
Limited Plan is frozen and was acquired as patti@fCalypso Soft Drinks Acquisition. We use a Delben28th measurement date for all of
our plans.

F-36



Table of Contents

Obligations and Funded Status

The following table summarizes the change in theelieobligation, change in plan assets and unfdredatus of the three plans as of
December 28, 2013 and December 29, 2012:

December 2¢ December 2¢
(in millions of U.S. dollars’ 2013 2012
Change in Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $ 41.¢ $ 39.¢
Transfer in 17.¢ —
Service cos 0.t 0.t
Interest cos 24 1.6
Plan participant contributior 0.1 0.1
Benefit payment (1.5 (0.9
Actuarial losses (gain: 0.7 (0.6)
Translation losses (gain 0.7 1.t
Benefit obligation at end of ye $ 62.5 $ 41.¢
Change in Plan Assets
Plan assets beginning of ye $ 33.2 $ 27.t
Transfer in 11.1 —
Employer contribution 3.C 2.C
Plan participant contributior 0.1 0.1
Benefit payment (1.9 (0.€
Actual return on plan asse 3.1 3.t
Translation (gains) lossi 0.€ 1.C
Fair value at end of ye: $ 49.€ $ 33.2
Funded Status of Plar
Projected benefit obligatic $ (62.5) $ (41.9)
Fair value of plan asse 49.€ 33.2
Unfunded statu $ (12.9 $ (8.6)

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defibedefit pension plans equaled $59.1 million and&&&llion at the end of 2013 and
2012, respectively.
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Periodic Pension Cos

The components of net periodic pension cost wefelksvs:

For the Years Ended

December 2¢

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ 2013

Service cost $ 0.t
Interest cos 2.4
Expected return on plan ass (2.9
Amortization of prior service cos 0.1
Amortization of net los 0.3
Net periodic pension co $ 0.€

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (L

December 2¢

2012
$ 0.5
1.€
1.7)
0.1
1.
$ 1.6

December 31

2011
$ 0.5
1.€
1.9
0.1
0.

$ 1.1

Amounts included in accumulated other compreherisis@me, net of tax, at year-end which have noten recognized in net

periodic benefit cost were as follows:

For the Years Ended

December 2¢

(in millions of U.S. dollars’ 2013

Unamortized prior service cost $ (0.2

Unrecognized net actuarial g¢ 5.7

Unamortized prior service bene $ 5.8
Assumption:

Assumptions used to determine benefit obligatidngear-end:

December 2¢

2013
Discount rate 4.5%

Assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit at year-end:

December 2¢

2013
U.K. Plans
Discount rate 4.5%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan
asset 6.1%
Inflation factor 2.2%
U.S. Plar
Discount rate 4.4%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan
assett 7.C%

December 2¢

2012
$ (09
5.2
$ 5.

December 2¢

2012
4.5%

December 2¢

2012
4.€%

5.7%
3.3%

3.5%

7.C%

December 31

2011
$ (04
8.t
$ 8.1

December 31

2011

4.5%

December 31

2011

5.4%

6.%
3.7%

4.1%

7.C%

The discount rate for the U.S. Plan is based oma@ehportfolio of AA rated bonds with a maturity tolaed to the estimated payouts of
future pension benefits for this type of plan. Higcount rate of the U.K. Plans for 2012 and 20&tewbased on a model portfolio of AA
rated bonds, using the redemption yields on thet@aent stocks of the Merrill Lynch index with atarity matched to the estimated future
pension benefits. The discount rate of the U.Kn®lfar 2013 is based on the Annualized yield ofAba Hewitt GBP Select AA Curve. The
weighted average return for the plans for the yealed December 28, 2013 was 7.6%. The expecteuisainder the U.S. Plan and the U.K.
Plans on plan assets are based on our expectdtiba long-term average rate of return on assetisarpension funds, which is based on the

allocation of assets.
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Asset Mix
Our pension plan weighted-average asset allocabiprsset category were as follows:

December 2€ December 2¢
2013 2012
U.K. Plans
Equity securitie: 59.2% 59.(%
Debt securitie: 37.&% 40.€%
Cash 3.C% 0.4%
U.S. Plar
Equity securitie: 67.(% 65.2%
Debt securitie: 32.4% 32.2%
Cash 0.6% 2.3%

Plan Asset:

Our investment policy is that plan assets will kenaged utilizing an investment philosophy and aaginacharacterized by all of the
following, but listed in priority order: (1) emphasn total return, (2) emphasis on highality securities, (3) sufficient income and sliapof
income, (4) safety of principal with limited voltily of capital through proper diversification afis) sufficient liquidity. (The target allocation
percentages for the Cooke Bros. Limited Plan asset80% in equity securities and 20% in debt seéesir The target allocation percentages
for the Cott Beverages Limited Plan assets are B08quity securities and 40% in debt securities fdrget allocation percentages for the
U.S. Plan assets are 50% in equity securities 886lif debt securities. None of our equity or de&lusities are included in plan assets.)

Cash Flows
We expect to contribute $3.1 million to the pengatems during the 2014 fiscal year.
The following benefit payments are expected to did:p

(in millions of U.S. dollars’
Expected benefit payments

FY 2014 $1.7
FY 2015 1.8
FY 2016 1.¢
FY 2017 1.9
FY 2018 2.C
FY 2019 through FY 202 10.2

Cott primarily maintains defined contribution retinent plans covering qualifying employees. The @taense with respect to these
plans was $4.8 million for the year ended Decen2iBe2013 ($6.9 million—December 29, 2012; $6.4 imil—December 31, 2011).
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The fair values of the Company’s pension plan assebecember 28, 2013 were as follows:

December 28, 201
(in millions of U.S. dollars’ Level 1 Level 2 Level 2

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalel $ 1.3 $— $—
Equities:

International mutual func 21.1 — —
Index mutual fund: 6.8 — —
U.S. mutual fund: 1.1 — —
Property 0.1 — —
Balancec 0.4 — —
Other 0.3 — —
Fixed income:

Mutual funds 15.€ — —
Insurance contrac — 2.9 —
Total $46.7 $ 2.9 $—

The fair values of the Company’s pension plan assebDecember 29, 2012 were as follows:

December 29, 201.
(in millions of U.S. dollars’ Level 1 Level 2 Level 2

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivale! $ 0.1 $ 0.2 $—
Equities:

International mutual func 12.¢ — —
Index mutual fund: 5.€ — —
U.S. mutual fund: 0.€ — —
Balancec 0.4 — —
Other 2 — —
Fixed income:

Mutual funds 12.¢ — —
Insurance contrat — 0.2 —
Total $32.€ $ 04 $—
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Note 17— Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income

Changes in accumulated other comprehensive (Inssjrie by compone#for the year ended December 28, 2013 were as fellow

December 28, 201

Currency
Gains and Translation
Losses
on Derivative Pension Adjustment
Benefit
(in millions of U.S. dollars Instruments Plan Items Iltems Total

Beginning balance December 29, 2( $ 0.2 $ (99 $ (3.9 $(12.9)
OCI before reclassificatior 0.€ (0.2 (5.2 (4.7)
Amounts reclassified from AOC (0.6) 0.6 — &
Net currer-period OCI — 0.7 (5.7) (4.9
Ending balance December 28, 2( $ 0.2 $ (89 $ (8.6) $(16.€)

1. All amounts are net of tax. Amounts in parenth@xiicate debits

The following table summarizes the amounts rediassirom accumulated other comprehensive (loss)rimel for the year ended
December 28, 2013.

Amounts Reclassifier

(in millions of U.S. dollars From AOCI
For the Year Ended Affected Line Item in the Statemen
Details About AOCI Components December 28, 2013 Where Net Income Is Presented
Gains and losses on derivative instrum
Foreign currency hedg: $ 0.€ Cost of sale:
$ 0.€ Total before taxe
— Tax (expense) or bene
$ 0.€ Net of tax
Amortization of pension benefit plan itet
Prior service cost? $ (0.9
Actuarial adjustment? (0.7
Actuarial (losses)/gair? (0.7)
(0.6) Total before taxe
(0.3 Tax (expense) or bene
$ (0.9 Net of tax
Total reclassifications for the peri $ (0.9 Net of tax

1. Amounts in parenthesis indicate dek
2. These AOCI components are included in the compartadf net periodic pension co
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Note 18— Commitments and Contingencies

We lease buildings, machinery and equipment, coemphardware and furniture and fixtures. All contuat increases and rent free
periods included in the lease contract are takendocount when calculating the minimum lease payjraad recognized on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Certain leases haveva¢periods and contingent rentals, which are nciuided in the table below. The minimum
annual payments under operating leases are asollo

(in millions of U.S. dollars’

2014 $17.7
2015 16.F
2016 14.C
2017 11.z
2018 9.7
Thereaftel 20.1
Total $89.2

Operating lease expenses were:

(in millions of U.S. dollars’
Year ended December 28, 2C $21.4
Year ended December 29, 2C 23.¢
Year ended December 31, 2C _25.¢€
Total $71.1

Operating lease expenses are shown net of subteasee of $0.3 million for 2013. As of December 2813, we had commitments for
capital expenditures of approximately $11.0 million

On August 17, 2010, we completed the Cliffstar Asdion, which included contingent consideratiorupfto $55.0 million. Contingent
consideration of $34.9 million was ultimately paidthe seller of Cliffstar, and all claims for corgent consideration have been resolved :
December 28, 2013.

In June 2013, we completed the Calypso Soft Dritguisition which included deferred payments of3&iillion and $3.0 million to
be paid on the first and second anniversary otlbging date.

We are subject to various claims and legal procegsaivith respect to matters such as governmergalatons, and other actions aris
out of the normal course of business. ManagemdigJes that the resolution of these matters witlimave a material adverse effect on our
financial position, results of operations, or céelw.

We had $7.5 million in standby letters of creditstanding as of December 28, 2013 ($11.0 millionee&@mber 29, 2012; $9.7
million—December 31, 2011).

We have future purchase obligations of $177.8 amlthat consist of commitments for the purchase#ntory, energy transactions,
and payments related to professional fees andnrgtion technology outsourcing agreements. Thesgaihins represent the minimum
contractual obligations expected under the normafse of business.

Note 19— Shares Held in Trust treated as Treasury Shares

In May 2008, an independent trustee acting undeaiceof our benefit plans purchased 2.3 millioroaf common shares to be used to
satisfy future liabilities under the PSU Plan anel Restated EISPP. During the year ended Decerb@022, we distributed 0.7 million
shares from the trust to satisfy certain 2010 Bguitentive Plan obligations that had vested dutirglast quarter of 2012. As of
December 28, 2013, there were no shares heldshdriaccounted for as treasury shares under apfi@accounting rules.
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Note 20— Hedging Transactions and Derivative Financial Instuments

We are directly and indirectly affected by chanigefreign currency market conditions. These charigenarket conditions may
adversely impact our financial performance andreferred to as market risks. When deemed apprepiimanagement, we use derivatives
as a risk management tool to mitigate the potemmtiphct of foreign currency market risks.

We purchase forward contract derivative instrumefdsward contracts are agreements to buy or splbatity of a currency at a
predetermined future date, and at a predetermattedor price. We do not enter into derivative ficiahinstruments for trading purposes.

All derivatives are carried at fair value in therSolidated Balance Sheets in the line item othezivables or other payables. The
carrying values of the derivatives reflect the itpaf legally enforceable agreements with the saoumterparties. These allow us to net s
positive and negative positions (assets and ltas)i arising from different transactions with ga&me counterparty.

The accounting for gains and losses that result thanges in the fair values of derivative instroteelepends on whether the
derivatives have been designated and qualify agihgdnstruments and the types of hedging relalignss The changes in fair values of
derivatives that have been designated and qualifiaah flow hedges are recorded in accumulated otingprehensive income (loss)
(“AOCI") and are reclassified into the line itemtime Consolidated Statements of Operations in wiiiehhedged items are recorded in the
same period the hedged items affect earnings. ®theethigh degree of effectiveness between theihgdigstruments and the underlying
exposures being hedged, fluctuations in the valikeoderivative instruments are generally offsgthanges in the fair values or cash flows
of the underlying exposures being hedged.

We formally designate and document, at inceptioa financial instrument as a hedge of a specifaedging exposure, the risk
management objective and the strategy for undergetkie hedge transaction. In addition, we formafigess both at the inception and at least
quarterly thereafter, whether the financial instemts used in hedging transactions are effectiodfsetting changes in either the fair value
cash flows of the related underlying exposures. leffective portion of a financial instrument’sasige in fair value is immediately
recognized into earnings.

We estimate the fair values of our derivatives Hasequoted market prices or pricing models usimgent market rates (refer to Note
21). The notional amounts of the derivative finah@istruments do not necessarily represent amaxttsanged by the parties and, therefore,
are not a direct measure of our exposure to ttamfial risks described above. The amounts exchaagedalculated by reference to the
notional amounts and by other terms of the derreatisuch as interest rates, foreign currency exgeheates or other financial indices. We do
not view the fair values of our derivatives in edn, but rather in relation to the fair valuesash flows of the underlying hedged
transactions. All of our derivatives are straightwiard over-the-counter instruments with liquid keds.

Credit Risk Associated with Derivatives

We have established strict counterparty creditgjiids and enter into transactions only with finahinstitutions of investment grade
better. We mitigate pre-settlement risk by beingnpted to net settle for transactions with the saraunterparty.

Cash Flow Hedging Strategy

We use cash flow hedges to minimize the variabititgash flows of assets or liabilities or foreeastransactions caused by fluctuations
in foreign currency exchange rates. The changésifair values of derivatives designated as clash iedges are recorded in AOCI and are
reclassified into the line item in the Consolida&tdtements of Operations in which the hedged iwmsecorded in the same period the
hedged items affect earnings. The changes in &ireg of hedges that are determined to be ineffeatie immediately reclassified from
AOCI into earnings. We did not discontinue any cielv hedging relationships during the year endedd&nber 28, 2013. The maximum
length of time over which we hedge our exposuritiore cash flows is typically one year.

We maintain a foreign currency cash flow hedginggpam to reduce the risk that our procurement gietsvwill be adversely affected
by changes in foreign currency exchange rates. M&r eto forward contracts to hedge certain pogiof forecasted cash flows denominated
in foreign currencies. The total notional valuedefivatives that have been designated and qualifpdr foreign currency cash flow hedging
program as of December 28, 2013 was approximat&f Sillion.
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The fair value of the Company’s derivative instruntsewas $0.3 million as of December 28, 2013.

The settlement of our derivative instruments reslib a credit to cost of sales of $0.6 million floe year ended December 28, 2013.

Note 21— Fair Value Measurements

ASC No. 820 defines fair value as the exchangeephat would be received for an asset or paidatasfier a liability (an exit price) in
the principal or most advantageous market for gseor liability in an orderly transaction betwegarket participants at the measurement
date. Additionally, the inputs used to measurevalue are prioritized based on a three-level hi¢gna This hierarchy requires entities to
maximize the use of observable inputs and minirtfizeuse of unobservable inputs.

The three levels of inputs used to measure fairevate as follows:

» Level }—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities.

» Level 2—Observable inputs other than quotedgsrincluded in Level 1, such as quoted pricesifailar assets and liabilities in
active markets; quoted prices for identical or massets and liabilities in markets that areawtive; or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observablkahdata

» Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are suppadotetittie or no market activity and that are sigeait to the fair value of the assets
or liabilities. This includes certain pricing moggtliscounted cash flow methodologies and simdahniques that use significant
unobservable input:

We have certain assets and liabilities that araired to be recorded at fair value on a recurriagi®in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

The fair value of our derivative asset representevel 2 instrument. Level 2 instruments are valbaged on observable inputs for
quoted prices for similar assets and liabilitiesative markets. The fair value for the derivatigsets as of December 28, 2013 and
December 29, 2012 was $0.3 million and $0.1 milli@spectively.

Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying amounts reflected in the Consolid&athnce Sheets for cash, receivables, payables;tem borrowings and long-term
debt approximate their respective fair values, pkas otherwise indicated. The carrying valuesestoinated fair values of our significant
outstanding debt as of December 28, 2013 and Demed®) 2012 were as follows:

December 28, 201. December 29, 201,
Carrying Fair Value Carrying
Fair
(in millions of U.S. dollars’ Value Value Value Value
8.375% senior notes due in 2017 15.C 15.€ 215.( 234.¢
8.125% senior notes due in 2Ct 375.( 404.7 375.( 414.¢
Total $ 390.( $ 419.% $ 590.( $649.2

1. The fair values were based on the trading leamtsbid/offer prices observed by a market partitigend are considered Level 1
financial instruments

Fair value of contingent consideration

The fair value of the contingent consideration fdg@n the Cliffstar Acquisition was based on sfg@int inputs not observed in the
market and thus represented a Level 3 instrum&velL3 instruments are valued based on unobserirghiés that are supported by little or
no market activity and reflect our own assumptionsieasuring fair value. The fair value of the dogént consideration as of December 29,
2012 was $0.6 million. There was no outstandingingent consideration as of December 28, 2013|l aststanding claims for contingent
consideration by the seller of Cliffstar were faaoly resolved by payment by Cott in February 20fl8pproximately $0.6 million.
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Note 22— Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)

Year ended December 28, 201
First Second Third Fourth

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amaus) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total

Revenue $505.2 $563.6 $543.2 $481.¢ $2,094.(
Cost of sale: 449.C 487.. 478.z 427.€ 1,842
Gross Profit 56.4 76.€ 65.C 54.C 252.(
Selling, general and administrative exper 41.: 41.7 37.¢ 39.t 160.¢
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and popgnt — 0.2 1.1 (0.9 ilC
Restructuring — 2.C — — 2.C
Operating incom: 15.1 32.6 26.C 14.¢ 88.€
Net income (loss) attributed to Cott Corporat $ — $16F $12.C $(115 $ 17.C

Per share dati
Net income (loss) per common sh

Basic $ — $017 $0.1Z $(0.12) $ 0.1¢
Diluted $ — $0217 $01: $(0.12) $ 0.1¢
Year ended December 29, 201
First Second Third Fourth
(in millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amats) Quarter Quarter Quarter  Quarter Total
Revenue $ 523.¢ $ 625.& $ 583.& $517.2 $2,250.¢
Cost of sale: 460.4 533.t 510.¢ 456.€ 1,961.
Gross Profif 63.4 92.c 73.2 60.€ 289.t
Selling, general and administrative exper 41.¢ 48.¢ 43.¢ 43.€ 178.(
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipn 0.€ 0.2 0.€ 0.1 1.8
Operating incom: 21.C 43.2 28.€ 16.€ 109.%
Net income attributed to Cott Corporati $ 5¢ $ 251 ¢ 145 $ 23 $ 47t
Per share dati
Net income per common she
Basic $ 006 $ 027 $ 0.1fF $0.02 $ 0.51
Diluted $ 006 $ 0.2¢ $ 0.1t $ 0.0z $ 0.5C

Note 23— Guarantor Subsidiaries

The 2017 Notes and 2018 Notes (together, the “Npigsued by our 100% owned subsidiary, Cott Begesanc., are guaranteed on a
senior basis pursuant to guarantees by Cott Caiporand certain other 100% owned direct and irdiseibsidiaries (the “Guarantor
Subsidiaries”). Cott Beverages Inc. and each Gaar&ubsidiary is 100% owned by Cott Corporatitve, guarantees of the Notes by Cott
Corporation and the Guarantor Subsidiaries areafull unconditional, and all such guarantees an¢ goid several. The guarantees of the
Guarantor Subsidiaries are subject to releaseniteld circumstances only upon the occurrence déirecustomary conditions.

We have not presented separate financial staterapdtseparate disclosures have not been providestaang Guarantor Subsidiaries
due to the presentation of condensed consolidétiagcial information set forth in this Note, costgint with SEC interpretations governing
reporting of subsidiary financial information.

The following supplemental financial informatiortséorth on an unconsolidated basis, our Balaneeth Statements of Operations
and Cash Flows for Cott Corporation, Cott Beverdges Guarantor Subsidiaries and our other suasas (the “Non-guarantor
Subsidiaries”)The supplemental financial information reflects owestments and those of Cott Beverages Inc.gir thspective subsidiari
using the equity method of accounting. In the tigudrter of 2012, we revised the financial statemefcertain Norguarantor Subsidiaries
properly reflect their capitalization and subseduewestment in certain Guarantor Subsidiariesltiegufrom a reorganization completed in
connection with the Cliffstar
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Acquisition. These Non-guarantor Subsidiaries, Whiave no business operations and no operatingsakséd, directly or indirectly, our
investments in substantially all of the GuarantobSdiaries and for financial reporting purposeshaee included these Non-guarantor
Subsidiaries as Guarantor Subsidiaries in the sapghtal financial information below for all periogisesented.

We reclassified certain intercompany dividends fesly reported in the Condensed Consolidatinge®tant of Cash Flows for each
period included in our Annual Report on Form 10fikese transactions represented intercompany diggleetween Cott Corporation, Cott
Beverages, Inc., the Guarantors and Non-Guararfbescash flows related to these transactions dhtave been classified as financing
activities. These reclassifications do not chamgetotal cash flows reported in each column preskim the Condensed Consolidating
Statement of Cash Flows. We assessed the matedétitese items on our previously issued annyadnteand quarterly financial statements
in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin.[98, and concluded that the errors were not naterithe consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole. The statements ofloashpresented below for the periods ended Deeer28, 2013, December 29, 2012 and
December 31, 2011 as revised, reflect the cortassification of intercompany dividends as finamcactivities.

F-46



Table of Contents

Revenue, ne

Cost of sale:

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative
expense:

Loss on disposal of property, plant &
equipmen

Restructuring

Operating (loss) income

Other expense (income), r

Intercompany interest (income) expense
net

Interest expense, n

(Loss) income before income tax expen:
(benefit) and equity income (loss)

Income tax (benefit) expen

Equity income (loss

Net income (loss)

Less: Net income attributable to non-
controlling interest:

Net income (loss) attributed to Cott
Corporation

Comprehensive income (loss) attributer
to Cott Corporation

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the year ended December 28, 2013

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott Cott Guarantor Non-Guarantor Elimination
Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
$ 170.¢ $ 780.2 $ 1,022.: $ 147.( $ (26.€ $ 2,094.(
149.( 673.¢ 916.€ 129.1 (26.€) 1,842.(
21.¢ 106.5 105.7 17.¢ — 252.(
28.¢ 70.3 52.1 9.1 — 160.4
0.1 0.8 0.t 0.1 — 1.C
0.t 0.5 0.7 0.8 — 2.C
(7.6) 35.¢ 52.4 8.4 — 88.€
0.4 12.E (0.1) — — 12.€
— (12.0 12.C — — —
— 50.¢ 0.7 0.1 — 51.€
(8.0) (15.9) 39.€ 8.2 — 24.2
(0.6) 4.€ (2.0 0.4 — 2.2
24.2 5.2 (7.9 — (22.7) —
$ 17.C $ (15.9) $ 34.t $ 7.€ $ (22 $ 22.C
— — — 5.C — 5.C
$ 17.C 3 (159 $ 345 3 26 $ (220 % 17.C
$ 12¢6 % (45 $ 292 $ 52 $ (299 $  12€
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Revenue, ne

Cost of sale:

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative
expense:

Loss on disposal of property, plant &
equipmen

Operating income

Contingent consideration earn-out
adjustmen

Other expense (income), r

Intercompany interest (income) expense
net

Interest expense, n

Income before income tax expense
(benefit) and equity income (loss)

Income tax expense (bene!

Equity income (loss

Net income

Less: Net income attributable to non-
controlling interest:

Net income attributed to Cott
Corporation

Comprehensive income (loss) attributer
to Cott Corporation

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations
For the year ended December 29, 2012

Cott Cott Guarantor Non-Guarantor Elimination
Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
$ 201t $ 864.t $ 1,042.¢ $ 172.¢ $ (Bl $ 2,250.¢
165.¢ 730.¢ 940.¢ 156.( (31.9 1,961.;
36.t 134.1 102.( 16.€ — 289.t
32.1 64.¢ 71.1 10.C — 178.(
— 0.7 0.€ 0.5 — 1.€
4.4 68.€ 30.: 6.4 — 109.7
— 0.€ — — — 0.€
0.4 (1.7 (0.6) (0.1) — (2.0
— (11.0 11.C — — —
0.1 53.c 0.7 0.1 — 54.2
3.¢ 27.2 19.2 6.4 — 56.¢
3. 2.2 (0.7) 0.1 — 4.€
46.¢ 5.C 30.5 — (82.2) —
$ 476 3 30 $ 504 % 62 $ (824 $  52:
_ — — 4.5 — 4.5
$ 478 3 302 $ 50<4 $ 1.6 $ (824 $  47¢
$ 601 3 526 $ (337 % 03 $ (@186 $ 601
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Revenue, ne

Cost of sale:

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative
expense:

Loss on disposal of property, plant &
equipmen

Asset impairment

Asset impairment
Intangible asset impairmer

Operating income

Contingent consideration earn-out
adjustmen

Other expense (income), r

Intercompany interest (income) expense,
net

Interest expense, n

Income (loss) before income tax expen
(benefit) and equity income (loss)

Income tax expense (bene!

Equity income

Net income

Less: Net income attributable to non-
controlling interest:

Net income (loss) attributed to Cott
Corporation

Comprehensive income (loss) attribute
to Cott Corporation

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the year ended December 31, 2011

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott Cott Guarantor Non-Guarantor Elimination
Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
$ 207.( $ 932.: $ 1,065.° $ 167.3 $ (37.9) $ 2,334.¢
167.¢ 825.F 951.7 150.% (37.9) 2,058.(
39.2 106.¢ 114.( 16.€ — 276.¢
30.1 59.C 71.¢ 11.€ — 172.7
— 0.4 0.8 — — 1.2
— — — 0.€ — 0.€
— 14 — — — 14
9.1 46.C 41.4 4.2 — 100.7
— — 0.€ — — 0.¢
1.6 (0.9) 0.2 0.7 — 2.2
(3.5 (4.7 7.€ — — —
0.3 54.¢ 1.8 0.2 — 57.1
10.7 (4.9 30.¢ 3.2 — 40.5
2.8 (0.6) (3.9 0. — (0.7)
29.€ 4.2 0.8 — (34.6) —
$ 37€¢ % 06 $ 35C % 2&6  $ (349 $  41c
— — — 3.€ — 3.€
$ 376 % 06 $ 350 % (0.8 $ (349 $  37¢
$ 304 3% (139 $ 128&¢ $ 26  $ (129 $ 30
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ASSETS
Current assets

Cash & cash equivalen
Accounts receivable, net of allowar
Income taxes recoverak
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as
Total current assets
Property, plant & equipment, n

Goodwill

Intangibles and other assets,
Deferred income taxe

Other tax receivabl

Due from affiliates
Investments in subsidiari

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Shor-term borrowings
Current maturities of lor-term debt
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit
Total current liabilities
Long-term debi
Deferred income taxe
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Due to affiliates

Total liabilities
Equity

Capital stock, no pz

Additional paic-in-capital

Retained earnings (defic

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) inc
Total Cott Corporation equit

Non-controlling interest:

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

Consolidating Balance Sheet
As of December 28, 2013
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott Cott Guarantor Non-Guarantor Elimination
Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
$ 1.5 $ 1.1 $ 39.1 $ 5.5 $ — $ 47.2
19.C 114.1 229.¢ 15.t (174.0 204.¢
04 0.7 — — — 1.1
16.2 77.C 132.¢ 7.C — 233.]
2.1 10.1 7.C 0.1 — 19.2
39.2 203.( 408.¢ 28.1 (174.0 505.1
47.C 190.2 235, 9.¢ — 483.
25.¢ 4.t 107.C — — 137.%
1.3 88.C 196.2 10.7 — 296.2
3.€ — — — — 3.€
— 0.2 — — — 0.2
39.€ 125.7 2.€ 41.¢€ (210.7) —
507.¢ 246.7 697. — (1,452.9) —
$ 665.C $ 858.1 $ 1,648.: $ 90.€ $(1,836.) $ 1,426
$ — $ 16.2 $ 34.€ $ — $ — $ 50.¢
— 2.4 0.€ 0.€ — 3.C
25.5 214.¢ 225.¢ 6.7 (174.0) 298.:
25.t 233.( 260.¢ 7.€ (174.0 352.¢
0.1 399.¢ 2.2 1.€ — 403.t
— 32.C 9.1 0.4 — 41t
0.1 2.8 19.4 — — 22.:
43.1 1.€ 128.1 37.% (210.J) —
68.¢ 669.( 419.¢ 46.€ (384.]) 820.2
392.¢ 509.4 1,557. 82.t (2,149.9) 392.¢
44.1 — — — — 441
176.: (344.1) (322.9) (49.9) 716.( 176.:
(16.€) 24.C (6.7) 1.5 (18.§) (16.€)
596.4 189.: 1,228.° 34.2 (1,452.9) 596.4
— — — 9.5 — 9.5
596.4 189.: 1,228." 4370 (1,452.9) 605.¢
$ 665.C $ 858.1 $ 1,648.: $ 90.€ $(1,836.) $ 1,426..
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ASSETS
Current assets
Cash & cash equivalen
Accounts receivable, net of allowar
Income taxes recoverak
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as
Total current assets
Property, plant & equipment, n
Goodwill
Intangibles and other assets,
Deferred income taxe
Other tax receivabl
Due from affiliates
Investments in subsidiari

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities
Current maturities of lor-term debt
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Deferred income taxe

Other lon¢-term liabilities

Due to affiliates

Total liabilities

Equity

Capital stock, no pz

Additional paic-in-capital

Retained earnings (defic

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)

income

Total Cott Corporation equit

Non-controlling interest:

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

Consolidating Balance Sheet
As of December 29, 2012
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott Cott Guarantor Non-Guarantor Elimination
Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
$ 39.¢ $ 37.t $ 96.4 $ 5.7 $ — $ 179.¢
18.4 111t 122 16.2 (69.0 199.¢
— 0.€ 0.2 0.1 — 1.2
21.1 65.¢ 130.¢ 7.C — 224.¢
205 13.4 4.2 0.1 — 20.8
81.¢ 229.2 354.( 29.1 (69.0 625.1
50.7 188.< 242.( 9.€ — 490.¢
27.5 4.t 98.: — — 130.:
1.C 101.¢ 198.¢ 14.¢ — 315.¢
2.9 — — 0.4 — 3.3
0.2 0.1 0.€ — — 0.€
40.C 175.2 78.C 41.¢€ (335.)) —
487.5 389.7 820.( — (1,697.9) —
$ 691.¢ $ 1,088. $ 1,791.C $ 95.¢ $(2,101.) $ 1,565.¢
$ — $ 1.2 $ 0.2 $ 04 $ — $ 1.¢
36.2 119.t 193.1 7.S (69.0) 287.
36.2 120.¢ 193.¢ 8.8 (69.0 289.¢
0.2 598.7 1E 14 — 601.¢
— 30.: 7.S 0.€ — 39.1
0.2 4.C 8.2 — — 12.5
43.2 76.7 177.¢ 37.¢ (335.]) —
79.¢ 830.t 388.¢ 48.C (404.7) 943.(
397.¢ 574.k 1,724.; 83.¢ (2,382.9) 397.¢
40.4 — — — — 40.4
186.( (329.7) (331.9) (46.1) 707.( 186.(
(12.4) 13.2 9.4 (0.€) (21.9) (12.4)
611.¢ 258.( 1,402.! 36.7 (1,697.9) 611.¢
— — — 11.1 — 11.1
611.¢ 258.( 1,402.! 47.¢ (1,697.9) 622.¢
$ 691.¢ $ 1,088. $ 1,791. $ 95.¢ $(2,101.) $ 1,565.¢
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 28, 2013
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott Cott Guarantor Non-Guarantor Elimination
Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
Operating Activities
Net income $ 17.C $ (15.9) $ 34t $ 7.€ $ (229 $ 22.(
Depreciation & amortizatio 6.3 39.€ 48.7 6.2 — 100.¢
Amortization of financing fee 0.1 2.€ 0.1 — — 2.€
Share-based compensation expe 1.1 2.t 0.4 — — 4.C
(Decrease) increase in deferred
income taxe: (0.9 4.t (2.6) (0.2 — 0.€
Loss on disposal of property,
plant & equipmen 0.1 0.2 0.t 0.1 — 1.C
Write-off of financing fees and
discount — 4.C — — — 4.C
Equity (income) loss, net of
distributions (24.2) (5.2 7.3 — 22.1 —
Intercompany dividend 27.1 6.¢ — — (34.0 —
Other nor-cash item: 0.2 0.t 0.1 0.1 — 0.¢
Net change in operating assets and
liabilities, net of acquisitiol (21.0) 153.¢ (114.9) 0.7 — 18.¢
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activitie: 5.€ 194.: (25.9) 14.¢ (34.0 155.2
Investing Activities
Acquisition, net of cash receiwvt — (4.7) (6.5) — — (11.2)
Additions to property, plant &
equipmen (6.9 (35.]) (12.9 (1.3 — (55.6)
Additions to intangibles and othe
asset: — (5.9 — — — (5.9
Proceeds from sale of property,
plant & equipmen — — — 0.2 — 0.2
Proceeds from insurance
recoveries — 0.€ — — — 0.€
Advances to affiliate — — — 0.2 (0.9) —
Net cash used in investing
activities (6.8) (45.7) (18.9) (0.8 (0.9 (71.9)
Financing Activities
Payments of lor-term debi 0.2 (201.7) (18.¢) (0.8 — (220.¢)
Borrowings under ABL — 89.C 42.¢ — — 131.¢
Payments under AB — (72.9) (9.2 — — (82.1)
Advances from affiliate (0.3 — — — 0.2 —
Distributions to non-controlling
interests — — — (6.6) — (6.6)
Common share repurcha (13.0 — — — — (13.0
Dividends paid to shareholde (21.9 — — — — (21.9
Intercompany dividend — — (27.7) (6.€ 34.C —
Financing fee: (0.1 (0.6) (0.7) — — (0.8
Net cash used in financing
activities (35.9) (185.6) (12.9) (14.9) 34.c (213.9)
Effect of exchange rate changes
cash (1.9 — (0.3 — — (2.2)
Net decrease in cash & cas
equivalents (38.9) (36.9) (57.9) (0.2) — (132.7)
Cash & cash equivalents
beginning of period 39.¢ 37.t 96.4 5.7 — 179.¢
Cash & cash equivalents, end ¢
period $ 1.t $ 1.1 $ 391 $ 5.t $  — $ 47.2
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 29, 2012
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott Cott Guarantor Non-Guarantor Elimination
Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
Operating Activities
Net income $ 47¢ $ 30.2 $ 504 $ 6.2 $ (829 $ 52.¢
Depreciation & amortizatio 6.5 36.¢ 48.4 5.¢ — 97.71
Amortization of financing fee 0.2 3.2 0.2 — — 3.7
Share-based compensation expe 1.1 2.7 aL{e 0.1 — 4.€
Increase (decrease) in deferred
income taxe: 0.4 3.6 (0.2 — — 3.8
Gain on bargain purcha — — (0.9 — — (0.€
Loss on disposal of property,
plant & equipmen — 0.7 0.€ 0.t — 1.8
Equity (income) loss, net of
distributions (46.9) (5.0 (30.5) — 82.2 —
Intercompany dividend 28.C 5.¢ — — (33.9 —
Other nor-cash item: — (0.9 — — — (0.9
Net change in operating assets and
liabilities (6.9 3.9 12.¢ 8.C — 10.1
Net cash provided by operating
activities 30.5 74.C 81.t 20.¢ (33.9 173.C
Investing Activities
Acquisition — (4.7) (5.0 — — (9.7)
Additions to property, plant &
equipmen (7.7 (45.2) (14.2) (2.6) — (69.7)
Additions to intangibles and othe
asset: (0.€) (5.2 0.5 — — (5.2
Proceeds from sale of property,
plant & equipmen — — 1.C 1.2 — 2.3
Proceeds from insurance
recoveries — 1.¢ — — — 1.¢
Advances to affiliate — — — (9.7) 9.7 —
Net cash used in investing
activities (8.3 (53.0) (17.9) (11.0 9.7 (80.9
Financing Activities
Payments of lor-term deb! 0.1 (2.€ — (0.5 — (3.3
Borrowings under ABL — 24.k — — — 24.t
Payments under AB — (24.5 — — — (24.5)
Advances from affiliate 9.7 — — — (9.7) —
Distributions to non-controlling
interests — — — (5.6) — (5.6)
Common share repurcha (0.3 — — — — (0.3
Dividends paid to shareholde (5.8 — — — — (5.9
Intercompany dividend — — (28.0) (5.€ 33.¢ —
Financing fee: — (1.2 — — — (1.2
Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities 3.7 4. (28.0) (12.0 24.2 (16.2)
Effect of exchange rate changes
cash 04 — 14 0.2 — 2.1
Net increase (decrease) in cash
cash equivalents 26.1 16.¢ 37.t (1.€ — 78.5
Cash & cash equivalents
beginning of period 13.7 20.7 58.¢ 7.€ — 100.¢
Cash & cash equivalents, end of
period $ 39.¢ $ 37.t $ 964 $ 5.7 $  — $ 179«
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Operating Activities
Net income

Depreciation & amortizatio

Amortization of financing fee

Share-based compensation
expense

Increase (decrease) in deferred
income taxe:

Loss on disposal of property,
plant & equipmen

Asset impairment

Intangible asset impairmer

Contract termination paymer

Equity (income) loss, net of
distributions

Intercompany dividend

Other nor-cash item:

Net change in operating assets
liabilities

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activitie:

Investing Activities

Acquisition

Additions to property, plant &
equipmen

Additions to intangibles and othe
asset:

Proceeds from sale of property,
plant & equipmen

Other investing activitie

Advances to affiliate

Net cash (used in) provided by
investing activities

Financing Activities

Payments of lor-term deb!

Borrowings under ABL

Payments under AB

Advances from affiliate

Distributions to non-controlling
interests

Intercompany dividend

Exercise of option

Net cash used in financing
activities

Effect of exchange rate changes
cash

Net increase in cash & casl
equivalents

Cash & cash equivalents
beginning of period

Cash & cash equivalents, end of
period

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2011
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott Cott Guarantor Non-Guarantor Elimination
Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
$ 37¢ $ 0.€ $ 35¢ $ 2.€ $ (349 $ 41
6.C 35.1 48.2 6.C — 95.c
0.3 3.2 0.3 — — 3.C
1.1 1.C 0.7 0.1 — 2.€
0.4 0.1 (3.9) (0.9) — (3.7)
— 0.4 0.8 — — 1.2
— — — 0.€ — 0.€
— 14 — — — 14
(0.9) (2.9) — — — (3.1)
(29.6) (4.2) 0.2 — 33.€ —
25.€ 9.€ — — (35.4) —
(0.2) 1.1 3.€ 0.2 — 4.c
(25.7) 210. (169.6) 2.€ 1.2 18.¢
15.C 256. (84.7) 12.1 (35.4) 163.t
— (34.9) — — — (34.9)
(5.2) (33.9) (9.5) (0.2) — (48.€)
(0.2) (5.9) (0.2) (0.2) — (5.7)
— 0.4 — — — 0.4
— (1.8) — — — (1.6)
— — 156.1 3.€ (159.7) —
(5.4) (74.9) 146. 3.2 (159.7) (90.2)
0.1 (6.4) — (0.5) (6.€)
— 224.] — — — 224.]
— (231.9) — — — (231.9)
(3.6) (156.7) — — 159.7 —
— — — (6.0) — (6.0)
— — (29.0) (6.4) 35.4 —
— 0.3 — — — 0.8
(3.5) (170.0 (29.0) (12.9) 195.1 (20.9)
(0.2) — 0.1 (0.2) — (0.9)
5.€ 11.€ 32.¢ 2.8 — 52.1
7.8 9.1 26.( 5.2 — 48.2
$ 13.7 $ 20.7 $ 58.¢€ $ 7.€ $ — $ 100.¢
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Note 24— Subsequent Event

On February 11, 2014, the Board of Directors dedar dividend of C$0.06 per share on common shpagable in cash on March 28,
2014 to shareowners of record at the close of lkgsion March 11, 2014.

On February 19, 2014, we redeemed all $15.0 miilioeiggregate principal amount of the remainingstauntding 2017 Notes at

104.118% of par. The redemption included approxétye®0.6 million in premium payments as well asragpnately $0.3 million in deferred
financing fees and discount charges.
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SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(in millions of U.S. dollars’

Description

Reserves deducted in the balance sheet from t
asset to which they apply

Allowances for losses ol

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Deferred income tax ass¢

(in millions of U.S. dollars’

Description

Reserves deducted in the balance sheet from t
asset to which they apply

Allowances for losses ol

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Deferred income tax asse¢

(in millions of U.S. dollars’

Description
Reserves deducted in the balance sheet from t

asset to which they apply
Allowances for losses ol
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Deferred income tax asst

Year ended December 28, 201

Balance a
Charged tc Charged tc Balance a
Beginning Reduction
Costs and Other End of
of Year in Sales Expenses Accounts Deductions Year
$ (67 $ — $ 0¢ $ — $  — $ (5.6
(10.5) — (2.0 0.5 — (12.0
(27.5) - (17.9) 0.1 - (45.2)
$ (449 $ — $ (189 % 0.€ $ — $ (63.0
Year ended December 29, 201
Balance a
Charged tc Charged tc Balance a
Beginning Reduction
Costs and Other End of
of Year in Sales Expenses Accounts Deductions Year
$ (B.9) $ — $ (1.3 $ (0.9 $ 0.4 $ (6.9
(8.€) — (1.6) (0.9) 0.2 (10.5)
(22.2) — (5.6) 0.2 — (27.5)
$ (367) $ — $ (85 $ (01 $ 06 $ (44.9)
Year ended December 31, 201
Balance a
Charged tc Charged tc Balance a
Beginning Reduction
Costs and Other End of
of Year in Sales Expenses Accounts Deductions Year
$ (70 $ — $ 0€ $ 0z $ 058 $ (59
(8.2) — (2.1) — 15 (8.6)
(12.7) - (9.4 (0.1) - (22.2)
$ 19 $ — $ (109 $ 01 $ 2C $ (36.9)

F-56




Table of Contents

Number

21

3.1

3.2

3.3

4.1

4.2
4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

10.11

10.22

10.32

10.42

10.52

10.62

Cott Corporation

Exhibit Index

Description

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 7, 231énd among Cott Corporation, Caroline LLC, a ilyhowned subsidiary
of Cott Corporation, Cliffstar Corporation, eachtioé Cliffstar companies named therein, and StaBtay, solely in his capacity
as seller representative (incorporated by reference to ExRilii to our Form -K/A filed July 9, 2010)

Articles of Amalgamation of Cott Corporation (inporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our FornKlfiled
February 28, 2007

Second Amended and Restated By-laws of Cott Cotiparéincorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Borm 109 filed May
10, 2007).

Amendment to Second Amended and Restated By-lastfCorporation (incorporated by reference toiBitl3.1 to our Form
8-K filed October 31, 2013

Indenture dated as of November 13, 2009, goverhie@.375% Senior Notes due 2017, by and amongBeetrages Inc., Cott
Corporation, the guarantors identified therein BIBBC Bank USA, National Association, as trusteediporated by reference
Exhibit 4.1 to our Form-K filed November 16, 2009

Form of 8.375% Senior Note due 2017 (incorporatedeference to Exhibit 4.2 to our Forr-K filed November 16, 2009

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of NoveriBe2009, among Cott Beverages Inc., Cott Corgmrathe guarantors
identified therein and Barclays Capital Inc., Mergan Securities Inc. and Deutsche Bank Seculities(incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our Forr-K filed November 16, 2009

Indenture dated as of August 17, 2010, governiegBthi25% Senior Notes due 2018, by and among G@uttiAges Inc., Cott
Corporation, the guarantors identified therein BIBBC Bank USA, National Association, as trusteediporated by reference
Exhibit 4.1 to our Form-K filed August 20, 2010)

Form of 8.125% Senior Note due 2018 (included asitkitxA to Exhibit 4.7, which is incorporated byfeeence to Exhibit 4.1 to
our Form &K filed August 20, 2010}

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Augids2010, among Cott Beverages Inc., Cott Corpanatite guarantors
identified therein and Deutsche Bank Securities, lag representative to the Initial Purchasers(jparated by reference to
Exhibit 4.3 to our Form-K filed August 20, 2010)

Supply Agreement, dated December 21, 1998, betWésmart Stores, Inc. and Cott Beverages USA, Imow(“Cott Beverages
Inc.”) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of ourrrd (-K filed March 15, 2011)

Restated 1986 Common Share Option Plan of CottdZatipn/Corporation Cott as amended through Oct@8Be2004
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Barm 1(-K filed March 16, 2005)

Employment Offer Letter to Steven Kitching datedfemary 14, 2013 (incorporated by reference to ExAi®.1 to our Form 1@
filed May 3, 2013)

Employment Offer Letter to Michael Creamer datedilA}6, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhilfit19 to our Form 10-K
filed March 11, 2009)

Amended and Restated Retention, Severance and Nmp&ition Plan (incorporated by reference to EHib.6 to our Form
1C-Q filed August 9, 2007’

Employment Offer Letter to Gregory Leiter, execu@ctober 15, 2007 (incorporated by reference talixh0.41 to our Form
1C-K filed March 11, 2008)
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Number

10.72

10.82

10.92

10.102

10.112

10.122
10.132

10.142

10.152

10.162

10.171

10.182

10.19

10.20

10.212

Description

Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2010 an@ptyCorporation, Cott Beverages Inc., Cott Bevesagmited, Cliffstar
LLC and the other Loan Parties party thereto, theders party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.Agdbao Branch as UK
Security Trustee, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., asiAdimative Agent and Administrative Collateral AdeGeneral Electric
Capital Corporation, as Co-Collateral Agent andiBahAmerica, N.A., as Documentation Agent (incaigted by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to our Amended Form-Q filed June 20, 2011

Employment Agreement between Cott Corporation &nd/ Fowden dated February 18, 2009 (incorporayectference to
Exhibit 10.1 to our Form-K filed February 24, 2009

Cott Corporation Severance and Non-Competition,Rlated February 18, 2009 (incorporated by referéadxhibit 10.2 to
our Form K filed February 24, 2009

Employment Offer Letter to Marni Morgan Poe datadulry 14, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Hihia1 to our Form
1C-Q filed May 12, 2010)

2010 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by refeeeto Appendix B of our Definitive Proxy StatementSchedule 14A filed
April 1, 2010).

Amendment to 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (incorpedaby reference to Exhibit 4.2 to our For-K filed May 4, 2010)

Form of Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement Wittme-Based Vesting under Cott Corporat®2010 Equity Incentive Pl:
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to oarrf 1(-Q filed November 10, 2010

Form of Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement Atrformance-Based Vesting under Cott Corporatig@’) Equity
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to ExHibi5 to our Form 1-Q filed November 10, 2010

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement undett@orporation’s 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (inporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.18 to our Form -K filed February 27, 2013

Employment Offer Letter to Michael Gibbons datedrtha6, 2009 (incorporated by reference to ExhibitLlof our Form 10-K
filed March 15, 2011)

Supply Agreement executed December 21, 2010, aféedanuary 1, 2011 between Crown Cork & Seal U84, and Cott
Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit34 of our Form 1-K/A filed January 1, 2012

Employment Offer Letter to Jay Wells dated Januaty2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 18.dur Form 10-Q filed
May 7, 2012)

Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement, dated as oflAp, 2012, by and among Cott Corporation, Cat&ages Inc.,
Cliffstar LLC, and Cott Beverages Limited, as Bavass, the other Loan Parties party thereto, theleenparty thereto, and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Ademorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to oarri 10-Q filed May 7,
2012)

Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement, dated as lgf 9, 2012, by and among Cott Corporation, Cottddages Inc., Cliffst:
LLC, and Cott Beverages Limited, as Borrowers,dtieer Loan Parties party thereto, the Lenders gheseto, and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (incogied by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 10k November 1,
2012).

Employment Offer Letter to Carlos Baila dated Seiter 17, 2012 (incorporated by reference to ExHiBiR4 to our Form 10-
K filed February 27, 2013
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Number

10.22

10.232

21.1
23.1
31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

101

Description

Amendment No. 3 to Credit Agreement, dated as ablEr 22, 2013, by and among Cott Corporation, Betterages Inc.,
Cliffstar LLC, and Cott Beverages Limited, as Bavass, the other Loan Parties party thereto, thaleenparty thereto, and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Adéletd herewith).

Amended and Restated Cott Corporation Equity Ineemlan (incorporated by reference to Appendixf Bur Definitive Prox
Statement on Schedule 14A filed March 28, 20

List of Subsidiaries of Cott Corporation (filed baiith).
Consent of Independent Certified Public Accountéfiftsd herewith).

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2fad2he year ended
December 28, 2013 (filed herewitl

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2fad2he year ended
December 28, 2013 (filed herewitl

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2fad2he year ended
December 28, 2013 (furnished herewi

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuao section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2fa@2he year ended
December 28, 2013 (furnished herewi

The following financial statements from Cott Corgidon’s Annual Report on Form Hfor the year ended December 28, 2!
filed February 24, 2014, formatted in XBRL (eXtdrieiBusiness Reporting Language): (i) Consolid&tdements of
Operations, (ii) Consolidated Balance Sheets,idpsolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (iv) Cadatdd Statements of
Equity (v) Condensed Consolidated Statements of fZehensive Income (vi) Notes to the ConsolidatedReial Statements
(filed herewith).

1. Document is subject to request for confidentiztimeent.
2. Indicates a management contract or compensatony



Exhibit 10.22

Execution Versior
AMENDMENT NO. 3 TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 3 TO CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated a§ October 22, 2013 (this_* Amendmeé&it by and among Cott
Corporation Corporation Cott, a corporation orgadiander the laws of Canada, Cott Beverages Irigeaxgia corporation, Cliffstar LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company, and Cott Bevgea Limited, a company organized under the lavsngfland and Wales, as Borrowers,
the other Loan Parties party hereto, the Lendetty pareto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Lond@méh, as UK Security Trustee,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agerd Administrative Collateral Agent, and Generadalic Capital Corporation, as Co-
Collateral Agent. Each capitalized term used heaeith not defined herein shall have the meaningkestthereto in the Amended Credit
Agreement referred to below.

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, the Borrowers, the other Loan Parties|#ders, the Administrative Agent, the UK Secufitystee, the
Administrative Collateral Agent, the Goellateral Agent, and the other parties party tteerare parties to that certain Credit Agreemeaited
as of August 17, 2010 (as amended by that certaiement No. 1 to Credit Agreement, dated as ofl Apr 2012, as further amended by
that certain Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreemeated as of July 19, 2012, and as may be furthendetk restated, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time prior to thate hereof, the “ Credit Agreeméntind as amended by this Amendment, the * Amended
Credit Agreement); and

WHEREAS, the Borrowers have requested that the Athtnative Agent and the Lenders agree to amertdingurovisions of the
Credit Agreement on the terms and subject to tinglitions expressly set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premisdéd@th above, and other good and valuable conatier, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, gaatty hereto is willing to agree to amend certaimvisions of the Credit Agreement on
terms and subject to the conditions expresslyasét herein.

I. Amendments to Credit Agreemeritffective as of the Amendment No. 3 Effective ®@s defined below), each party hereto herebyeagre
that the Credit Agreement shall be and hereby israted as follows:

1. The title page of the Credit Agreement is heraimgnded by deleting the phrase “DEUTSCHE BANK ABW YORK
BRANCH?” and replacing it with the phrase “DEUTSCHRANK SECURITIES INC.".

2. The introductory paragraph to the Credit Agreetnehereby amended by adding the phrase “, dsdiuamended by
Amendment No. 3, dated as of October 22, " immediately after the phra“as of July 19, 207".



3. The definition of “ Alternate Base Rdtés hereby amended by (a) deleting the phrase @RB1 Page”, (b) adding the phrase
“pages LIBORO1 or LIBORO02 of” immediately prior the phrase “the Reuters Screen (or on any successabstitute page)”, and
(c) adding the following sentence at the end ohsilefinition:

“If the Alternate Base Rate is being used as amalte rate of interest pursuant to Section 2.14dfethen the Alternate Base Rate s
be the greater of clauses (a) and (b) above arbbghdetermined without reference to clause (ovaly’

4. The definition of “ Amortization CommencementtBais hereby deleted.

5. The definitions of * BCB Europedrand “ BCB International are hereby moved into the correct alphabeticdéor

6. The definition of “ Borrowing Baskis hereby amended by deleting the phragaitius(e) the Earnout Reserve”.

7. The definition of “ Canadian Reaffirmation Agneent” is hereby deleted in its entirety and replacethwhe following
definition in the appropriate alphabetical order:

““ First Canadian Reaffirmation Agreemehineans the Canadian law governed ReaffirmatioreAgrent and Amendment No. 1 to
Canadian Security Agreement, dated as of the Amentido. 2 Effective Date, by and between the Loari€s party thereto and the
Administrative Collateral Agent, for the benefittbhe Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agentsldahe Lenders.”

8. The definition of “ Canadian Security Agreemeérs hereby amended by deleting the phrase “as detenn the date hereof by
the Canadian Reaffirmation Agreement” and repladimgth the phrase “as amended on the Amendmen@Ngffective Date by the First
Canadian Reaffirmation Agreement”.

9. The definition of “* CDOR Rateis hereby amended by deleting each referenceg@hrase “deposit” and replacing it with
“dealer”.

10. The definition of “ Commitmeritis hereby amended by (a) adding the phrase “Anmraard No. 3” immediately before each
occurrence of the phrase “Effective Date” and @gting “$275,000,000” and replacing it with “$3000,000".

11. The definition of “ Earnout ReserVés hereby deleted.

12. Clause (iii) of the proviso to the definitioh“dExcluded Subsidiary is hereby amended by (a) adding the phrase ‘wonu
completion of the Luxembourg Reorganization, akodéd on the Reorganization Schedule” immidatéigrahe phrase “reflected on
Schedule 3.15and (b) adding the phrase “or, upon completiothef Luxembourg Reorganization, as reflected orRih@rganization
Schedule” immediately after the phrase “interconypladebtedness held on the Amendment No. 2 Effedliate”
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13. The definition of “ Excluded Taxé&ss hereby deleted in its entirety and replacethwhe following definition:

“ Excluded Taxes means any of the following Taxes imposed on dhweéspect to a Recipient or required to be witthteeldeducted
from a payment to a Recipient: (a) Taxes imposedraneasured by net income (however denominateat)chise Taxes, and branch profits
Taxes, in each case, (i) imposed as a result ¢f Recipient being organized under the laws of asirtg its principal office or, in the case of
any Lender, its applicable lending office locatedthe jurisdiction imposing such Tax (or any pott subdivision thereof) or (ii) that are
Other Connection Taxes, (b) in the case of a Farkender, withholding Taxes imposed on amounts Ipieyand in the case of a Treaty
Lender, U.S. Federal and United Kingdom withholdiraxes imposed on amounts payable (excludingh&pbrtion of United Kingdom
withholding Taxes with respect to which the apiealreaty Lender is entitled to claim a reductisrder an income tax treaty, and
(y) United Kingdom withholding Taxes on paymentsd@&y any guarantor under any guarantee of thgaiidns to the extent such
withholding Taxes would not have applied if the paynt had been made by the Borrower rather thanguatantor), to or for the account of
such Foreign Lender or Treaty Lender with respeeirt applicable interest in a Loan or Commitmemspant to a law in effect on the date
which (i) such Foreign Lender or Treaty Lender aagusuch interest in the Loan or Commitment (othan pursuant to an assignment
request by the Borrowers under Section 2.19(bji)osuch Foreign Lender or Treaty Lender changetending office, except in each case to
the extent that, pursuant to Section 2.17, amowitksrespect to such Taxes were payable eithendb Foreign Lender’s or Treaty Lender’s
assignor immediately before such Foreign Lenddireaty Lender acquired the applicable intereshéltoan or Commitment or to such
Foreign Lender or Treaty Lender immediately befoolanged its lending office, (c) Taxes attributatm such Recipient’s failure to comply
with Section 2.17(h), and (d) any U.S. Federal gfding Taxes imposed under FATCA.”

14. The definition of “ Fee Lettefss hereby deleted in its entirety and replacethwuhe following definition:

“ Fee Letters’ means the collective reference to that certagosd amended and restated fee letter dated as éfnttendment No. 3
Effective Date among Chase, J.P. Morgan Securltiesand the Company, that certain lender feerdetated as of the Amendment No. 3
Effective Date among Chase and the Company, andiluey fee letters that may be entered into franetio time by one or more Borrowers
and any Agent.”.

15. Clause (b) of the definition of “ Fixed Chardés hereby amended by adding the phrase “(inclgidimithout limitation,
scheduled principal payments in respect of thel$ldechase Financing) immediately after the phfaskeduled principal payments on
Indebtedness”.

16. The definition of “ LIBO Raté is hereby deleted in its entirety and replacethulie following definition:

“ LIBO Rate” means, with respect to any Eurodollar Borrowingriy LIBOR Quoted Currency (other than a UK Swingliroar
denominated in Sterling) and for any applicabledest Period, the London interbank offered rateinidtered by the British Bankers
Association (or any other Person that takes oweatiministration of such rate) for such LIBOR Quo®urrency for a period equal in length
to such Interest Period as displayed on pages LIBOR LIBORO02 of the Reuters screen or, in the eganh rate does not appear on such
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Reuters page or screen, on any successor or swdgiiige on such screen that displays such rate, ire appropriate page of such other
information service that publishes such rate al§ bbaselected by the Administrative Agent from it time in its reasonable discretion (the
“LIBOR Screen Raté) at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, on @otation Date for such Interest Period; provitted, if the LIBOF
Screen Rate shall not be available at such timea fmriod equal in length to such Interest Peribd { Impacted Interest Perig}l then the
LIBO Rate shall be the Interpolated Rate at sutie tisubject to Section 2.14. Notwithstanding thedoing, to the extent that “LIBO Rate”
or “Adjusted LIBO Rate” is used in connection with ABR Borrowing, such rate shall be determinethadified by the definition of
Alternate Base Rate.”

17. The definition of “ Maturity Datéis hereby deleted in its entirety and replacethulie following definition:
“ Maturity Date” means the earliest of (a) October 22, 2018, ¢bglg if at the close of business on May 1, 201& 2009 Notes have
not been redeemed, repurchased or otherwise refdan full, May 15, 2017, (c) solely if at the stoof business on February 15, 2018 the
2010 Notes have not been redeemed, repurchaseldeswise refinanced in full, March 1, 2018 or (dyaarlier date on which the
Commitments are reduced to zero or otherwise textathpursuant to the terms hereof.”

18. The definition of “ Other Tax€ss hereby deleted in its entirety and replacethuhe following definition:

“ Other Taxes’ means all present or future stamp, court or deentiary, intangible, recording, filing or similar Xes that arise from
any payment made under, from the execution, dgliperformance, enforcement or registration of, fiben receipt or perfection of a security
interest under, or otherwise with respect to, aogrDocument, except any such Taxes that are Qinenection Taxes imposed with respect
to an assignment (other than an assignment madeanirto Section 2.19).”

19. Clause (h) of the definition of “ Permitted Axsjtion” is hereby amended by adding the phrase “(or withreasonable time
thereafter as may be agreed by the AdministratigenAin its Permitted Discretion)” immediately aftee first occurrence of the phrase
“Proposed Acquisition”.

20. The definition of “ PP&E Componehts hereby deleted in its entirety and replacethulie following definition:

“ PP&E Component means, at the time of any determination, withpees to each Borrower, an amount equal to the retifiee
between:

(a) the lesser of:

(i) the result of (x) to the extent greater tharoz€A) 75% of the fair market value (as determibydhe most recent
Qualified PP&E Appraisal (Real Property)) of suabridwer’s Eligible Real Propertyinus(B) the PP&E
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Amortization Amount (Real Property) (this clausg tke “ Real Property Componéit plus(y) to the extent greater
than zero, (A) 85% of the Net Orderly LiquidatioalMe of such Borrower’s Eligible Equipmeninus(B) the PP&E
Amortization Amount (Equipment) (this clause (et Equipment Componefi, minus(z) Reserves established by
either Collateral Agent in its Permitted Discretiand

(ii) to the extent greater than zero, (x) $35,760/inusthe PP&E Amortization Amount (Adjusted Real Propgrt
plus(y) $33,502,728ninusthe PP&E Amortization Amount (Adjusted Equipmemtinus

(b) the PP&E Component included in any other BogdsvBorrowing Base.”

21. The definition of “ PP&E Percentatjes hereby deleted.

22. The definition of “ Reaffirmation Agreemerits hereby deleted in its entirety and replacethulie following definition:

“ Reaffirmation Agreement% means the First Canadian Reaffirmation Agreemiiwet, Second Canadian Reaffirmation Agreement, the
UK Reaffirmation Deeds, the First U.S. Reaffirmatidgreement, and the Second U.S. Reaffirmation &gent.”

23. The definition of “ Reservéss hereby amended by deleting the phrase “Swam&tions” and replacing it with the phrase
“Swap Agreement Obligations”.

24. The definition of “ Secured Obligatioh& hereby amended by (a) deleting each occurrentiee phrase “Swap Obligations”
and replacing them with “Swap Agreement Obligatiarsd (b) deleting the period at the end of sudiniten and replacing it with the
phrase “;_provided however, that the definition of “Secured Obligations” dhabt create any guarantee by any Guarantor ajr@nt of

security interest by any Guarantor to support,pieable) any Excluded Swap Obligations of suctu@uator for purposes of determining
obligations of any Guarantor.”.

25. The definition of “* Swap Obligatioriss hereby amended by renaming such defined teBwép Agreement Obligatioris

26. The definition of “ Taxe$is hereby deleted in its entirety and replacethile following definition:

“ Taxes” means all present or future taxes, levies, impadtties, deductions, withholdings (including hazkvithholding),

assessments, fees or other charges imposed byamyrnental Authority, including any interest, autdis to tax or penalties applicable
thereto.”



27. The definition of “ UK Reaffirmation Agreeméhis hereby deleted in its entirety and replacethulie following definition:

“ UK Reaffirmation Deeds means (i) the Reaffirmation Deed to UK Securitgyddments, dated as of the Amendment No. 2 Effective
Date, by and between the Loan Parties party thamdahe UK Security Trustee and (ii) the ReaffitimmaDeed to UK Security Documents,
dated as of the Amendment No. 3 Effective Dateafy between the Loan Parties party thereto andih8ecurity Trustee.”

28. The definition of “ U.S. Reaffirmation Agreentéris hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced withfollowing definition ir
the appropriate alphabetical order:

“ Eirst U.S. Reaffirmation Agreemeritmeans the U.S. law governed Reaffirmation Agreetnaed Amendment No. 1 to U.S. Security
Agreement, dated as of the Amendment No. 2 EffedDate, by and between the Loan Parties partyttharel the Administrative Collateral
Agent, for the benefit of the Administrative Agetite Collateral Agents and the Lenders.”

29. The definition of “ U.S. Security Agreemérns hereby amended by deleting the phrase “as datwon the date hereof by the
U.S. Reaffirmation Agreement” and replacing it witle phrase “as amended on the Amendment No. 2tivieDate by the First U.S.
Reaffirmation Agreement”.

30. Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hemaipgnded by inserting the following new definitionshe appropriate
alphabetical order:

(a) “ Amendment No. 3 means Amendment No. 3 to Credit Agreement, dagdf October 22, 2013, among the Loan
Parties party thereto, the Lenders party theretd the Administrative Agent.

(b) “ Amendment No. 3 Effective Datehas the meaning assigned to such term in Amentiien3.

(c) “ Anti-Corruption Laws’ means all laws, rules, and regulations of anisgliction applicable to any Borrower and its
Affiliates concerning or relating to bribery or coption.

(d) “ Beneficial Ownef means, with respect to any U.S. Federal withhajdiax, the beneficial owner, for U.S. Federal
income tax purposes, to whom such Tax relates.

(e) “ Commodity Exchange Aétmeans the Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. § kgf)sas amended from time to tir
and any successor statute.

(f) “ Connection Income Taxésneans Other Connection Taxes that are imposemt ameasured by net income (however
denominated) or that are franchise Taxes or brancfits Taxes.

(g) “ Designated Persorisneans any Person listed on a Sanctions List.
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(h) “ ECP” means an “eligible contract participant” as defirin Section 1(a)(18) of the Commodity Exchangegkany
regulations promulgated thereunder and the appéaaites issued by the Commodity Futures Tradingy@dssion and/or the SEC.

(i) “ Excluded Swap Obligatiohmeans, with respect to any Guarantor, any Swam&tmon if, and to the extent that, all or
a portion of the Guarantee of such Guarantor afh@igrant by such Guarantor of a security intex@secure, such Swap Obligation (or any
Guarantee thereof) is or becomes illegal undeCitramodity Exchange Act or any rule, regulation ates of the Commodity Futures
Trading Commission (or the application or offidiaierpretation of any thereof) (a) by virtue of BuUBuarantor’s failure for any reason to
constitute an ECP at the time the Guarantee of Guerantor or the grant of such security interespbmes or would become effective with
respect to such Swap Obligation or (b) in the cdseSwap Obligation subject to a clearing requeatrpursuant to Section 2(h) of the
Commodity Exchange Act (or any successor provieneto), because such Guarantor is a “financiéilyehas defined in Section 2(h)(7)(C)
(i) of the Commodity Exchange Act (or any succegsorision thereto), at the time the GuaranteaushsGuarantor becomes or would
become effective with respect to such related S@lation. If a Swap Obligation arises under a teaagreement governing more than one
swap, such exclusion shall apply only to the parttbsuch Swap Obligation that is attributablew@gs for which such Guarantee or security
interest is or becomes illegal.

() “ EATCA " means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Codef tee Amendment No. 3 Effective Date (or any anezhd
or successor version that is substantively compaiaatd not materially more onerous to comply widr)y current or future regulations or
official interpretations thereof and any agreeneiered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) ofGbde.

(k) “ Interpolated Raté means, at any time, for any Interest Period retie per annum (rounded upward to four decimal
places) determined by the Administrative Agent ghhdetermination shall be conclusive and bindingeab manifest error) to be equal to the
rate that results from interpolating on a lineasibdetween: (a) the applicable Screen Rate (fotathgest period for which the applicable
Screen Rate is available for the applicable cugfeti@t is shorter than the Impacted Interest Rlegind (b) the applicable Screen Rate for the
shortest period (for which such Screen Rate is&hiai for the applicable currency) that exceeddiiygacted Interest Period, in each case, at
such time.

() “ IRS " means the United States Internal Revenue Service.

(m) “ LIBOR Quoted Currency means Dollars, Euros and Sterling.

(n) “ Luxembourg Reorganizatidrmeans an internal reorganization of the Companyits Subsidiaries, to be completed
no later than November 30, 2013 (or such longeibdeas may be agreed to by the Administrative Ageiits sole discretion), satisfactory to
the Administrative Agent in its discretion, and stamtially in the order of and substantially in g@iance with the steps set forth in, resulting
in a corporate structure of the reorganized estiigstantially as set forth in, the Reorganizafi@mtlosure Letter, which reorganization may
include, among other intercompany transactionslinng Indebtedness and Equity Interests, the follmaintercompany Indebtedness:

(a) certain intercompany promissory notes and ausawceivable (which intercompany promissory nates accounts receivable
shall be subordinated to the Secured Obligatioisd@xtent required under Section 6.01(e)) amaryga all of BCB European, BCB
International, and the Loan Parties, in each caseibstantially set forth in the Reorganizationcldisure Letter, each in approximately the
amounts set forth in the Reorganization Disclodatter, and each of which shall be transferred toan Party and pledged and delivered to
the Administrative Collateral Agent in accordandéwthe terms of the Loan Documents, or canceligal po the completion of the
Luxembourg Reorganization, in each case in formsarbtance satisfactory to the Administrative Agerits discretion; and
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(b) certain other intercompany promissory notesragrtbe Loan Parties specified in the Reorganizddizclosure Letter in
approximately the amounts set forth in the Reogtiun Disclosure Letter, each of which shall bened/by a Loan Party and pledged and
delivered to the Administrative Collateral Agentaocordance with the terms of the Loan Documentsancelled prior to the completion of
the Luxembourg Reorganization, in each case in famchsubstance satisfactory to the Administratiger in its discretion;

providedthat, both before and after giving effect to thexeimbourg Reorganization, and at all times durirglthxembourg Reorganization,
the Company and each other Loan Party shall satesfi of the following conditions:

(i) no Default shall have occurred and be contiguin

(i) subject to Section IV of Amendment No. 3, abgllateral (including cash) shall remain subjecfdn in the case of Collateral
created as part of the Luxembourg Reorganizattuwed] become subject to) a perfected security istaséthe Administrative Collateral Age
subject to the Permitted Perfection Limitationsaatordance with the terms of the Loan Documenmis tlae validity, perfection and priority
of such security interest shall not be impairedbin connection with the Luxembourg Reorganizatmmvidedthat BCB European and B(
International shall not be required to become LBarties solely as a result of the Luxembourg Rauozgéion;

(iii) the Luxembourg Reorganization shall be congrieno later than the close of business on the BOiness Day after the
initiation of the first step of the Luxembourg Reganization (or such longer period as may be agi@eg the Administrative Agent in its sole
discretion) substantially as set forth in the Raaigation Disclosure Letter;

(iv) other than the shares of Cott Luxembourg Slaneither BCB European nor BCB Internationalshold any asset or any
Collateral that it acquires as part of the LuxemigdRestructuring for longer than a period of 5 Besis Days from the time that it acquires
such asset or Collateral (or such longer periothag be agreed to by the Administrative Agent irsdke discretion);

(v) the Luxembourg Reorganization shall be permdittader the 2009 Note Indenture and the 2010 Nwteriture; and

(vi) the Borrowers shall have Aggregate AvailakilitinusDisqualified Payables of at least $75,000,000.
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(o) “ OFAC” means the Office of Foreign Assets Control of thdted States Department of the Treasury.

(p) “ Other Connection Taxésneans, with respect to any Recipient, Taxes irefda@s a result of a present or former
connection between such Recipient and the juristiégmposing such Taxes (other than a connectimingrfrom such Recipient having
executed, delivered, become a party to, perforrsedhligations under, received payments underjveder perfected a security interest
under, engaged in any other transaction pursuant &nforced, any Loan Document, or sold or agsigan interest in any Loan, Letter of
Credit or any Loan Document).

(q) “ Participant Reqistérhas the meaning set forth in Section 9.04(g)(iii)

(n) “ PP&E Amortization Amount (Adjusted Equipmeritineans, at the time of any determination occurongr after the
Amendment No. 3 Effective Date, the sum of the PR&Rortization Amount (Equipmenglus, on and after the first Business Day of any
PP&E Equipment Adjustment Period, the result of§33,502,728ninus(y) 85% of the Net Orderly Liquidation Value of $uBorrower’'s
Eligible Equipment based on the most recent Qea iR P&E Appraisal (Equipment) completed prior tohrsBP&E Equipment Adjustment
Period.

(s) “ PP&E Amortization Amount (Adjusted Real Praye” means, at the time of any determination occurongor after
the Amendment No. 3 Effective Date, the sum ofRR&E Amortization Amount (Real Propertylus, on and after the first Business Day of
any PP&E Real Property Adjustment Period, the tesfulx) $35,767,56@ninus(y) 75% of the fair market value of such BorroweElggible
Real Property based on the most recent Qualifis&sEPARppraisal (Real Property) completed prior tolsIRP&E Real Property Adjustment
Period.

(t) “ PP&E Amortization Amount (Equipment)means, at the time of any determination occurongr after the
Amendment No. 3 Effective Date:

(i) prior to the first Business Day of the first &P Equipment Adjustment Period, the product of $8P8,842multiplied by(y) the
number of calendar months that have commenced &nckincluding) December 1, 2013; or

(ii) on and after the first Business Day of any FPEquipment Adjustment Period, the product of e tesult of (1) 85% of the
Net Orderly Liquidation Value of such Borrov's Eligible Equipment based on the most recent edIPP&E Appraisal (Equipment)
completed prior to such PP&E Equipment Adjustmearid®l divided by(1l) (A) 84 minus(B) the number of PP&E Prior Amortized Months
for such PP&E Equipment Adjustment Periodiltiplied by(y) the number of calendar months that have comeaesince (and including) the
first day of the first month of the current PP&EuUgEmMent Adjustment Period.
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(u) “ PP&E Amortization Amount (Real Properfyineans, at the time of any determination occurangr after the
Amendment No. 3 Effective Date:

(i) prior to the first Business Day of the first &P Real Property Adjustment Period, the producp®i$298,063nultipled by
(y) the number of calendar months that have comegtsmce (and including) December 1, 2013; or

(ii) on and after the first Business Day of any FPReal Property Adjustment Period, the producidttie result of (A) 75% of
the fair market value of such BorrowgiEligible Real Property based on the most recesatified PP&E Appraisal (Real Property) comple
prior to such PP&E Real Property Adjustment Pedinided by(B) 120minus(y) the number of PP&E Prior Amortized Months foch
PP&E Real Property Adjustment Perigdlltiplied by(y) the number of calendar months that have comeesince (and including) the first
day of the first month of the current PP&E Realgemy Adjustment Period.

(v) “ PP&E Equipment Adjustment Peridaneans, at any time of determination occurringaftie Amendment No. 3
Effective Date, the period commencing on the figsiness Day of the first full calendar month fallng the receipt by the Administrative
Agent and the Collateral Agents of a Qualified PP&fpraisal (Equipment), and ending on the date idiately prior to the first Business
Day of the first full calendar month following tiheceipt by the Administrative Agent and the Collatégents of the next succeeding
Qualified PP&E Appraisal (Equipment).

(w) “ PP&E Prior Amortized Month$ means, with respect to each PP&E Equipment Adjestt Period and each PP&E
Real Property Adjustment Period, as applicablentiaber of calendar months that have commenceé §amd including) December 1, 2013
through and including the first Business Day offsB®&E Equipment Adjustment Period or such PP&El Regperty Adjustment Period.

(x) “ PP&E Real Property Adjustment Peribtheans, at any time of determination occurringafhe Amendment No. 3
Effective Date, the period commencing on the figsiness Day of the first full calendar month fellng the receipt by the Administrative
Agent and the Collateral Agents of a Qualified PP&gpraisal (Real Property), and ending on the @ataediately prior to the first Business
Day of the first full calendar month following tiheceipt by the Administrative Agent and the Collatégents of the next succeeding
Qualified PP&E Appraisal (Real Property).

(y) “ Qualified ECP Guarantdrmeans, in respect of any Swap Obligation, eacinlBarty that has total assets exceeding
$10,000,000 at the time the relevant Loan Guarangrant of the relevant security interest becooresould become effective with respec
such Swap Obligation or such other person as ¢atestian “eligible contract participant” under themmodity Exchange Act or any
regulations promulgated thereunder and can caustbemrperson to qualify as an “eligible contraatijggpant” at such time by entering into a
keepwell under Section 1a(18)(A)(v)(Il) of the Commlity Exchange Act.

(2) “ Qualified PP&E Appraisal (Equipmeritimeans any appraisal and update thereof with mgpell Eligible
Equipment (the most recent such appraisal, therfebti Equipment Appraisd), conducted in accordance with the terms of Agseement
from an appraiser selected and engaged by the Astnasitive Agent, and in each case satisfactorjpéoAdministrative Agent and each
Collateral Agent, so long as the result of 85%
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of the Net Orderly Liquidation Value of the applida Borrowers Eligible Equipment based on the results of the€@u Equipment Apprais
is less than the value of the Equipment Compongbanputed at such time without giving effect te thsults of the Current Equipment
Appraisal.

(aa) “ Qualified PP&E Appraisal (Real Propertypeans any appraisal and update thereof with rttpall Eligible Real
Property (the most recent such appraisal, the tebtiReal Property Appraisgl conducted in accordance with the terms of fkgseement
from an appraiser selected and engaged by the Astnaitive Agent, and in each case satisfactorjp¢odministrative Agent and each
Collateral Agent, so long as the result of 75%hef fair market value of the applicable Borrowerlgjile Real Property based on the results
of the Current Real Property Appraisal is less tienvalue of the Real Property Component as coaapait such time without giving effect to
the results of the Current Real Property Appraisal.

(bb) “ Quotation Daté means with respect to any LIBO Rate Borrowingdol Interest Period, (a) if the currency is
Sterling, the first day of such Interest Period,i{lthe currency is Euro, two TARGET Days befdne first day of such Interest Period, (c) for
any other currency, two Business Days prior tociiamencement of such Interest Period (unless,dh ease, market practice differs in the
relevant market where the LIBO Rate for such cuoyes to be determined, in which case the Quotdiiate will be determined by the
Administrative Agent in accordance with market picein such market (and if quotations would notdgnbe given on more than one day,
then the Quotation Date will be the last of thoags)).

(cc) “ Recipient’ means (a) any Agent, (b) any Lender and (c) anyingsBank, or any of the foregoing or any combioia
thereof (as the context requires).

(dd) “ Reorganization Disclosure Letfemeans that certain letter, dated the Amendment3\Effective Date, from the
Company to the Agents and the Lenders, which letiall (a) attach as Annexthereto slides detailing each step of the Luxemgpour
Reorganization and (b) attach_as Anneth@reto the final organizational structure of trmrany as of the date that the Luxembourg
Reorganization is completed, as such letter magnbended, with the consent of the Administrative Wtde its sole discretion, and such letter
and any such amendments shall be in form and sudestatisfactory to the Administrative Agent indtscretion.

(ee) “ Reorganization Scheddldas the meaning assigned to such term in Amentien3.

(ff) “ Sanctioned Country means a country or territory which is at any tisubject to Sanctions.

(gg) “ Sanctions means:

(a) economic or financial sanctions or trade embasgdmposed, administered or enforced from tinténe by (i) the U.S.
government and administered by OFAC, (ii) the Whidations Security Council, (iii) the European Umi¢iv) Her Majesty’s
Treasury of the United Kingdom, (v) or the Canadjamernment; and

(b) economic or financial sanctions imposed, adstémed or enforced from time to time by the U.&t&Department, the U.S.
Department of Commerce or the U.S. DepartmentefTiteasury.
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(hh) “ Sanctions List means any of the lists of specifically designatedionals or designated persons or entities (or
equivalent) held by the U.S. government and adit@resl by OFAC, the U.S. State Department, the Department of Commerce or the L
Department of the Treasury or the United Nationsugity Council or any similar list maintained byetEuropean Union, any other EU
Member State, the United Kingdom, Her Majesty’sabugry of the government of the United Kingdom, @amadian Government, or any
other government entity of the U.S., the Uniteddtiom or Canada, in each case as the same may bel@msupplemented or substituted
from time to time.

(i) “ Screen Raté means the LIBOR Screen Rate.
() “ SEC " means the Securities and Exchange Commissiomeof)tS.
(kk) “ Second Canadian Reaffirmation Agreementeans the Canadian law governed ReaffirmatioreAgrent, dated as

of the Amendment No. 3 Effective Date, by and betwvthe Loan Parties party thereto and the Admatist Collateral Agent, for the benefit
of the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Ageatsd the Lenders.

(I “ Second U.S. Reaffirmation Agreemémnmeans the U.S. law governed Reaffirmation Agresimgated as of the
Amendment No. 3 Effective Date, by and betweeri_tren Parties party thereto and the Administratiedlaeral Agent, for the benefit of the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agents and tiemders.

(mm) “ Sidel Purchase Financifigneans that certain loan financing, in an aggregaincipal amount not to exceed
$10,750,000, between Cott Beverages and Generatigl€apital Corporation relating to the purchasequipment and related assets
previously subject to the Sidel Water Capital Lease

(nn) “ Swap Obligatiori means, with respect to any Guarantor, any olbgeato pay or perform under any agreement,
contract or transaction that constitutes a “swajphiw the meaning of section 1a(47) of the Commp#ixchange Act or any rules or
regulations promulgated thereunder.

(00) “ United State$and “ U.S.” mean the United States of America.

(pp) “ U.S. Persoii means a “United States person” within the meamih§ection 7701(a)(30) of the Code.

(qq) “ U.S. Tax Compliance Certificatéhas the meaning assigned to such term in Se2tibri(h)(ii)(B)(3).

12



(rr) “ USA PATRIOT Act” means the Uniting and Strengthening America byviling Appropriate Tools Required to
Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001.

31. Section 1.03 of the Credit Agreement is heraipgnded by inserting the following sentence attiekof such SectionFor the
avoidance of doubt, all references herein to thag#h“date hereof” shall be construed to refehéoEffective Date.”

32. Section 2.09(f) of the Credit Agreement is bgramended by (a) deleting the phrase “of all Lesitia the first sentence
thereof and replacing it with the phrase “set fantisection 9.02(b)”, (b) deleting “$300,000,000idareplacing it with “$350,000,000", and
(c) deleting clause (i) in its entirety and rephagit with the phrase “(i) certifying that such irase is permitted by the 2009 Indenture and the
2010 Indenture (if the same are then outstandord)y the terms of any agreement or indenture gorngrany refinancing or replacement of
either or both of the 2009 Indenture and the 2@M@mture to the extent such refinancing or replacens permitted in accordance with the
terms of this Agreement (and, with respect to arghsncrease, assuming a borrowing of the maximonouat of loans available under such
increase together with any increases previouslyenpagisuant to the terms of this Agreement), antifgieig and attaching the resolutions
adopted by such Loan Party approving or consemtirsgich increase, and”.

33. The proviso at the end of Section 2.11(c) ef@hedit Agreement is hereby amended by addinglinese “or the Sidel
Purchase Financing” immediately after each occueai the phrase “Sidel Water Capital Lease”.

34. Section 2.14(a)(i) of the Credit Agreementdsdiny amended by inserting the phrase “(includivithout limitation, by means
of an Interpolated Rate)” immediately after thegde “reasonable means do not exist for ascertdining

35. Section 2.15(a) of the Credit Agreement is ygideleted in its entirety and replaced with thigofeing:

“(a) If any Change in Law shall:

(i) impose, modify or deem applicable any resespecial deposit liquidity or similar requirementdiuding any compulsory loan
requirement, insurance charge or other assessagat)st assets of, deposits with or for the accofjrdr credit extended by, any
Lender (except any such reserve requirement refldatthe Adjusted LIBO Rate or Overnight LIBO Rate any Issuing Bank;

(ii) impose on any Lender or any Issuing Bank er tlondon interbank market any other condition, costxpense (other than
Taxes) affecting this Agreement or CDOR Loans, @igdtt LIBO Loans or Eurodollar Loans made by suelmdler or any Letter of
Credit or participation therein; or

(iii) subject any Recipient to any Taxes (othemtil&) Indemnified Taxes, (B) Taxes described iruskss (b) through (d) of the
definition of Excluded Taxes and (C) Connectionoime Taxes) on loans, loan principal, letters oflitreommitments, or other
obligations, or its deposits, reserves, or ottailities or capital attributable thereto;
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and the result of any of the foregoing shall bintwease the cost to such Lender of making, comgjiconverting into or maintaining any
CDOR Loan, Overnight LIBO Loan or Eurodollar Loar 6f maintaining its obligation to make any suakah) or to increase the cost to s
Lender or such Issuing Bank of participating isuisg or maintaining any Letter of Credit or touwed the amount of any sum received or
receivable by such Lender or such Issuing Bankumeter (whether of principal, interest or otherwjsbgn the Borrowers will pay to such
Lender or such Issuing Bank, as the case may bb,additional amount or amounts as will compensaté Lender or such Issuing Bank, as
the case may be, for such additional costs incwredduction suffered. This Section 2.15(a) dagsapply to the extent any such increased
cost is attributable to the willful breach by tleewvant Lender or its Affiliates of any law or réation.”

36. Section 2.15(b) of the Credit Agreement is bgrmmended by (a) adding the phrase “or liquidityinediately after the phrase
“If any Lender or any Issuing Bank determines #raf Change in Law regarding capital” and (b) addivggphrase “and liquidity”
immediately after the phrase “the policies of slehder’s or such Issuing Bank’s holding companyhwéspect to capital adequacy”.

37. Section 2.17 of the Credit Agreement is hemddgted in its entirety and replaced with the fwilog:
“Section 2.17 Taxes

(a) Payments Free of TaxeAny and all payments by or on account of anygailon of any Loan Party under any Loan Documeati sh
be made without deduction or withholding for ani@s except as required by applicable law. If arpliagble law (as determined in the gc
faith discretion of any applicable withholding agemquires the deduction or withholding of any Teom any such payment by a withhold
agent, then the applicable withholding agent dtwkntitled to make such deduction or withholdind ahall timely pay the full amount
deducted or withheld to the relevant Governmentaharity in accordance with applicable law andsuith Tax is an Indemnified Tax, then
the sum payable by the applicable Loan Party $imaihcreased as necessary so that after such aedactvithholding has been made
(including such deductions and withholdings apfilieao additional sums payable under this Secti@@)2he applicable Recipient receives
an amount equal to the sum it would have receiaetto such deduction or withholding been made. Ad@wer is not required to make an
increased payment to a Lender under Section 2.4Vedlor a tax deduction in respect of tax imposgthie United Kingdom from a payment
of interest on a Borrowing, if on the date on whilsh payment falls due:

(i) the payment could have been made to the retdvamder without a tax deduction if it was a UK @fying Lender, but on that date
that Lender is not or has ceased to be a UK Quidjfyender other than as a result of any change #fe date it became a Lender ur
this Agreement in (or in the interpretation, adrsiration or application of) any law or Treaty, aygublished practice or concession of
any relevant taxing authority; or
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(i) (1) the relevant Lender is a UK Qualifying Laar solely under sub-paragraph 2 of the definiibb/K Qualifying Lender, (2) an
officer of H.M. Revenue & Customs has given (antnewoked) a direction (a_* Directidh under section 931 of the UK Income Tax
Act 2007 (as that provision has effect on the datevhich the relevant Lender became a party toAgigement) which relates to that
payment and that Lender has received from the UKd®eer a certified copy of such Direction; and {3 payment could have been
made to the Lender without any tax deduction inabgence of such Direction; or

(iii) the relevant Lender is a UK Qualifying Lend&slely under sub-paragraph 2 of the definitiotu&f Qualifying Lender (a “ UK Non
Bank Lendef’) and it has not, other than by reason of any geaatfter the date of this Agreement in (or in titeripretation,
administration, or application of) any law, or gmyblished practice or concession of any relevadhggauthority, given a Tax
Confirmation to the UK Borrower.

(b) UK Tax Confirmations A UK Non-Bank Lender which becomes a party ts thjreement either on the Effective Date or ondiéwg
on which it accedes to this Agreement gives a Tafi@dnation to the UK Borrower by entering intoarceding to this Agreement.

(c) Changes in UK Tax Confirmationg\ UK Non-Bank Lender shall promptly notify the UBorrower and the Administrative Agent if
there is any change in the position from that s¢tirothe Tax Confirmation.

(d) Payment of Other Taxes by the Borroweffie Loan Parties shall timely pay to the relev@avernmental Authority in accordance
with applicable law, or at the option of the Adnsitnative Agent timely reimburse it for, Other Taxes

(e) Evidence of Payment#\s soon as practicable after any payment of Thyemny Loan Party to a Governmental Authority parg
to this Section 2.17, such Loan Party shall deligehe Administrative Agent the original or a d@&tl copy of a receipt issued by such
Governmental Authority evidencing such paymentaycof the return reporting such payment or othlvistence of such payment reasonably
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

(f) Indemnification by the Loan PartieShe Loan Parties shall jointly and severally maéfy each Recipient, within 10 days after
written demand therefor, for the full amount of dnglemnified Taxes or Other Taxes (including Indéiad Taxes or Other Taxes impose!
asserted on or attributable to amounts payablerthdeSection) payable or paid by such Recipientequired to be withheld or deducted
from a payment to such Recipient and any reasoredglenses arising therefrom or with respect theveb@ther or not such Indemnified
Taxes or Other Taxes were correctly or legally isggbor asserted by the relevant Governmental Aighér certificate as to the amount of
such payment or liability delivered to the BorroviRapresentative by a Lender or an Issuing Bankgoh case with a copy to the
Administrative Agent), or by the Administrative Agteor either Collateral Agent on its own behalborbehalf of a Lender or an Issuing
Bank, shall be conclusive absent manifest error.

(9) Indemnification by the Lender&ach Lender shall severally indemnify each Ageithin 10 days after demand therefor, for (i) any
Indemnified Taxes attributable to such Lender @imly to the extent that any Loan Party has noalyandemnified such Agent for
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such Indemnified Taxes and without limiting theightion of the Loan Parties to do so), (ii) any &svattributable to such Lender’s failure to
comply with the provisions of Section 9.04(g) rilgtto the maintenance of a Participant Registdr(an any Excluded Taxes attributable to
such Lender, in each case, that are payable obyasdch Agent in connection with any Loan Documantl any reasonable expenses arising
therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or mehsTaxes were correctly or legally imposed or dsdeby the relevant Governmental
Authority. A certificate as to the amount of suadyment or liability delivered to any Lender by alhgent shall be conclusive absent manifest
error. Each Lender hereby authorizes each Agesettoff and apply any and all amounts at any timimg to such Lender under any Loan
Document or otherwise payable by such Agent to suectder from any other source against any amouataguch Agent under this
paragraph.

(h) Status of Lenders(i) Any Lender that is entitled to an exemptioor or reduction of withholding Tax, which in thase of the UK
Borrower shall only be the case where the Lendari& Qualifying Lende, with respect to paymentdmander any Loan Document shall
deliver to the Borrower Representative (with a ctgpthe Administrative Agent), at the time or tinpgescribed by applicable law or
reasonably requested by the Borrower Representatithee Administrative Agent, such properly cometeand executed documentation
prescribed by applicable law or reasonably reqdesyethe Borrower Representative or the Administeaf\gent as will permit such
payments to be made without withholding or at aicedl rate of withholding. In addition, any Lendéreasonably requested by the Borroy
Representative or the Administrative Agent, shalier such other documentation prescribed by apple law or reasonably requested by
the Borrower Representative or the AdministrativgeAt as will enable the Borrowers or the AdministeAgent to determine whether or
such Lender is subject to backup withholding ooiinfation reporting requirements. Notwithstandingthimg to the contrary in the preceding
two sentences, the completion, execution and sugioni®f such documentation (other than such doctatien set forth in Section 2.17(h)(ii)
(A), (ii)(B) and (ii)(D) below) shall not be reqaid if in the Lender’s reasonable judgment such detigm, execution or submission would
subject such Lender to any material unreimbursetl@oexpense or would materially prejudice theleg commercial position of such
Lender.

(ii) Without limiting the generality of the foregug, in the event that any Borrower is a U.S. Person

(A) any Lender that is a U.S. Person shall delteeghe Borrower Representative and the Administeafigent on or prior to the
date on which such Lender becomes a Lender unideAtiteement (and from time to time thereafter uffenreasonable request
of the Borrower Representative or the AdministmtAgent), executed originals of IRS Form W-9 cgitifj that such Lender is
exempt from U.S. Federal backup withholding tax;

(B) any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent iigdlly entitled to do so, deliver to the BorrowepResentative and the
Administrative Agent (in such number of copies laalisbe requested by the recipient) on or priahdate on which such Fore
Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement ¢anad time to time thereafter upon the reasonablaasiof the Borrower
Representative or the Administrative Agent), whiareof the following is applicable:

(1) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming thedfiés of an income tax treaty to which the Uniftdtes is a party

(x) with respect to payments of interest under lamgn Document, executed originals of IRS FormBBEN establishing a
exemption from, or reduction of, U.S. Federal withiting Tax pursuant to the “interest” article othuax treaty and

(y) with respect to any other applicable paymemnien any Loan Document, IRS Form 8BEN establishing an exempti
from, or reduction of, U.S. Federal withholding Txrsuant to the “business profits” or “other in@narticle of such tax
treaty;
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(2) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming tteektension of credit will generate U.S. effediveonnected income,
executed originals of IRS Form W-8ECI;

(3) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming thedfi¢és of the exemption for portfolio interest un@&ection 881(c) of the
Code, (x) a certificate substantially in the forfrExhibit F-1 to the effect that such Foreign Lender is not aakiavithin
the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Cod&l@percent shareholder” of a Borrower within theaning of

Section 881(c)(3)(B) of the Code, or a “controlfeceign corporation” described in Section 881(d)C3)of the Code (a “
U.S. Tax Compliance Certificat and (y) executed originals of IRS Form W-8BEN; o

(4) to the extent a Foreign Lender is not the bieizdfowner, executed originals of IRS Form W-8IM&tGcompanied by
IRS Form W-8ECI, IRS Form W-8BEN, a U.S. Tax Coraptie Certificate substantially in the form_of Exhi2 or
Exhibit -3, IRS Form W-9, and/or other certification docunseinom each Beneficial Owner, as applicable; pregithat
if the Foreign Lender is a partnership and one arendirect or indirect partners of such Foreigndemmare claiming the
portfolio interest exemption, such Foreign Lendaymrovide a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate sulitsiitly in the form
of Exhibit 4 on behalf of each such direct and indirect partner;

(C) any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent ieigdlly entitled to do so, deliver to the BorrowepResentative and the
Administrative Agent (in such number of copies laalisbe requested by the recipient) on or priche®date on which such Fore
Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement ¢analtime to time thereafter upon the reasonablaesof the Borrower
Representative or the Administrative Agent), exeduiriginals of any other form prescribed by agllie law as a basis for
claiming exemption from or a reduction in U.S. Redevithholding Tax, duly completed, together witinch supplementary
documentation as may be prescribed by applicablédgermit the Borrowers or the Administrative Agéo determine the
withholding or deduction required to be made; and
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(D) if a payment made to a Lender under any Loaoubtent would be subject to U.S. Federal withholdiag imposed by
FATCA if such Lender were to fail to comply withetlapplicable reporting requirements of FATCA (imithg those contained in
Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Code, as appéabuch Lender shall deliver to the Borrower Rspntative and the
Administrative Agent at the time or times prescdliy law and at such time or times reasonably retgdeby the Borrower
Representative or the Administrative Agent suchudeentation prescribed by applicable law (includasgprescribed by

Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such il documentation reasonably requested by threoB@r Representative or
the Administrative Agent as may be necessary feBbrrowers and the Administrative Agent to complih their obligations
under FATCA and to determine that such Lender basptied with such Lender’s obligations under FATG®to determine the
amount to deduct and withhold from such paymenel$dor purposes of this clause (D), “FATCAhall include any amendmel
made to FATCA after the date of this Agreement.

Each Lender agrees that if any form or certifiaaitogpreviously delivered expires or becomes olisabe inaccurate in any respect, it
shall update such form or certification or promptbtify the Borrower Representative and the Adntiatsve Agent in writing of its
legal inability to do so.

(i) Additional United Kingdom Withholding Tax Matte. (i) Subject to clauses (ii) and (iii) below, ae@ty Lender and each UK
Borrower which makes a payment to which that Tréatyder is entitled shall co-operate in completing procedural formalities necessary
for that UK Borrower to obtain authorization to neakat payment without withholding or deduction T@xes imposed under the laws of the
United Kingdom; (ii)(A) a Treaty Lender which becesna Treaty Lender on the day on which this Agreenseentered into that holds a
passport under the HMRC DT Treaty Passport schantewhich wishes that scheme to apply to this Ages#, shall provide its scheme
reference number and its jurisdiction of tax resaeto the Borrower and the Administrative Agemnil éB) a Treaty Lender which becomes a
Treaty Lender hereunder after the day on whichAkieement is entered into that holds a passpat¢iutne HMRC DT Treaty Passport
scheme, and which wishes that scheme to applyddtireement, shall provide its scheme refereneabar and its jurisdiction of tax
residence to the UK Borrower and the Administrathgent, and, having done so, that Treaty Lendelt Braunder no further obligation
pursuant to paragraph (h) and (i)(i) above; (id}hing in paragraph (i) above shall require a Tyéander to: (A) register under the HMRC
DT Treaty Passport scheme; (B) apply the HMRC D@aty Passport scheme to any Borrowings if it haggistered; or (C) file Treaty
forms if it has included an indication to the effétat it wishes the HMRC DT Treaty Passport sch&ragpply to this Agreement in
accordance with paragraph (i)(ii) above and theRéirower making that payment has not complied Wt#tlobligations under paragraph (i)
(iv) below; (iv) if a Treaty Lender has confirmed scheme reference number and its jurisdicticiaofesidence in accordance with parag
(i)(ii) above the relevant UK Borrower shall mak8arrower DTTP filing, and where (1) that BorrowT TP Filing has been rejected by t
Revenue & Customs; or (2) HM Revenue & Customsnmagjiven the UK Borrower authority to make paynseiatthat Treaty Lender
without a deduction for tax within 60 days of tregelof the Borrower DTTP Filing, and, in each célse,UK Borrower has notified that
Treaty Lender in writing, that Treaty Lender and 9K Borrower shall co-operate
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in completing any additional procedural formalitreecessary for that UK Borrower to obtain authdiarato make that payment without
withholding or deduction for Taxes imposed under ldws of the United Kingdom; (v) if a Lender had confirmed its scheme reference
number and jurisdiction of tax residence in accoogawith paragraph (i)(ii) above, no UK Borrowealimake a Borrower DTTP Filing or
file any other form relating to the HMRC DT Tred@gssport scheme in respect of that Lender’'s Comenit{®) or its participation in any
Loan unless the Lender otherwise agrees; (vi) aBdkower shall, promptly on making a Borrower DTF#Nng, deliver a copy of that
Borrower DTTP Filing to the Administrative Agentrfdelivery to the relevant Treaty Lender; and (@iijreaty Lender shall notify the UK
Borrower and Administrative Agent if it determiniesits sole discretion that it is ceases to betledtito claim the benefits of an income tax
treaty to which the United Kingdom is a party widspect to payments made by the UK Borrower hersund

(j) Additional Authorizations; ReimbursemenA Treaty Lender and each Loan Party which makgsyanent to which that Treaty
Lender is entitled shall co-operate at the expefsiee applicable Loan Party in completing any pahral formalities necessary for that Loan
Party to obtain authorization to make that paymgtitout a withholding in respect of Tax or at auedd rate. The applicable Loan Party <
reimburse each Lender for its reasonable costegpenses (including reasonable fees and expensesio$el) incurred by it in relation to-
application for such authorization.

(k) Treatment of Certain Refund#f the Administrative Agent, Disbursement Agegither Collateral Agent or a Lender determines, in
its sole discretion exercised in good faith, thitais received a refund (including any foreigndeedit to the extent such credit results in ac
tax savings that would not otherwise be availableuch Administrative Agent, Disbursement Agentll&eral Agent or Lender) of any Ta»
or Other Taxes as to which it has been indemnifiethe Loan Parties or with respect to which tharL&arties have paid additional amounts
pursuant to this Section 2.17, it shall pay toitttemnifying party an amount equal to such refund pnly to the extent of indemnity
payments made, or additional amounts paid, by t@lParties under this Section 2.17 with respettteédaxes or Other Taxes giving rise to
such refund), net of all out-gfecket expenses (including Taxes) of such indemmhifiarty and without interest (other than any ggepaid b
the relevant Governmental Authority with respecstich refund). Such indemnifying party, upon theuesst of such indemnified party, shall
repay to such indemnified party the amount paid puesuant to this paragraph (plus any penaltigsreést or other charges imposed by the
relevant Governmental Authority) in the event thath indemnified party is required to repay sudbre to such Governmental Authority.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in thisggraph, in no event will the indemnified partyrequired to pay any amount to
indemnifying party pursuant to this paragraph tagrpent of which would place the indemnified partyailess favorable net after-Tax
position than the indemnified party would have bieifithe Tax subject to indemnification and gigirise to such refund had not been
deducted, withheld or otherwise imposed and thenmufication payments or additional amounts giviisg to such refund had never been
paid. This paragraph shall not be construed toireguny indemnified party to make available its taturns (or any other information relating
to its Taxes that it deems confidential) to thesimahifying party or any other Person nor shall icbastrued to require the Administrative
Agent, the Disbursement Agent, either Collateraéiigor a Lender, as the case may be, to applyrfotherwise initiate any refund
contemplated in this paragraph.
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() VAT Reimbursement All amounts set out, or expressed to be payatkeiuany Loan Document by any party to the Admiatate
Agent, the Disbursement Agent, either Collateragitgany Lender or any Issuing Bank which (in whalén part) constitute the
consideration for VAT purposes shall be deemedetextlusive of any VAT which is chargeable on ssgpply. If VAT is chargeable on any
supply made by the Administrative Agent, the Dissiment Agent, either Collateral Agent, any Lendeany Issuing Bank to any party uni
any Loan Document, that party shall pay to the Adstiative Agent, the Disbursement Agent, such&etl Agent, such Lender or such
Issuing Bank as the case may be (in addition toattide same time as paying the considerationjraouat equal to the amount of the VAT.

(m) VAT Indemnification. Where any party is required under any Loan Docaurtereimburse the Administrative Agent, the
Disbursement Agent, either Collateral Agent, anpder or any Issuing Bank as the case may be focasitg or expenses, that party shall
at the same time pay and indemnify the Administeafigent, the Disbursement Agent, either Collat@gent, any Lender or any Issuing
Bank as the case may be against all VAT incurrethbyAdministrative Agent, the Disbursement Agent;h Collateral Agent, such Lender
or such Issuing Bank as the case may be in respéut costs or expenses to the extent that theididtrative Agent, the Disbursement
Agent, such Collateral Agent, such Lender or seshiihg Bank as the case may be reasonably deterthiafeit is not entitled to credit or
repayment of the VAT.

(n) Survival. Each party’s obligations under this Section ZhA&ll survive the resignation or replacement ofAbeninistrative Agent or
any assignment of rights by, or the replacemerd dfender, the termination of the Commitments dwedrepayment, satisfaction or discharge
of all obligations under any Loan Document.

(o) Defined Terms For purposes of this Section 2.17, (i) the teapplicable law” includes FATCA”, (ii) the term “UBorrower” shall
include any Borrower payments from which under tggseement or any Loan Document are subject tohwitting Taxes imposed by the
laws of the United Kingdom, and (iii) the term “La=r” includes any Issuing Bank.

38. Section 2.18(b) of the Credit Agreement is bgrmmended by (a) deleting each reference to thesplSwap Obligationsdnd
replacing it with the phrase “Swap Agreement Oliligegs” and (b) inserting the following sentence ipdiately after the phrase “ nintto
the payment of any other Secured Obligation dubdcAdministrative Agent, the Disbursement Ageither Collateral Agent or any Lender
by the Borrowers.”:

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, amounts receivesrfrany Loan Party shall not be applied to any EdetuSwap Obligation of such
Loan Party.”

39. Section 2.18(f) of the Credit Agreement is bgramended by (a) adding the phrase “Indemnifiexe$ar” immediately after
the phrase “If any Lender requests compensatioen@dction 2.15, or if the Borrowers are requiegddy any”, and (b) deleting the word
“amount” in the phrase “additional amount to anynder or any Governmental Authority for the acconfmany Lender” and replacing it with
the word “amounts”.
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40. Section 3.23 of the Credit Agreement is heddlgted in its entirety and replaced with the fellog:

“Section 3.23 Sanctions Laws and Requlations

(a) Each Loan Party and its Subsidiaries and,ad#st knowledge of each Loan Party, its Affilizdesl their respective directors,
officers, employees, and agents, in each case singndirector, officer, employee or agent is actingpehalf of or purporting to act on bet
of any Loan Party, (i) conduct and has conducted thusiness in compliance with Anti-Corruption Lsaand applicable Sanctions, and
(i) have instituted and maintained, and will maintand enforce, policies and procedures designpdoimote and achieve compliance with
such laws and applicable Sanctions. No Borrowingedter of Credit, use of proceeds or other finagdransaction contemplated by the L
Documents will violate Anti-Corruption Laws or apgalble Sanctions.

(b) None of the Loan Parties or their Subsidiaoiego the best knowledge of each Loan Party, thffiliates or their respective
directors, officers, employees, agents or repraseas acting or benefiting in any capacity in cection with this Agreement (i) is a
Designated Person; (ii) is a Person that is owmembotrolled by a Designated Person (the terms &miViand “controlledeing defined as <
forth in the applicable Sanctions (but only if sulgfinitions are set forth in such Sanctions))) {g, if in violation of Sanctions or applicable
law, located, organized or resident in a Sanctiddedntry; or (iv) has directly or indirectly engalge, or is now directly or indirectly
engaged in, in each case in violation of applicédle any dealings or transactions (1) with anyifested Person, (2) in any Sanctioned
Country, or (3) otherwise in violation of Sanctidhs

41. Section 4.02(e) of the Credit Agreement is bygmended by (a) adding the phrase “(and at dmr dime that the
Administrative Agent may request in its Permittedddetion)” immediately before the phrase “, thenfidistrative Agent shall have received
a certificate togetehr with such Borrowing Requedi) adding “(i)” immediately before the phraseftifying that, at the time of and
immediately after”, and (c) deleting the periodtet end thereof and replacing it with the phrasel“@i) setting forth and certifying as to
reasonably detailed calculations of the permittetebtedness baskets under each of the 2009 Indeartdrthe 2010 Indenture (to the extent
then in effect, or similar calculations under aafimancing or replacement agreement) at the tinendfimmediately after giving effect to
such Borrowing or the issuance, amendment, renemattension of such Letter of Credit, as applieablhich calculations shall be
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent in its Péted Discretion.”.

42. Section 5.01(g) of the Credit Agreement is hgr@mended by adding the phrase “(but, in the ohiee PP&E Component, as
of the 15 day of the current calendar month)” immediatelgathe phrase “and at such other times as maydueseed by either Collateral
Agent, as of the period then ended”.

43. Clause (A)(i) of the proviso to the first semte of Section 5.11 of the Credit Agreement is Inggmended by deleting the
phrase “and Aggregate Availability has at all tindesing the preceding twelve fiscal months beemigmrethan or equal to the greater of” and
replacing it with “and Aggregate Availability hastrat any time during the preceding twelve fiscahtihs been less than the greater of”.
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44, Clause (B) of the proviso to the first senteoic8ection 5.11 of the Credit Agreement is herééleted in its entirety and
replaced with the following:

“(B) in the case of appraisals of equipment andipeaperty, (i) if no Event of Default has occurraad is continuing and Aggregate
Availability has not at any time during the precegliwelve fiscal months been less than the grexditgr) twenty percent (20%) of the
aggregate amount of all Commitments at such tinte(zn$55,000,000, in each case for a period afdiGecutive days, (I) one such
equipment appraisal in each of calendar year 26ti%eaery third calendar year thereafter shall bbeasole expense of the Loan
Parties, and (II) one such real property appramsabach of calendar year 2016 and every third cllegear thereafter shall be at the sole
expense of the Loan Parties (ii) if no Event of & has occurred and is continuing and Aggregatailability has at any time during
the preceding twelve fiscal months been less thamgteater of (y) twenty percent (20%) of the aggte amount of all Commitments at
such time and (z) $55,000,000, in each case feriaghof 10 consecutive days, one such appraisatglendar year (commencing with
calendar year 2013) shall be at the sole expendedfoan Parties, (iii) if an Event of Default laecurred and is continuing, each such
appraisal shall be at the sole expense of the Paaties and (iv) appraisals of parcels of real prigpnot identified on Schedule 1.01(a)
shall not be at the expense of the Loan Partiegmxo the extent such appraisals are requirezhigyRequirement of Law; provided
that, if Aggregate Availability has at any time thg the preceding twelve fiscal months been leas $10,000,000, real property and
equipment appraisals shall be deemed requestdiebAdministrative Agent and each Collateral Agamnid such appraisals shall be at
the sole expense of the Loan Parties.”.

45, Section 6.01(h) of the Credit Agreement is bgr@mended by (a) deleting the phrase “or intaest from clause (i) thereof,
(b) inserting the phrase “; providéiaht pricing and any premiums for any such extamgiefinancing, or renewal shall be on customarykei
terms at such time for Indebtedness of such typ#ieaend of clause (v) thereof and (c) deletirggbcond reference to clause “(iv)” therein
and replacing it with a reference to clause “(vi)".

46. Section 6.01(l) of the Credit Agreement is bgramended by adding the phrase “or Guarantorst &it word “Borrowers”.

47. Section 6.01(q) of the Credit Agreement is hg@mended by adding the phrase “or the Sidel Rgekinancing”
immediately after the phrase “Sidel Water Capithse”.

48. Section 6.02(m) of the Credit Agreement is hgr@mended by adding the phrase “or the Sidel RgecFinancing”
immediately after the phrase “Sidel Water Capithse”.
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49. Section 6.04(l) of the Credit Agreement is bgramended by (a) deleting “$75,000,000” and reptai with “$50,000,000"
and (b) adding the following phrase at the endaafti®n 6.04(1):

“ provided, further, that in any period of four consecutive fiscal 4ees, the Company may exclude the lesser of ()20,000 and
(i) the sum of (A) dividends made in such periddaur consecutive fiscal quarters pursuant to i8adb.09(a)(iii), plugB) repurchases of
capital stock made in such period of four conseeudiscal quarters pursuant to Section 6.09(a){rem the computation of the Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio solely for the purpose of this $ach.04();”.

50. Section 6.04(p) of the Credit Agreement is bgr@mended by deleting each occurrence of the ptifaeendment No. 2
Effective Date” and replacing them with the phr&&mendment No. 3 Effective Date”.

51. Section 6.04(s) of the Credit Agreement is Inedeleted and replaced with the following:

“(s) investments, loans and advances describedtkiReorganization Disclosure Letter solely to tkiemt required to complete the
Luxembourg Reorganization;”.

52. Clause (y) of the proviso at the end of Sediid of the Credit Agreement is hereby amendeddbgting the phrase “clause
(u)” and replacing it with the phrase “clausesasjl (u)”.

53. Section 6.09(a) of the Credit Agreement is bygmended by (a) deleting each occurrence of GRBN00” and replacing
them with “$50,000,000", (b) deleting the phraseotpded that no Event of Default has occurred anithén continuing” from the beginning
of Section 6.09(a)(iii), (c) adding the phrasetta time of such declaration and payment” immedjaéer the phrase “no Event of Default
has occurred and is continuing” at the beginnin§edtion 6.09(a)(iii)(A), (d) inserting the phrds@rovidedthat in any period of four
consecutive fiscal quarters, the Company may exclbd lesser of (x) $20,000,000 and (y) the sufh) afividends made in such period of
four consecutive fiscal quarters pursuant to tleisti®n 6.09(a)(iii),_plugll) repurchases of capital stock made in suchaokeof four
consecutive fiscal quarters pursuant to Sectiofi(6)(iv), from the computation of the pro forma &ixCharge Coverage Ratio solely for the
purpose of this Section 6.09(a)(iii)” at the endsefction 6.09(a)(iii)(C), (e) inserting the phrasprovidedthat in any period of four
consecutive fiscal quarters, the Company may exctbd lesser of (x) $20,000,000 and (y) the suf) afividends made in such period of
four consecutive fiscal quarters pursuant to Sadi®9(a)(iii),_plugIl) repurchases of capital stock made in suchoakeof four consecutive
fiscal quarters pursuant to this Section 6.09(s){rem the computation of the pro forma Fixed @®a€Coverage Ratio solely for the purpose
of this Section 6.09(a)(iv)” at the end of Sect®A9(a)(iv)(C), (f) deleting the word “and” immetkty before the phrase “(v) any Restricted
Subsidiary”, (g) adding the phrase “, and (vi) Restricted Payments described in the ReorganizBistlosure Letter shall be permitted to
the extent required to complete the Luxembourg ateation” immediately before the phrase “; pr@dthat in the event that any
Restricted Payment is made to BCB InternationalBEELiropean or any Interim Holdco” and (h) adding pihrase “ (X) such Restricted
Payment is made as part of the Luxembourg Reorgaoizor (Y)” immediately before the phrase “solalythe case of any Restricted
Payment made to any Interim Holdco”.
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54. Section 6.09(b)(vii)(b) of the Credit Agreemenhereby amended by adding the phrase “or thel Bidrchase Financing”
immediately after the phrase “Sidel Water Capitahte”.

55. Section 6.09(b)(vii)(C) of the Credit Agreemenhereby amended by (a) deleting the phrased‘iess than 1.25 to 1.0” and
replacing it with the phrase “(x) in the case & four fiscal quarter period ending September B&832is no less than 1.10 to 1.0 and (y) for
each four fiscal quarter period ending thereafteno less than 1.15 to 1.0” and (b) adding thiv¥ahg phrase at the end of Section(b)(vii)

(©):

“ providedthat in any period of four consecutive fiscal qaest the Company may exclude the lesser of (I)GREDO00 and (Il) the sum
of (A) dividends made in such period of four congae fiscal quarters pursuant to Section 6.09(p)filus (B) repurchases of capital stock
made in such period of four consecutive fiscal tgrarpursuant to Section 6.09(a)(iv), from the cotafion of the Fixed Charge Coverage
Ratio solely for the purpose of this Section 6.08(D;".

56. Section 6.09(b)(ix) of the Credit Agreemertiéseby amended by adding the following phraseeetid of Section 6.09(b)(i»

“ providedthat in any period of four consecutive fiscal gaest the Company may exclude the lesser of (i) GEED0Q00 and (ii) the sum
of (A) dividends made in such period of four conga@ fiscal quarters pursuant to Section 6.09(p)filus (B) repurchases of capital
stock made in such period of four consecutive figoarters pursuant to Section 6.09(a)(iv), from tomputation of the Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio solely for the purpose of this $&ac8i.09(b)(ix);”

57. Section 6.09(b)(x) of the Credit Agreementeasdiy deleted in its entirety and replaced withfitlewing:

(x) the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidmrnay, from time to time, prepay any Indebtedoesstanding in connection with t
Sidel Water Capital Lease or the Sidel Purchaserfimg (the “ Sidel Prepayment Amouhtduring the term of this Agreement as long as
Company delivers a certificate by a Financial Gffistating the Sidel Prepayment Amount and attgstiat the Sidel Prepayment Amount is
equal to or less than (i) in the case of a prepaymoklndebtedness in connection with the Sidel &/&tapital Lease, the value of (A) the
Letters of Credit issued for the benefit of Genéilalctric Capital Corporation (* GECQ that GECC in its capacity as lessor will retdion
cancellation and/or (B) cash collateral that GEG@d capacity as lessor will release, in each,daseonnection with such prepayment or
(ii) in the case of a prepayment of Indebtedneseuthe Sidel Purchase Financing, the amount afbdidjations of Cott Beverages
outstanding at such time under the Sidel PurchasmEing (including, but not limited to all paymemdf principal, interest, premiums, fees
and expenses then due and owing under the Sideth&se Financing as in effect on the Amendment Nefféctive Date); and
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58. Section 6.10 of the Credit Agreement is herignded by (a) deleting the word “and” immediatedjore the phrase “(h) any
issuances of securities”, (b) adding the phrage)®immediately after the phrase “6.04(b), (c). @), (), (p), (9), (r)", and (c) adding the
following phrase immediately before the periodrat ¢nd of such Section:

“and (i) transactions made between or among any [Raty and any other Subsidiary of the Companyaatsof the Luxembourg
Reorganization”
59. Section 6.15 of the Credit Agreement is herignded by adding the following at the end thereof:

“(c) Notwithstanding anything in this Section 6tt6the contrary, BCB International, BCB Europead aach Interim Holdco may own
the assets and incur the liabilities describedh@Reorganization Disclosure Letter solely forplieposes of effecting, and as require
complete, the Luxembourg Reorganization.”.

60. A new Section 6.16 is hereby added to the €hgglieement as follows:

“Section 6.16 Sanctions Laws and Requlations

(a) No Loan Party shall, and each Loan Party gkaknsure that none of its Subsidiaries will, @)duse its commercially reasonable
efforts to ensure that none of its other Affiliatedl, directly or indirectly use the proceeds b&tLoans or Letters of Credit (i) for any purpose
which would breach the U.K. Bribery Act 2010, thaitéd States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 18f7@ther similar applicable law; (ii) to
fund, finance or facilitate any activities, busig@s transaction of or with any Designated Pergdn any Sanctioned Country in violation of
applicable law, or otherwise in violation of Sanas, as such Sanctions Lists or Sanctions ardentdfom time to time; or (iii) in any other
manner that will result in the violation of any #ippble Sanctions by any party to this Agreement.

(b) No Loan Party shall, and each Loan Party glkaknsure that none of its Subsidiaries will, &nduse its commercially reasonable
efforts to ensure that none of its other Affiliatedl, use funds or assets obtained directly oirigetly from transactions with or otherwise
relating to (i) Designated Persons; or (ii) any @ammed Country, to pay or repay any amount owothe Lenders under this Agreement, in
each case in violation of Sanctions or applicaie |

(c) Each Loan Party shall, and shall (x) ensurédhah of their Subsidiaries will, and (y) useciksnmercially reasonable efforts to
ensure that each of their other Affiliates will §)nduct its business in compliance with Anti-Cptron Laws; (ii) maintain policies and
procedures designed to promote and achieve conspliaith Anti-Corruption Laws; and (iii) have appropriate cordrahd safeguards in ple
designed to prevent any proceeds of any Loans tberiseof Credit from being used contrary to therespntations and undertakings set forth
herein.”.

61. Section 9.03(b) of the Credit Agreement is bgrmmended by adding the following sentence aetttethereof:

“This Section 9.03(b) shall not apply with respecTaxes other than any Taxes that represent loslsé®is, damages, penalties,
liabilities or related expenses arising from anp+i@x claim.”.
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62. Section 9.04(d) of the Credit Agreement is hgr@mended by deleting the reference to “paragfajiv)” and replacing it
with a reference to “paragraph (f)".

63. Section 9.04(e) of the Credit Agreement is lyg@mended by (a) adding the phrase “in the Urtitiedles of America”
immediately after the phrase “shall maintain at ohits offices” and (b) adding the phrase “(aratatl interest)” immediately after the phrase
“and the Commitment of, and principal amount”.

64. Section 9.04(g) of the Credit Agreement is bgr@mended by (a) deleting the reference to “pagagfc)(ii)” and replacing it
with a reference to “paragraph (g)(ii)” in clausetijereof, (b) deleting the reference to “Sectiboh7(g)” and replacing it with a reference to
“Section 2.17(h)", and (c) adding the following e (iii) at the end thereof:

“(iii) Each Lender that sells a participation shaltting solely for this purpose as an agent oBibeowers, maintain a register on which
it enters the name and address of each Particgmahthe principal amounts (and stated interestpoh Participant’s interest in the Loans or
other obligations under the Loan Documents (thartiBipant Reqistef); providedthat no Lender shall have any obligation to diselalt or
any portion of the Participant Register (includthg identity of any Participant or any informatiafating to a Participant’s interest in any
commitments, loans, letters of credit or its otbleligations under any Loan Document) to any Peesaept to the extent that such disclosure
is necessary to establish that such commitmennt, letter of credit or other obligation is in retgised form under Section 5f.103-1(c) of the
United States Treasury Regulations. The entri¢gsdrParticipant Register shall be conclusive absemtifest error, and such Lender shall
treat each Person whose name is recorded in thieipamt Register as the owner of such participatar all purposes of this Agreement
notwithstanding any notice to the contrary. Forakeidance of doubt, the Administrative Agent (s1éapacity as Administrative Agent) st
have no responsibility for maintaining a ParticipRegister.”.

65. Section 9.14 of the Credit Agreement is hemddgted in its entirety and replaced with the fwilog:

“Section 9.14 USA Patriot ActEach Lender that is subject to the requiremehtiseoUSA Patriot Act (Title Il of Pub. L. 107-56
(signed into law October 26, 2001)) (the “ Achereby notifies each Loan Party that pursuarthéorequirements of the Act, it is required to
obtain, verify and record information that iderggfisuch Loan Party, which information includesrtame and address of such Loan Party and
other information that will allow such Lender teeidify such Loan Party in accordance with the Act.”

66. Section 10.01 of the Credit Agreement is he@hgnded by inserting the phrase “; providbdwever, that the definition of
“Guaranteed Obligations” shall not create any got@@ by any Loan Guarantor of (or grant of secunitgrest by any Loan Guarantor to
support, as applicable) any Excluded Swap Obligataf such Loan Guarantor for purposes of detergiany obligations of any Loan
Guarantor” immediately after the phrase “colledfjy¢he “ Guaranteed Obligatiofis

26




67. A new Section 10.13 is hereby added to theiCAgpleement as follows:

“Section 10.13 KeepwellEach Qualified ECP Guarantor hereby jointly aedesally absolutely, unconditionally and irrevogabl
undertakes to provide such funds or other suppomay be needed from time to time by each othen|Rzty to honor all of its obligations
under this Guarantee in respect of a Swap Obligdtirovided, however, that each Qualified ECP Guarantor shall onlyidelé under this
Section 10.13 for the maximum amount of such ligbihat can be hereby incurred without renderisgbligations under this Section 10.13
or otherwise under this Loan Guaranty voidable uaglicable law relating to fraudulent conveyancéraudulent transfer, and not for any
greater amount). Except as otherwise provided hetieé obligations of each Qualified ECP Guarantater this Section 10.13 shall remai
full force and effect until the termination of &lvap Obligations. Each Qualified ECP Guarantomidsethat this Section 10.13 constitute,
this Section 10.13 shall be deemed to constitutke@pwell, support, or other agreement” for thedfé of each other Loan Party for all
purposes of Section 1a(18)(A)(v)(Il) of the Comntgdixchange Act.”

68. The Commitment Schedule is hereby deletediaritirety and replaced with the commitment schedtthched to Schedule |
hereto.

69. Schedule 1.01(a) of the Credit Agreement iglinereaffirmed by the Company and attached heefachedule Il hereto.

70. The Exhibits attached hereto as Exhibit A @by added to the Credit Agreement as Exhibitstrdugh F-4.

II.  Conditions Precedent to Effectiveneskhis Amendment shall become effective as of ttst date (the * Amendment No. 3 Effective
Date”) on which each of the following conditions precedeate been satisfie

1. The Administrative Agent (or its counsel) shadle received (i) from each party hereto eithergApunterpart of this
Amendment signed on behalf of such party or (B}temi evidence satisfactory to the AdministrativeeAg(which may include facsimile or
pdf transmission of a signed signature page ofAmgndment) that such party has signed a countevpéris Amendment, and (ii) duly
executed copies (or facsimile or pdf copies) ofSeeond Canadian Reaffirmation Agreement, the UKfiRenation Deed dated as of the
Amendment No. 3 Effective Date, and the Second Be&ffirmation Agreement, and such other certiisalocuments, instruments and
agreements as the Administrative Agent shall realslyirequest in connection with the transactiongemplated by this Amendment.

2. The Administrative Agent and the Collateral Ageshall have received written opinions of the BadiStates Loan Parties’
counsel and of Canadian Loan Parties’ counsel, addressed to the Administrative Agent, the Disbonasnt Agent, the Collateral Agents,
the Issuing Banks and the Lenders, in each ca®ermand substance acceptable to the Administratiyent.
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3. The Administrative Agent and the Collateral Atgeshall have received copies of the most recaanfiial statements,
projections and reports required to be deliveregymnt to Section 5.01 of the Credit Agreement.

4. The Administrative Agent shall have receiveda(dertificate of each Loan Party, dated the Ameamutrilo. 3 Effective Date a
executed by its Secretary, Assistant Secretaryirectr, which shall (A) certify the resolutionsité Board of Directors, members or other
body authorizing the execution, delivery and parfance of this Amendment and the other Loan Docusitenivhich it is a party, (B) identit
by name and title and bear the signatures of tharfeial Officers and any other officers of suchi.®arty authorized to sign this Amendrr
and the Loan Documents to which it is a party, @)dto the extent not previously delivered to thdmfinistrative Agent attached to a similar
certificate, contain appropriate attachments, idiclg the certificate or articles of incorporationasganization of each Loan Party, together
with all amendments thereto, certified by the rat@vauthority of the jurisdiction of organizatiohsuch Loan Party and a true and correct
copy of its by-laws, memorandum and articles obeisdion or operating, management or partnershipeagent (or other equivalent
organizational documents), together with all ameexits thereto, and (ii) a short form or long formtifieate of good standing, status or
compliance (or confirmation (including through gdéopinion) that telephonic and online searche® leeen conducted at the English Cel
Index of Winding Up Petitions and UK Companies Housspectively on the Amendment No. 3 EffectiveeDaith respect to the Loan
Parties organized under the laws of England and8yahs applicable, together with any bring-dowtifggates, confirmations or facsimiles,
if any, for each Loan Party from its jurisdictioharganization, each dated a recent date on or fiwrithe Amendment No. 3 Effective Date.

5. The Administrative Agent shall have receivectificate, signed by the chief financial officarteeasurer of each Borrower, on
the Amendment No. 3 Effective Date (i) stating thatDefault has occurred and is continuing, (&isg that the representations and
warranties contained in Article Il of the Amend@dedit Agreement and Section Il of this Amendmaire true and correct as of such date,
and (iii) certifying any other factual matters aaynbe reasonably requested by the AdministrativenAg

6. The Lenders, the Collateral Agents and the Adstrattive Agent shall have received all fees regpito be paid, including
pursuant to the Fee Letters (as defined in the AledrCredit Agreement) and Section VI hereof, ahéxgenses for which invoices have
been presented (including the reasonable fees)grehses of legal counsel), on or before the AmemdiNe. 3 Effective Date.

7. The Administrative Agent shall have receivesency certificate, in form and substance satisfigcto the Administrative
Agent, from a Financial Officer.

8. Each Collateral Agent shall have received thstmecent Aggregate Borrowing Base Certificate Bodowing Base
Certificates required to be delivered pursuantecti®n 5.01 of the Credit Agreement.

9. At the time of and immediately after giving efféo this Amendment, the Borrowers’ Aggregate Aafaility shall not be less
than $75,000,000.
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10. The Administrative Agent and the Administrat@ellateral Agent shall have received updated dppisiof the real property
the Loan Parties from an appraiser selected anagengby the Administrative Agent, and prepared basis satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent and the Administrative Colla@keAgent, such appraisals to include, without tation, information required by
applicable law and regulations, with such appraibaing at the sole cost and expense of the Lodiefa

11. The Administrative Agent shall have receivednsather documents as the Administrative AgentOlsbursement Agent, any
Issuing Bank, any Lender or their respective coumss have reasonably requested.

12. The amendments contemplated by this Amendmermgexmitted pursuant to each of the 2009 Inderdgncethe 2010
Indenture.

lll. Representations and Warranties of the Loati&arTo induce the other parties hereto to entertintoAmendment, each Loan Party
represents and warrants to each Lender and eaait Ag®f the date hereof as follov

1. Each Loan Party has the legal power and aughtariéxecute and deliver this Amendment and thieer®$ of each Loan Party
executing this Amendment have been duly authori@ezkecute and deliver the same and bind such Paaty with respect to the provisions
hereof.

2. This Amendment has been duly executed and detiiey each Loan Party that is a party hereto.

3. This Amendment and the Amended Credit Agreeraanh constitutes the legal, valid and binding @ttians of each Loan
Party, enforceable against such Loan Party in decme with its terms, subject to applicable bantayansolvency, reorganization,
moratorium or other laws affecting creditors’ riglgenerally and subject to general principles oftggregardless of whether considered in a
proceeding in equity or at law.

4. The execution and delivery by each Loan ParthisfAmendment, the performance by each Loan Rdiitg obligations under
the Amended Credit Agreement and under the othanl@ocuments to which it is a party and the consatiun of the transactions
contemplated by this Amendment, the Amended Creglieement and the other Loan Documents: (i) daequire any consent or approval
of, registration or filing with, or any other aatity, any Governmental Authority, except such ageHhseen obtained or made and are in full
force and effect, (ii) will not violate any Requinent of Law applicable to any Loan Party or anjt®Bubsidiaries, (iii) will not violate or
result in a default under any indenture or otheeament governing Indebtedness or any other mhsgiieaement or other instrument binding
upon any Loan Party or any of its Restricted Subsis, or give rise to a right thereunder to regainy payment to be made by any Loan
Party or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries aniiiM not result in the creation or imposition afy Lien on any asset of any Loan Party ot
of its Restricted Subsidiaries, except Liens créatersuant to the Loan Documents.

5. Each Borrower and each other Loan Party heresffirms all covenants, representations and waasmtade by it in the Credit
Agreement and the other Loan
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Documents and agrees and confirms that all suadleseptations and warranties are true and corrext material respects on and as of the
date of this Amendment as though made on and ssabf date, except for any representation and wigrraade as of an earlier date, which
representation and warranty remains true and danred! material respects as of such earlier date.

6. Each Borrower has caused to be conducted aupbneview of the terms of the Credit Agreement dedother Loan

Documents and each Borrower’s and its Subsidiaopstations since the Effective Date and, as ofittie hereof and after giving effect to
the terms hereof, no Default has occurred andrifruaing.

IV. Pos-Closing Covenant.

1. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in arlyer Loan Document, no later than 30 days follgutime completion of the
Luxembourg Reorganization (or such longer periothayg be agreed to by the Administrative Agent aacheCollateral Agent, each in its s
discretion), to the extent not previously providedhe Administrative Collateral Agent or the UKcBety Trustee, as applicable, such Agent
shall have received (i) stock certificates andlstmmwers or stock transfer forms, as applicablegfxh certificate representing the shares of
Equity Interests transferred or created and interee upon the completion of the Luxembourg Rearegdion, in the case of each stock pa
or stock transfer form, executed in blank by a dulyhorized officer of the pledgor thereof, (iipprissory notes and allonges or transfer
forms, as applicable, for each promissory notesfiamed or created and in existence upon the cdioplef the Luxembourg Reorganization,
in the case of each allonge or transfer form, etegtin blank by a duly authorized officer of thegbor thereof, (iii) a certificate of the Loan
Parties signed by an authorized officer of the Canypcertifying as to the accuracy and completenésand attaching, an updated Schedule
3.15 to the Credit Agreement together with a redigainst the original Schedule 3.15 to the Crgglieement solely reflecting changes to
ownership of the Equity Interests and intercompiaagbtedness of the Loan Parties and their resygeBtestricted Subsidiaries resulting fr
the Luxembourg Reorganization (such updated Schedlb, the “ Reorganization Schedleand (iv) such security agreements, control
agreements and other documents as may be reasoagbbsted by the Administrative Agent in ordecrate and perfect a security interest
in favor of the Administrative Collateral Agent,lgect to the Permitted Perfection Limitations, atardance with the terms of the Loan
Documents. For purposes of this paragraph, anesfficduly authorized to execute a stock poweongié or transfer form if he or she is
serving in the capacity set forth on such powdransfer form at the time such power or transfemfcs delivered to the Administrative
Collateral Agent.

2. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in artlger Loan Document, no later than 30 days follgutime completion of the
Luxembourg Reorganization (or such longer periothag be agreed to by the Administrative Agentsrsible discretion), 100% of the EqL
Interests of Cott Luxembourg S.ar.l. shall be gitiby the holders thereof pursuant to one or mhoxembourg law governed share pledge
agreements in favor of the Administrative Collatéxgent (substantially in the form of the Sharedgje Agreement, dated July 8, 2011 anr
the Company and the Administrative Collateral Agge “ Existing Luxembourg Share Pleddg and the Company and each Loan Party
agrees to cause the applicable holders of suchyElptierests to execute and deliver such othereageats, certificates and documents, and to
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make such recordings and filings, together witiis of counsel, in each case as may be reasorehlgsted by the Administrative
Collateral Agent. The Company and each Loan Paatglly agree to take all actions reasonably reqliyatie Administrative Collateral
Agent to effect the termination and release offkisting Luxembourg Share Pledge prior to or sulisty simultaneously with the
execution of the new Luxembourg law governed spidge agreements described in the immediatelyedieg sentence.

V. Reference to and Effect on the Credit Agreen.

1. Upon the effectiveness of this Amendment purst@aBection llabove, on and after the date hereof, each refeiaribe Credit
Agreement to “this Agreement,” “hereunder,” “herg@dherein” or words of like import shall mean and be a refeesto the Credit Agreeme
as modified hereby.

2. Except as specifically amended or modified iy &mendment and the Reaffirmation Agreements é&imed in the Amended
Credit Agreement), the Credit Agreement and aleottocuments, instruments and agreements execudiéor @elivered in connection
therewith, shall remain in full force and effeatdeare hereby ratified and confirmed.

3. The execution, delivery and effectiveness of thinendment shall not operate as a waiver of agit,rpower or remedy of the
Administrative Agent, any other Agent or the Lergjaror constitute a waiver of any provision of @redit Agreement or any other
documents, instruments and agreements executedr ataivered in connection therewith.

VI. Costs and Expenseg&ach Borrower agrees to pay all reasonable cpboket expenses, including the reasonable feesgeh and
disbursements of counsel for the Administrative tgend the Co-Collateral Agent, incurred by any dtgend any of its Affiliates in
connection with the preparation, arrangement, ei@tand enforcement of this Amendment and all oihgruments, agreements and other
documents executed in connection herewith. Allsasid expenses in connection with this Amendmentiae on or prior to the effective d
of this Amendment.

VIl. Miscellaneous.

1. Governing Law THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUE IN ACCORDANCE WITH, AND
ANY DISPUTE BETWEEN ANY BORROWER AND ANY OTHER PARTHERETO ARISING OUT OF, CONNECTED WITH,
RELATED TO, OR INCIDENTAL TO THE RELATIONSHIP ESTABSHED BETWEEN THEM IN CONNECTION WITH, THIS
AMENDMENT, THE CREDIT AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE OTHEROAN DOCUMENTS, AND WHETHER ARISING IN
CONTRACT, TORT, EQUITY, OR OTHERWISE, SHALL BE RESWED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF
NEW YORK (INCLUDING £-1401 OF THE GENERAL OBLIGATION LAW OF THE STATE OREW YORK BUT OTHERWISE
WITHOUT REGARD TO THE CONFLICTS OF LAWS PROVISIONS)

2. Waiver. To induce the Administrative Agent and Lenderstiter into this Amendment, each Loan Party furttekinowledges
that it has no actual or potential defense, offtdatm, counterclaim or cause of action againstAtiministrative Agent or any Secured Party
for any actions or events occurring on or befoeedhte hereof, and each Loan Party hereby waivesedeases any right to assert same.
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3. Headings Section headings in this Amendment are includgeih for convenience of reference only, are nat @ithis
Amendment and shall not affect the constructioroofye taken into consideration in interpretings imendment.

4. Terms GenerallyReferences in this Amendment, the Credit Agredrard the Amended Credit Agreement to the words
“clause” and “paragraph” shall be construed to ltheesame meaning.

5. Counterparts This Amendment may be executed in any numbeoohterparts, all of which taken together shall tituie one
agreement, and any of the parties hereto may exdaist Amendment by signing any such counterpaetivBry of an executed counterpart of
a signature page of this Amendment by facsimilbyoother electronic image scan transmission (irinlyigia e-mail) shall be effective as
delivery of a manually executed counterpart of hisendment. The Administrative Agent may also regtinat any such documents and
signatures delivered by facsimile or by other etadt image scan transmission be confirmed by aualynsigned original thereof; provided
that the failure to request or deliver the samd slad limit the effectiveness of any document mgrsture delivered by facsimile or other
electronic image scan transmission.

6. No Strict ConstructionThe parties hereto have participated jointlyhi@ hegotiation and drafting of this Amendment, the
Amended Credit Agreement and the other Loan Doctsnémthe event an ambiguity or question of int@ninterpretation arises, this
Amendment, the Amended Credit Agreement and therdtban Documents shall be construed as if drafiedy by the parties hereto and
presumption or burden of proof shall arise favomnglisfavoring any party by virtue of the authapsbf any provisions of this Amendment,
the Amended Credit Agreement or any of the othearnLDocuments.

7. Amendment Constitutes L oan Documeiihis Amendment and each Reaffirmation Agreemkal sonstitute a “Loan
Document” for purposes of the Credit Agreement taedother Loan Documents.

8. Notice of Change of Entity Type

(a) The Company and the other Loan Parties herahyide notice to the Agents and Lenders in accardamth
Section 4.15 of the U.S. Security Agreement thapart of the Luxembourg Reorganization, Cott Bages Inc., a Georgia corporation, shall
convert into a limited liability company under Ggiar law (the “ LLC Conversiof). The Company and the other Loan Parties hergbgea
that, upon completion of the LLC Conversion, (3 thompany shall deliver to the Administrative Cdtal Agent within 5 Business Days
such longer period as may be agreed to by the Adtrative Agent in its sole discretion) of the LIGbnversion written notice that the LLC
Conversion is complete together with updated chaideuments evidencing the LLC Conversion, cedifiy the Georgia Secretary of State,
and (y) the Administrative Collateral Agent sha#l &uthorized to file UCC financing statements agfssnch converted entity in accordance
with Section 4.1(b) of the U.S. Security Agreement.
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(b) The Company and the other Loan Parties hereiyige notice to the Agents and Lenders in accareavith
Section 4.15 of the U.S. Security Agreement thapart of the Luxembourg Reorganization, and dfftel.LC Conversion, Cott Beverages
LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, shall cart into a corporation under Georgia law (the ‘fi@wation Conversioti and together
with the LLC Conversion, the * Conversiof)s The Company and the other Loan Parties hergbgeathat, upon completion of the
Corporation Conversion, (x) the Company shall delto the Administrative Collateral Agent withirBaisiness Days (or such longer period
as may be agreed to by the Administrative Ageiisisole discretion) of the Corporation Conversiaitten notice that the Corporation
Conversion is complete together with updated chadeuments evidencing the Corporation Conversiertjfied by the Georgia Secretary of
State, and (y) the Administrative Collateral Agshall be authorized to file UCC financing staterseagainst such converted entity in
accordance with Section 4.1(b) of the U.S. Secuxgyeement.

9. Waiver of Notice PeriodSolely with respect to the Conversions, the Agemid the Lenders hereby waive the 30 day prior
notice requirement under Section 4.15 of the UeguBty Agreement and accept the notice provide8aation 8 hereof as sufficient prior
notice of such Conversions.

10. Lender AuthorizationEach Lender and each Agent (other than the Aditnative Agent), hereby authorizes the
Administrative Agent, on its behalf and on behdl§och Lender or other Agent, in the AdministratAgent’s sole discretion, to waive any
other prior notice requirements under the Loan Duents in respect of the Conversions or any othevesion, dissolution, or other
transaction effected pursuant to the Luxembourg@eozation, to the extent that the reorganizasimps described in the Reorganization
Disclosure Letter on the date hereof are amended the date hereof with the consent of the Adniafive Agent in its sole discretion.

[The remainder of this page is intentionally blgnk.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been dulgcexed as of the day and year first above written.

BORROWERS:
COTT CORPORATION CORPORATION COT
By /s/ Jason Ausher

Name Jason Aushe
Title: Treasure

COTT BEVERAGES INC

By /s/ Jason Ausher
Name Jason Aushe
Title: Treasure

CLIFFSTAR LLC

By /s/ Jason Ausher
Name Jason Aushe
Title: Treasure

COTT BEVERAGES LIMITED

By /sl Gregory Leiter
Name Gregory Leitel
Title: Director

Signature page to Amendment No.
Credit Agreemel



OTHER LOAN PARTIES:
156775 CANADA INC.
By /sl Jason Ausher

Name Jason Aushe
Title: Treasure

967979 ONTARIO LIMITED

By /sl Jason Ausher
Name Jason Aushe
Title: Treasure

804340 ONTARIO LIMITED

By /sl Jason Ausher
Name Jason Aushe
Title: Treasure

2011438 ONTARIO LIMITED

By /sl Jason Ausher
Name Jason Aushe
Title: Treasure

COTT RETAIL BRANDS LIMITED

By /s Gregory Leiter
Name Gregory Leitel
Title: Director

Signature page to Amendment No.
Credit Agreemel



COTT LIMITED

By /sl Gregory Leiter
Name Gregory Leitel
Title: Director

COTT EUROPE TRADING LIMITED

By /sl Gregory Leiter
Name Gregory Leitel
Title: Director

COTT PRIVATE LABEL LIMITED

By /sl Gregory Leiter
Name Gregory Leitel
Title: Director

COTT NELSON (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

By /sl Gregory Leiter
Name Gregory Leitel
Title: Director

COTT (NELSON) LIMITED

By /sl Gregory Leiter
Name Gregory Leitel
Title: Director

COTT USA FINANCE LLC

By /sl Jerry Hoyle
Name Jerry Hoyle
Title: Authorized Representatiy

Signature page to Amendment No.
Credit Agreemel



COTT HOLDINGS INC.

By /sl Jason Ausher
Name Jason Aushe
Title: Treasure

INTERIM BCB, LLC

By /sl Jason Ausher
Name Jason Aushe
Title: Treasure

COTT VENDING INC.

By /sl Jason Ausher
Name Jason Aushe
Title: Treasure

COTT INVESTMENT, L.L.C.

By /s/ Jason Ausher
Name Jason Aushe
Title: Treasure

COTT USA CORP

By /s/ Jason Ausher
Name Jason Aushe
Title: Treasure

Signature page to Amendment No.
Credit Agreemel



COTT U.S. HOLDINGS LLC

By /sl Jason Ausher
Name Jason Aushe
Title: Treasure

COTT U.S. ACQUISITION LLC

By /sl Jason Ausher
Name Jason Aushe
Title: Treasure

COTT ACQUISITION LLC

By /sl Jason Ausher
Name Jason Aushe
Title: Treasure

STAR REAL PROPERTY LLC

By /s/ Jason Ausher
Name Jason Aushe
Title: Treasure

CAROLINE LLC

By /s/ Jason Ausher
Name Jason Aushe
Title: Treasure

Signature page to Amendment No.
Credit Agreemel



COTT UK ACQUISITION LIMITED

By /s| Jerry Hoyle
Name Jerry Hoyle
Title: Director

COTT ACQUISITION LIMITED

By s/ Jerry Hoyle
Name Jerry Hoyle
Title: Director

COTT LUXEMBOURG S.AR.L.

By /s/ Jerry Hoyle
Name Jerry Hoyle
Title: Class A Manage

By: /s/ Luc Sunnen
Name Luc Sunner
Title: Class B Manage

COTT DEVELOPMENTS LIMITED

By /sl Jason Ausher
Name Jason Aushe
Title: Treasure

Signature page to Amendment No.
Credit Agreemel



JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., individually, as an
Issuing Bank, as a Swingline Lender and as a Le

By /sl Lisa A. Morrison
Name Lisa A. Morrison
Title: VP, Authorized Signe

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as Administrative
Agent and as Administrative Collateral Agt

By /sl Lisa A. Morrison
Name Lisa A. Morrison
Title: VP, Authorized Signe

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., TORONTO
BRANCH, as an Issuing Bank, as a Swingline Lender
and as a Lende

By /sl Agostino A. Marchetti
Name Agostino A. Marchett
Title: Senior Vice Presider

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., LONDON
BRANCH, as an Issuing Bank, as a Swingline Lender
and as a Lende

By /s Timothy I. Jacob
Name Timothy I. Jacot
Title: Senior Vice Presidel

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., LONDON
BRANCH, as UK Security Truste

By /s/ Timothy I. Jacob
Name Timothy I. Jacot
Title: Senior Vice Presidel

Signature page to Amendment No.
Credit Agreemel



BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,
as Documentation Agent and as a Ler

By /s/ Andrew A. Doherty
Name Andrew A. Doherty
Title: Senior Vice Presidel

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., CANADA BRANCH,
as a Lende

By /s/ Medina Sales de Andrade
Name Medina Sales de Andrau
Title: Vice Presiden

Signature page to Amendment No.
Credit Agreemel



GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL CORPORATION,
as C«Collateral Agent and as a Lenc

By /s/  Philip f. Carfora
Name Philip F. Carfore
Title: Duly Authorized Signator

Signature page to Amendment No.
Credit Agreemel



DEUTSCHE BANK AG NEW YORK BRANCH,
as a Lende

By /s| Peter Cucchiara
Name Peter Cucchiar
Title: Vice Presiden

By /s/ Michael Winters
Name Michael Winters
Title: Vice Presiden

Signature page to Amendment No.
Credit Agreemel



PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as a Lende

By: /s/ Brian C. Jablon
Name Brian C. Jablor
Title: PNC Relationship Manag

PNC BANK, CANADA BRANCH,
as a Lende

By: /sl Michael Etienne
Name Michael Etienne
Title: Senior Vice Presidel

Signature page to Amendment No.
Credit Agreemel



WELLS FARGO CAPITAL FINANCE, LLC,
as a Lende

By /s/ _David P. Hill
Name David P. Hill
Title: Duly Authorized Signe

WELLS FARGO CAPITAL FINANCE
CORPORATION CANADA,
as a Lende

By /s/ Domenic Consentino
Name Domenic Consentin
Title: Vice President
Wells Fargo Capital Finance Corporation
Canade

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.
(LONDON BRANCH), as a Lende

By /sl N.B. Hogg
Name N.B. Hogg
Title: Authorized Signator

By: /sl T.Saldania
Name T. Saldanie
Title: Authorized Signator

Signature page to Amendment No.
Credit Agreemel



Lender

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and affiliates
Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch and affilia
General Electric Capital Corporati

Bank of America, N.A. and affiliate

Wells Fargo Capital Finance, LLC, and affilia
PNC Bank, National Association and affilia

Total

COMMITMENT SCHEDULE

Schedule

Commitment
$ 65,454,545.0
$ 54,545,455.0
$ 65,454,545.0
$ 42,545,455.0
$ 42,545,455.0
$ 29,454,545.0

$300,000,000.C



Loan Party
Cott Beverages Inc.

Cott Beverages Inc.
156775 Canada Inc.
Cott Corporation Corporation Cott

Cott Corporation Corporation Cott

Schedule 1.01(a) to Credit Agreement
Eligible Real Property

Location / Address
2525 Schuetz Road / 576 Fee Fee Road
Maryland Heights, MO 6304
301 Larcel Drive
Sikeston, MO 6380
6525 Viscount Road
Mississauga, ON L4V 1H
333 Avro Ave
Pointe-Claire, QU HI9R 5W:
4810 — 76 Avenue SE
Calgary, AB T2C 2V:

Owned
Owned
Owned
Owned

Owned

Schedule |

Owned, Leased or Occupie
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Exhibit F-1
[FORM OF]

U.S. TAX COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE
(For Foreign Lenders That Are Not Partnerships&. Federal Income Tax Purposes)

Reference is hereby made to the Credit Agreemeatides of August 17, 2010 (as amended, supplementatierwise modified from
time to time, the “ Credit Agreemefjtamong Cott Corporation Corporation Cott, a cagtimn organized under the laws of Canada (the “
Company’), Cott Beverages Inc., a Georgia corporation @ttBeverages), Cliffstar LLC, a Delaware limited liability copany, and Cott
Beverages Limited, a company organized under thie &f England and Wales (the * UK Borrow&and together with the Company, Cott
Beverages and Cliffstar LLC, the “ Borrowéjsthe other Loan Parties party thereto, the Lesgarty thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.,
in its capacity as Administrative Agent for the dens, and the other parties thereto.

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.17 of thed Agreement, the undersigned hereby certifias (i) it is the sole record and
beneficial owner of the Loan(s) (as well as anyd{®it evidencing such Loan(s)) in respect of whids providing this certificate, (ii) it is not
a bank within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(A)h® Code, (iii) it is not a ten percent sharekoldf any Borrower within the meaning of
Section 871(h)(3)(B) of the Code and (iv) it is matontrolled foreign corporation related to anymwer as described in Section 881(c)(3
of the Code.

The undersigned has furnished the Administrativerignd the Borrower Representative with a cestié®f its non-U.S. Person status
on IRS Form W-8BEN. By executing this certificatee undersigned agrees that (1) if the informagtimavided on this certificate changes, the
undersigned shall promptly so inform the BorrowepFResentative and the Administrative Agent, andhi{@)undersigned shall have at all
times furnished the Borrower Representative andittrainistrative Agent with a properly completed andrently effective certificate in
either the calendar year in which each payment ietmade to the undersigned, or in either ofwleedalendar years preceding such
payments.

Unless otherwise defined herein, terms definethénCGredit Agreement and used herein shall haventbanings given to them in the
Credit Agreement.

[NAME OF LENDER]

By:
Name:
Title:

Date: , 20[



Exhibit F-2
[FORM OF]

U.S. TAX COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE
(For Foreign Participants That Are Not PartnerslipsU.S. Federal Income Tax Purposes)

Reference is hereby made to the August 17, 2018n@nded, supplemented or otherwise modified fioma to time, the “ Credit
Adreement’) among Cott Corporation Corporation Cott, a cogtion organized under the laws of Canada (therh@any”), Cott Beverages
Inc., a Georgia corporation (* Cott Beveragg<liffstar LLC, a Delaware limited liability copany, and Cott Beverages Limited, a company
organized under the laws of England and Wales"(thi¢€ Borrower,” and together with the Company, Cott Beverages@liffstar LLC, the
“ Borrowers”), the other Loan Parties party thereto, the Leagearty thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., igajgacity as Administrative
Agent for the Lenders, and the other parties tberet

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.17 of thed® Agreement, the undersigned hereby certifias (i) it is the sole record and
beneficial owner of the participation in respectiich it is providing this certificate, (ii) it isot a bank within the meaning of Section 881(c)
(3)(A) of the Code, (iii) it is not a ten percehaseholder of any Borrower within the meaning oftis 871(h)(3)(B) of the Code, and (iv) it
is not a controlled foreign corporation relatectty Borrower as described in Section 881(c)(3){@he Code.

The undersigned has furnished its participatingdegwith a certificate of its non-U.S. Person stain IRS Form W-8BEN. By
executing this certificate, the undersigned agtieas(1) if the information provided on this ceiddte changes, the undersigned shall promptly
so inform such Lender in writing, arf@) the undersigned shall have at all times furmisbuch Lender with a properly completed and ctigr
effective certificate in either the calendar yeawhich each payment is to be made to the undexdigor in either of the two calendar years
preceding such payments.

Unless otherwise defined herein, terms definethénGredit Agreement and used herein shall havenfanings given to them in the
Credit Agreement.

[NAME OF PARTICIPANT]

By:
Name:
Title:

Date: , 20[



Exhibit F-3
[FORM OF]

U.S. TAX COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE
(For Foreign Participants That Are Partnerships&. Federal Income Tax Purposes)

Reference is hereby made to the Credit Agreemeatides of August 17, 2010 (as amended, supplementatierwise modified from
time to time, the “ Credit Agreemefjtamong Cott Corporation Corporation Cott, a cagtimn organized under the laws of Canada (the “
Company’), Cott Beverages Inc., a Georgia corporation @ttBeverages), Cliffstar LLC, a Delaware limited liability copany, and Cott
Beverages Limited, a company organized under thie &f England and Wales (the * UK Borrow&and together with the Company, Cott
Beverages and Cliffstar LLC, the “ Borrowéjsthe other Loan Parties party thereto, the Lesgarty thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.,
in its capacity as Administrative Agent for the dens, and the other parties thereto.

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.17 of thed® Agreement, the undersigned hereby certifias (i) it is the sole record owner of
the participation in respect of which it is providithis certificate, (ii) its direct or indirect ppaers/members are the sole beneficial owners of
such participation, (iii) with respect such paggtiion, neither the undersigned nor any of itsafioe indirect partners/members is a bank
extending credit pursuant to a loan agreementemieto in the ordinary course of its trade or hass within the meaning of Section 881(c)
(3)(A) of the Code, (iv) none of its direct or inglit partners/members is a ten percent sharehofdery Borrower within the meaning of
Section 871(h)(3)(B) of the Code and (v) none ®flitect or indirect partners/members is a cordtbfbreign corporation related to any
Borrower as described in Section 881(c)(3)(C) ef@ode.

The undersigned has furnished its participatingdegiwith IRS Form WBIMY accompanied by one of the following forms fraach o
its partners/members that is claiming the portfolterest exemption: (i) an IRS Form W-8BEN or &i) IRS Form W-8IMY accompanied by
an IRS Form W-8BEN from each of such partner's/meristbeneficial owners that is claiming the poitiahterest exemption. By executing
this certificate, the undersigned agrees thatf(he information provided on this certificate clgas, the undersigned shall promptly so inform
such Lender and (2) the undersigned shall havi tihas furnished such Lender with a properly céetgd and currently effective certificate
in either the calendar year in which each paymetd be made to the undersigned, or in eitheretilo calendar years preceding such
payments.

Unless otherwise defined herein, terms definethénCGredit Agreement and used herein shall haventtanings given to them in the
Credit Agreement.

[NAME OF PARTICIPANT]
By:

Name:

Title:

Date: , 20[



Exhibit F-4
[FORM OF]

U.S. TAX COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE
(For Foreign Lenders That Are Partnerships For Besleral Income Tax Purposes)

Reference is hereby made to the Credit Agreemeatides of August 17, 2010 (as amended, supplementatierwise modified from
time to time, the “ Credit Agreemefjtamong Cott Corporation Corporation Cott, a cagtimn organized under the laws of Canada (the “
Company’), Cott Beverages Inc., a Georgia corporation @ttBeverages), Cliffstar LLC, a Delaware limited liability copany, and Cott
Beverages Limited, a company organized under thie &f England and Wales (the * UK Borrow&and together with the Company, Cott
Beverages and Cliffstar LLC, the “ Borrowéjsthe other Loan Parties party thereto, the Lesgarty thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.,
in its capacity as Administrative Agent for the dens, and the other parties thereto.

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.17 of thed® Agreement, the undersigned hereby certifias (i) it is the sole record owner of
the Loan(s) (as well as any Note(s) evidencing suwan(s)) in respect of which it is providing tluiertificate, (ii) its direct or indirect
partners/members are the sole beneficial ownessialf Loan(s) (as well as any Note(s) evidencing swan(s)), (iii) with respect to the
extension of credit pursuant to the Credit Agreenoerany other Loan Document, neither the undeegigmor any of its direct or indirect
partners/members is a bank extending credit putgoanloan agreement entered into in the ordicanyse of its trade or business within the
meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code, (i@ye of its direct or indirect partners/members tsrapercent shareholder of any Borrower
within the meaning of Section 871(h)(3)(B) of thede and (v) none of its direct or indirect partfraembers is a controlled foreign
corporation related to any Borrower as describe8Saation 881(c)(3)(C) of the Code.

The undersigned has furnished the Administrativei@nd the Borrower Representative with IRS ForsBIWY accompanied by one
of the following forms from each of its partnersimtzers that is claiming the portfolio interest exéiou (i) an IRS Form W-8BEN or (ii) an
IRS Form W-8IMY accompanied by an IRS Form W-8BEbhfi each of such partner's/imember’s beneficial awtigat is claiming the
portfolio interest exemption. By executing thistferate, the undersigned agrees that (1) if ttiermation provided on this certificate
changes, the undersigned shall promptly so infiwerBorrower Representative and the Administratige, and (2) the undersigned shall
have at all times furnished the Borrower Repredeetand the Administrative Agent with a properbynepleted and currently effective
certificate in either the calendar year in whichlepayment is to be made to the undersigned, eitlier of the two calendar years preceding
such payments.

Unless otherwise defined herein, terms definethénGredit Agreement and used herein shall havenfanings given to them in the
Credit Agreement.

[NAME OF LENDER]

By:
Name:
Title:
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34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52

Name of Subsidian

Cott Holdings Inc

Cott USA Finance LLC

Cott Beverages Ind
Northeast Retailer Brands LL
Cott Vending Inc

Cott Luxembourg S.ar.
Interim BCB, LLC

Northeast Finco Inc

Cott NE Holdings Inc
Caroline LLC

Cliffstar LLC

Cott U.S. Acquisition LLC
Star Real Property LL(

Cott IP Holdings Corg

BCB International Holding
BCB European Holding

Cott Acquisition Limited

Cott Acquisition LLC

Cott UK Acquisition Limited
Cott Retail Brands Limite
Cott Europe Trading Limite
Cott Beverages Limite

Cott Limited

Cott Nelson (Holdings) Limite
Cott (Nelson) Limitec

Cott Private Label Limite:
Cott Retail Brands Netherlands E
2011438 Ontario Ltc

804340 Ontario Ltd

Cott Embotelladores de Mexico, S.A. de C

Mexico Bottling Services, S.A. de C.

Servicios Gerenciales de Mexico, S.A. de C
Cott do Brasil Industria, Comercio, Importacao @é&tacao de Bebidas

Concentrados Ltd
Cott International Trading, Ltc
Cott International SR
Cott (Barbados) IBC Ltc
Cott Investment, L.L.C
967979 Ontario Limites
156775 Canada In
Cott (Hong Kong) Limitec
Cott (Shanghai) Trading Co., Lt

Cott Maquinaria y Equipo, S.A. de C.

AD Personales, S.A. de C.
Cott Developments Limite
Cooke Bros Holdings Limite
Cooke Bros (Tattenhall), Limite
Mr. Freeze (Europe) Limite
Calypso Soft Drinks Limite:
Jay Juice Limitec

TT Calco Limited

Total Water Solutions Limite
Tip Top Soft Drinks Limitec

Jurisdiction of Incorporation or

Organization

Direct or Indirect
Percentage of Ownershi

Delaware
Delaware
Georgia
Delaware
Delaware
Luxembourg
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Cayman Island
Cayman Island
United Kingdom
Delaware
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Netherlands
Ontario

Ontario

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Brazil

Barbados
Barbados
Barbados
Delaware
Ontario

Canade

Hong Kong
China

Mexico

Mexico

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom

10C%
10C%
10C%

51%
10C%
10(%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%

10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%



EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Filener 333-188735, 333-151812,
333-122974, 333-108128, 333-56980 and 333-1665%F Farm S-3 (File Number 33832100) of our report dated February 24, 2014 irej
to the financial statements, financial statemehedale and the effectiveness of internal contre@rdinancial reporting, which appears in this
Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Tampa, Florid:
February 24, 201




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jerry Fowden, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Cott Corporation

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dongttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules13a-15(e) and 15d)15¢&l internal control over financial reporting @efined in Exchange Act
Rules13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig teriod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financggarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramagding the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial stateme
for external purposes in accordance with geneealbepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentesi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation;
and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesegnt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@mifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/sl Jerry Fowdel

Jerry Fowder
Chief Executive Office
Dated: February 24, 20:



EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Jay Wells, certify that
4. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Cott Corporation

5. Based on my knowledge, this report does not @omatay untrue statement of a material fact or dmitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

6. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in thipoet, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

7. The registrant’s other certifying officer andréaesponsible for establishing and maintainingld&ure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoifee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finaheaorting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentgilsi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct(@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sagmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin
/sl Jay Wells

Jay Wells
Chief Financial Office
Dated: February 24, 20:




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 ASADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION
906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

The undersigned, Jerry Fowden, Chief Executived®ffof Cott Corporation (the “Company”), has exeduhis certification in
connection with the filing with the Securities aBgchange Commission of the Company’s Annual Repoform 10-K for the year ended
December 28, 2013 (the “Report”).

1. The undersigned hereby certifies that to the biestscknowledge
2. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSetction13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeofd934; anc

The information contained in the Report fairly fets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of the
Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executiscctirtification as of the 28 day of February, 2014.

/sl Jerry Fowdel

Jerry Fowder
Chief Executive Office



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 ASADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION
906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

The undersigned, Jay Wells, Chief Financial Offise€ott Corporation (the “Company”), has executad certification in connection

with the filing with the Securities and Exchangen@nission of the Company’s Annual Report on FornKifer the year ended December
2013 (the “Report”).

The undersigned hereby certifies that to the bielsisctknowledge:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoAd934; anc

2. The information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of
the Company

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executisccttification as of the 28 day of February, 2014.

/sl Jay Wells

Jay Wells
Chief Financial Office




